Dated 18 October 2019

## STARLING FINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

## **Series Listing Particulars**

### **SERIES 2019-09**

EUR 45,000,000 Leveraged Long iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Series 31 and Short iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Crossover Series 31 Credit Linked Notes due 2026

issued pursuant to its

### Secured Note Issuance Programme

arranged by

### CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED

The attention of investors is drawn to the section headed "Risk Factors" on page 6 of these Series Listing Particulars



These Series Listing Particulars, under which the Series 2019-09 EUR 45,000,000 Leveraged Long iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Series 31 and Short iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Crossover Series 31 Credit Linked Notes due 2026 (the "**Notes**") are issued, incorporate by reference, and should be read in conjunction with, the Base Prospectus dated 24 December 2018 (the "**Base Prospectus**"), relating to the issuance by Starling Finance Public Limited Company (the "**Issuer**") of secured notes under the Secured Note Issuance Programme (the "**Programme**").

Terms defined in the Base Prospectus have the same meanings in these Series Listing Particulars.

These Series Listing Particulars do not constitute a "prospectus" for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the "**Prospectus Regulation**").

Application has been made to the Irish Stock Exchange plc trading as Euronext Dublin ("**Euronext Dublin**") for the approval of (i) this document as Listing Particulars; (ii) the Notes to be admitted to the Official List of Euronext Dublin; and (iii) the Notes to be admitted to trading on its Global Exchange Market, which is the exchange regulated market of Euronext Dublin. These Series Listing Particulars are to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference.

The Notes are cash-settled credit linked notes. In connection with the Notes, the Issuer has entered into (i) a swap confirmation (the "**Crossover CDS Confirmation**") documenting a credit default swap transaction referencing the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Crossover Index Series 31 Version 1 (the "**Crossover CDS**") and (ii) a swap confirmation (the "**Europe CDS Confirmation**" and, together with the Crossover CDS Confirmation, the "**Swap Confirmations**") documenting a credit default swap transaction referencing the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Index Series 31 Version 1 (the "**Europe CDS**" and, together with the Crossover CDS, the "**Credit Default Swaps**" and each a "**Credit Default Swap**") under the ISDA Master Agreement including the Schedule (as defined in the ISDA Master Agreement) in the form of Part A of the Swap Terms (December 2018 Version) relating to the Programme (as such Schedule may have been amended by the Swap Confirmations) (the ISDA Master Agreement, the Schedule thereto and the Swap Confirmations together, the "**Swap Agreement**"), with Citigroup Global Markets Limited (in such capacity, the "**Swap Counterparty**").

The forms of the Europe CDS Confirmation and Crossover CDS Confirmation are as set out in Annexes 4 and 5 of the Terms and Conditions set out herein.

# Investors are advised to refer to the forms of the Europe CDS Confirmation and Crossover CDS Confirmation attached as Annexes 4 and 5 of the Terms and Conditions set out herein respectively.

The Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes is the second Business Day after 20 June 2026. However, the actual maturity date of the Notes may be extended beyond the Scheduled Maturity Date in certain circumstances where (i) the Swap Counterparty determines that a Credit Event or related events have occurred or may occur on or prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date and delivers a Potential Credit Event Notice, (ii) the Termination Date of the Europe CDS falls after the Scheduled Termination Date of such Europe CDS, (iii) an Event Determination Date occurs and the Auction Settlement Amount or the Cash Settlement Amount (as applicable) in respect of the relevant Credit Event has not been determined as of the Scheduled Maturity Date or (iv) the Calculation Agent (unless a Final Credit Exhaustion Event occurs) in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes below. Noteholders will not receive any additional amounts in respect of any such postponement. See paragraph 39 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes below.

Capitalised terms used but not otherwise defined herein or in the Base Prospectus have the meanings given to them in Annex 1 of the Terms and Conditions set out herein and, if not defined in Annex 1, such terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Swap Agreement. The Annexes to the Terms and Conditions form part of, and should be read together with, the Terms and Conditions.

If the Issuer is deemed to be a covered fund, then, in the absence of regulatory relief, the provisions of the Volcker Rule and its related regulatory provisions will impact the ability of U.S. banking institutions to hold an ownership interest in the Issuer or enter into financial transactions with the Issuer. Investors are required to independently consider the potential impact of the Volcker Rule in respect of any investment in the Notes. See Risk Factors "Modification to the Conditions and Transaction Documents or early redemption in relation to Regulatory Consequences" and "Risks relating to U.S. Volcker Rule" below.

The delivery of these Series Listing Particulars at any time does not imply that any information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Series Listing Particulars. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in these Series Listing Particulars is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in these Series Listing Particulars in connection with the issue and sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or Citigroup Global Markets Limited ("CGML" and, in such capacity, the "Dealer").

The net proceeds of this issue of EUR 45,000,000 will be applied by the Issuer towards the purchase prices of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package during the period from the Issue Date to, and including, 31 October 2019 (the "**Ramp-Up Period End Date**").

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act (the "Securities Act"), no person has registered nor will register as a commodity pool operator of the Issuer under the U.S. Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the "CEA") and the rules of the U.S. Commodities Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") thereunder, and the Notes may not at any time be offered, sold, pledged, otherwise transferred, or, in the case of Bearer Notes, delivered, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any person who is (i) a U.S. person (as such term is defined under Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S), (ii) not a Non-United States person (as defined in Rule 4.7 under the CEA, but excluding, for the purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the exception to the extent that it would apply to persons who are not Non-United States persons ("CFTC Rule 4.7")), (iii) an employee benefit plan or other plan, account or arrangement that is or the assets of which are subject to (a) Part 4, Subtitle B, Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or (b) any laws, rules or regulations substantially similar to such provisions of ERISA or the Code or (iv) a U.S. person (as defined in the credit risk retention regulations issued under Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Any person who is (i) not a U.S. person (as such term is defined under Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S), (ii) a Non-United States person (as such term is defined under CFTC Rule 4.7), (iii) not an employee benefit plan or other plan, account or arrangement that is or the assets of which are subject to (a) Part 4, Subtitle B, Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or (b) any laws, rules or regulations substantially similar to such provisions of ERISA or the Code and (iv) not a U.S. person (as defined in the credit risk retention regulations issued under Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934), is a "Permitted Purchaser"

for the purposes of the Notes. Terms used in this section and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them by Regulation S. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and distribution of the Base Prospectus and these Series Listing Particulars, see *"Subscription and Sale and Transfer Restrictions"* in the Base Prospectus.

These Series Listing Particulars do not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation, and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the Notes or the distribution of these Series Listing Particulars in any jurisdiction where such action is required.

In these Series Listing Particulars, references to "**EUR**" are to Euros, the single currency adopted and retained by certain member states of the European Community pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community as amended by the Treaty on European Union.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Risk Factors
Incorporation by Reference
Terms and Conditions of the Notes
Annex 1 Amendments and Variations to the Conditions
Annex 2 Security
Annex 3 The Swap Agreement 60
Annex 4 Form of the Europe CDS Confirmation
Annex 5 Form of the Crossover CDS Confirmation
Annex 6 Description of the Issuer 108
Description of the Swap Counterparty109
Subscription and Sale and Transfer Restrictions110
General Information111

#### **Risk Factors**

THE CONSIDERATIONS SET OUT BELOW ARE NOT, AND ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE, A COMPREHENSIVE LIST OF ALL CONSIDERATIONS RELEVANT TO A DECISION TO PURCHASE OR HOLD ANY NOTES. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD ALSO READ THE BASE PROSPECTUS, THE RISK FACTORS SET OUT THEREIN AND THE DETAILED INFORMATION SET OUT ELSEWHERE IN THESE SERIES LISTING PARTICULARS.

The Issuer believes that the risk factors set out on pages 19 to 63 of the Base Prospectus, together with the following risk factors, which solely apply to these Notes issued under the Programme, may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes. The Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any contingency highlighted by a risk factor occurring.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described in the Base Prospectus, as amended and/or supplemented below, represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements in the Base Prospectus and below regarding the risks of holding the Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in these Series Listing Particulars (including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

The Base Prospectus, read together with these Series Listing Particulars, identify in general terms certain information that a prospective investor should consider prior to making an investment in the Notes. However, a prospective investor should, without any reliance on Citigroup Global Markets Limited or its affiliates, conduct its own thorough analysis (including its own accounting, legal and tax analysis) prior to deciding whether to invest in the Notes as any evaluation of the suitability for an investor of an investment in the Notes depends upon a prospective investor's particular financial and other circumstances, as well as on the specific terms of the Notes and, if it does not have experience in financial, business and investment matters sufficient to permit it to make such a determination, it should consult with its financial adviser prior to deciding to make an investment on the suitability of the Notes.

These Series Listing Particulars are not, and do not purport to be, investment advice, and neither the Issuer nor Citigroup Global Markets Limited makes any recommendation as to the suitability of the Notes. The provision of these Series Listing Particulars to prospective investors is not based on any prospective investor's individual circumstances and should not be relied upon as an assessment of suitability for any prospective investor of the Notes. Even if the Issuer or Citigroup Global Markets Limited possesses limited information as to the objectives of any prospective investor in relation to any transaction, series of transactions or trading strategy, this will not be deemed sufficient for any assessment of suitability for such person of the Notes. Any trading or investment decisions a prospective investor takes are in reliance on its own analysis and judgement and/or that of its advisers and not in reliance on the Issuer, Citigroup Global Markets Limited or any of their respective affiliates.

In particular, each prospective investor in the Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Notes (i) is fully consistent with its (or, if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, the beneficiary's) financial needs, objectives and condition, (ii) complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it (whether acquiring

the Notes as principal or in a fiduciary capacity) and (iii) is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it (or, if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, for the beneficiary), notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes.

Each prospective investor in the Notes should have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes.

Investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should therefore consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) if relevant, the Notes can be used as underlying securities for various types of borrowing, and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or, if relevant, pledge of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

#### **Risks relating to the Notes generally**

In addition to the risk factors set out in the Base Prospectus under the heading "Risk Factors relating to the Notes" from page 23 of the Base Prospectus, set out below are a brief description of certain additional risks relating to the Notes generally.

#### Early redemption for tax or other reasons

Upon giving notice to the Trustee, the Issuer may redeem Notes earlier than the Maturity Date (a) for specified tax or other reasons, as detailed in Condition 7.3 (*Redemption for taxation and other reasons*) (but see "Risk Factors Relating to the Swap Counterparty and any Swap Agreement" in the Base Prospectus for a description of how such redemption is effected where it results from termination of the Swap Agreement), (b) due to any illegality, as detailed in Condition 7.12 (*Redemption for illegality*) or (c) upon the occurrence of a Collateral Exhaustion Event where the Settlement Amount payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS is equal to or greater than the sum of any cash standing to the credit of the Cash Accounts *plus* the sale proceeds from the liquidation of all Individual Securities, as detailed in Condition 7.13 (*Early Redemption for Collateral Exhaustion Event*). If the Issuer redeems the Notes early, the Issuer will, if and to the extent permitted by applicable law, redeem the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount as specified in the Conditions. The Early Redemption Amount is not principal-protected and will be equal to the sale proceeds from the disposal of the Collateral Package plus (if due from the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer) or minus (if due from the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty) the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer) or minus (if due from the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty) the Swap Termination Value minus the Unwind Costs, as detailed in the Conditions.

#### Cash held by Custodian as banker not as trustee

Any cash held in an account with the Custodian (including any cash held in the Principal Account or Interest Account) will be held by the Custodian as banker and not as trustee. Any such cash will therefore not be held as client money in accordance with any client money rules. As a result, if the Custodian becomes insolvent, the Issuer will only have an unsecured claim against the Custodian's estate in respect of any such cash. If the Issuer is unable to recover such cash in full from the Custodian's estate, it may not have sufficient proceeds to redeem the Notes in full and the amount paid to Noteholders may be significantly less than the Noteholders' original investment and may be zero.

#### Swap Counterparty exercise of discretion

In exercising its discretion or deciding upon a course of action, the Swap Counterparty shall attempt to maximise the beneficial outcome for itself (that is maximise any payments due to it and minimise

any payments due from it) and will not be liable to account to the Noteholders or any other person for any profit or other benefit to it or any of its affiliates that may result directly or indirectly from any such selection.

#### No protection under any deposit protection scheme

An investment in the Notes does not have the status of a bank deposit and is not within the scope of any deposit protection scheme.

# Modification to the Conditions and Transaction Documents or early redemption in relation to Regulatory Consequences

Investors in the Notes should be aware that if the performance of the Swap Counterparty's and/or its Affiliates' obligations under any Transaction Document (as defined in the Conditions), or any arrangement made to hedge such obligations has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited due to Regulatory Consequences, the Swap Counterparty has the right to terminate the Swap Agreement and this will cause the Notes to redeem early. Upon any such redemption, the amount paid to Noteholders to redeem such Notes may be significantly less than the Noteholder's original investment in such Notes and may be zero.

Investors in the Notes should also be aware that the Swap Counterparty may, for the purposes of causing the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents to comply with or take into account Regulatory Consequences, make modification(s) to the Conditions and the Transaction Documents, at any time, at its own expense and, provided that such modifications satisfy certain criteria (as set out in the Conditions), such modifications shall be made without the need for the consent of any other party to such Transaction Documents or the Noteholders.

#### Risks relating to U.S. Volcker Rule

On 10 December 2013, the SEC, the CFTC and three U.S. banking regulators approved a final rule to implement Section 13 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, commonly known as the Volcker Rule (the "**Volcker Rule**"). Subject to certain exceptions, the Volcker Rule prohibits sponsorship of and investment in certain "covered funds" by "banking entities", a term that includes Citibank, N.A. and most internationally active banking organisations that may be Swap Counterparties and their respective affiliate. Even if an exception allows a banking entity to sponsor or invest in a covered fund, the banking entity may be prohibited from entering into certain "covered transactions" with that covered fund. Covered transactions include (among other things) entering into a swap transaction if the swap would result in a credit exposure to the covered fund.

If the Issuer is considered a covered fund and if any Swap Counterparties or their affiliates were to be deemed a "sponsor" of the Issuer, that Swap Counterparty could be prohibited from entering into the Swap Agreement with the Issuer, which could have material adverse effects on the Notes. Alternatively, the Issuer may incur additional costs in seeking new swap counterparties in order to maintain the payment characteristics of the Notes, although there is no guarantee that it will be able to find such counterparties. Such costs could materially and adversely affect the value of and any return on the Notes. If the Issuer is considered a covered fund, the liquidity of the market for the Notes may be materially and adversely affected, since banking entities could be prohibited from, or face restrictions in, investing in the Notes. This could make it difficult or impossible for Noteholders to sell the Notes or it could materially and adversely affect their market value.

#### EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directives

As part of its anti-tax avoidance package, the European Commission published a draft Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive on 28 January 2016, which was formally adopted by the European Council on 12 July 2016 in Council Directive (EU) 2016/1164 (the "**ATAD 1**"). The ATAD 1 must be implemented

by each Member State by 2019, subject to derogations for Member States which have equivalent measures in their domestic law. Ireland has applied for a derogation with respect to the interest limitations rule (see below), meaning that the provisions of the ATAD 1 on interest deductibility may be deferred in the case of Ireland until a later date, potentially to 1 January 2024. No assurance can be given that such a derogation will be granted. On 14 November 2018 the Irish Department of Finance issued a consultation document seeking views on the manner in which Ireland will implement the interest limitation rule. It also suggested that Ireland might introduce the rules earlier than 2024, perhaps as early as Finance Act 2019.

The second Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (the "**ATAD 2**", and, together with ATAD 1, the "**ATADs**") was adopted as Council Directive (EU) 2017/952 on 29 May 2017. ATAD 2 must be implemented by all EU member states by January 1, 2020, with certain exceptions.

When implemented, it is possible that the ATADs may affect the tax treatment of the Issuer's profits and therefore the Issuer's ability to make payments on the Notes. However, in the absence of implementing legislation, the possible implications of the ATADs are to a large extent, unascertainable at this time.

Amongst the measures contained, in the ATAD 1 is an interest deductibility limitation rule similar to the recommendation contained in the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ("**BEPS**") Action 4 proposals. The ATAD 1 provides that interest costs in excess of 30 per cent of an entity's earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, will not be deductible in the year in which they are incurred but would remain available for carrying forward. However, the restriction on interest deductibility would only be in respect of the amount by which the borrowing costs exceed "interest revenues and other equivalent taxable revenues from financial assets". It is uncertain at this time as to whether the payments received by the Issuer under the Swap Agreement would be considered to be "other equivalent taxable revenues from financial assets". There is also a carve-out in the ATAD 1 for financial undertakings, although as drafted the Issuer should not be treated as a financial undertaking. Additionally, ATAD 1 enables a member state to exclude the first EUR 3,000,000 of interest costs in each year from the restriction in its implementing legislation.

#### Risk Factors relating to the Credit Linked Notes

#### Limited information about the Indices and the Reference Entities

Investors should conduct their own investigation and analysis with respect to the creditworthiness of the Reference Entities and the likelihood of the occurrence of Credit Events.

Investors in the Notes will be exposed to the credit risk of the Reference Entities and the Reference Obligations (each as defined in Annex 4) as that affects the amount that the Issuer will pay the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS given the Issuer has taken a long position in respect of the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Series 31 Version 1 Index (the "**Europe Index**"). If an Event Determination Date occurs under the Europe CDS, the Issuer may need to sell all or part of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package held in the Custody Account in circumstances where amounts held in the Principal Account and the Interest Account are insufficient to meet the payments due to the Swap Counterparty. Investors in the Notes, given the Issuer has taken a short position in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Crossover Series 31 Version 1 Index (the "**Crossover Index**" and together with the Europe Index, the "**Indices**"), will also be exposed to the creditworthiness of the Reference Entities and the Reference Obligations (each as defined in Annex 5) that are components of the Crossover Index as that affects whether Noteholders will receive any additional payments under the Notes.

None of the Issuer, CGML, the Trustee or any other person on their behalf makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the credit quality of the Reference Entities or the Reference

Obligations under either of the Indices. CGML may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, confidential information with respect to the Indices or their respective Reference Entities or Reference Obligations and is not required to disclose this information to the Issuer or any other party.

The Reference Entities may not be subject to regular reporting requirements and may report information in accordance with disclosure and accounting standards with which Noteholders are not familiar. None of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any information available with respect to the Reference Entities or the Reference Obligations under either of the Indices.

None of the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealer, the Swap Counterparty or the Calculation Agent will have any obligation to keep investors informed as to any matters with respect to the Reference Entities or any of the Reference Obligations under either of the Indices, including whether or not circumstances exist that give rise to the possibility of the occurrence of a Credit Event.

The Reference Entities and their respective Reference Obligations that are components of the Europe Index as at the Issue Date may be found in Schedule 2 to Annex 4 (*Form of the Europe CDS Confirmation*) or from the Markit website at: https://www.markit.com/Company/Files/DownloadFiles?CMSID=220fe2c53b0f4cfe8d260eabfb370 ab7 (refer to pages 1 and 2).

The Reference Entities and their respective Reference Obligations that are components of the Crossover Index as at the Issue Date may be found in Schedule 2 to Annex 5 (*Form of the Crossover CDS Confirmation*) or from the Markit website at: https://www.markit.com/Company/Files/DownloadFiles?CMSID=220fe2c53b0f4cfe8d260eabfb370 ab7 (refer to page 3).

Information about the past and future performance of each of the Indices and their respective volatility may be found using the following sources: (a) Bloomberg, by searching the ticker "ITRX EUR CDSI S31 7Y Corp" for the Europe Index and "ITRX XOVER CDSI S31 3Y Corp" for the Crossover Index (b) the DC website at http://dc.isda.org/ for information relating to DC Resolutions in relation to components of the Indices that a Credit Event has occurred in relation to and (c) http://www.creditfixings.com/CreditEventAuctions/fixings.jsp for the relevant Auction Final Prices relating to Credit Events that have occurred in relation to components of the Indices.

#### iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Disclaimer

iTraxx® is a registered trade mark of Markit Indices Limited.

iTraxx® is a trade mark of Markit Indices Limited and has been licensed for the use by Citigroup Global Markets Limited. Markit Indices Limited does not approve, endorse or recommend Citigroup Global Markets Limited or iTraxx® derivatives products.

iTraxx® derivatives products are derived from a source considered reliable, but neither Markit Indices Limited nor any of its employees, suppliers, subcontractors and agents (together iTraxx Associates) guarantees the veracity, completeness or accuracy of iTraxx® derivatives products or other information furnished in connection with iTraxx® derivatives products. No representation, warranty or condition, express or implied, statutory or otherwise, as to condition, satisfactory quality, performance, or fitness for purpose are given or assumed by Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx® derivatives products or any data included in such iTraxx® derivatives products or the use by any person or entity of iTraxx® derivatives products or that data

and all those representations, warranties and conditions are excluded save to the extent that such exclusion is prohibited by law.

None of Markit Indices Limited nor any of the iTraxx Associates shall have any liability or responsibility to any person or entity for any loss, damages, costs, charges, expenses or other liabilities whether caused by the negligence of Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx Associates or otherwise, arising in connection with the use of iTraxx® derivatives products or the iTraxx® indices.

#### Auction Settlement of Notes

#### ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees were originally established pursuant to the March 2009 Supplement to the 2003 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions published by ISDA to make determinations that are relevant to the majority of the credit derivatives market and to promote transparency and consistency. The ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees continue to perform this role under the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions published by ISDA. Further information about the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees may be found at http://dc.isda.org (or any successor website). Noteholders should carefully monitor the matters under consideration by such committees and their determinations.

In making any determination with respect to a Credit Event or a succession date, the Calculation Agent may have regard to announcements, determinations and resolutions made by ISDA and/or the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees. In certain circumstances (including, without limitation, the determination of the occurrence of an "**Event Determination Date**"), the Notes will be subject to the announcements, determinations and resolutions made by ISDA and/or the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees. Such announcements, determinations and resolutions could affect the quantum and timing of payments of interest and principal on the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, none of the Issuer, the Swap Counterparty or the Calculation Agent will be liable to any person for any determination, redemption, calculation and/or delay or suspension of payments and/or redemption of the Notes resulting from or relating to any announcements, publications, determinations and resolutions made by ISDA and/or any ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations made by ISDA and/or any ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations made by ISDA and/or any ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations and resolutions could affect the Notes resulting from or relating to any announcements, publications, determinations and resolutions made by ISDA and/or any ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.

Only those Credit Events specified in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Untranched Standard Terms Supplement published on 20 September 2014 (the "**iTraxx**<sup>®</sup> **Standard Terms Supplement**") as applicable to the relevant Reference Entity will apply to such Reference Entity, which may be found from the Markit website at www.markit.com.

#### Risks associated with Auction Settlement following a Credit Event

The amounts payable under the Notes are impacted by the final price determined pursuant to the auction held in respect of deliverable obligations of a Reference Entity, provided that the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee determines that an applicable auction will be held. Noteholders are subject to the risk that where a final price is determined in accordance with an auction, this may result in a lower recovery value than if such final price had been determined pursuant to alternative methods. If the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee does not decide to hold an auction with respect to obligations of the Reference Entity, then the cash settlement method will apply. In such circumstances, the final price will be determined pursuant to the valuation method specified in the Swap Agreement.

#### Potential conflicts of interest

The Calculation Agent is a leading dealer in the credit derivatives market. If an auction is held in respect of a Reference Entity for which a Credit Event has occurred, there is a high probability that the Calculation Agent or one of its affiliates would act as a participating bidder in any such auction. In such capacity, it may take certain actions which may influence the final price determined pursuant to the auction, including, without limitation, (i) providing rates of conversion to determine the applicable currency conversion rates to be used to convert any obligations that are not denominated in the auction currency into such currency for the purposes of the auction and (ii) submitting bids and offers with respect to the relevant deliverable obligations. In deciding whether to take any such action, or whether to act as a participating bidder in any auction, the Calculation Agent and its affiliates shall be under no obligation to consider the interests of any Noteholder.

The Calculation Agent (or, as the case may be, one of its affiliates) may also be a voting member on one or more of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees and is a party to transactions that incorporate, or are deemed to incorporate, either (a) the July 2009 Supplement to the 2003 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions published by ISDA (the "July 2009 Supplement") or (b) the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions and may take certain actions that may influence the process and outcome of decisions of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees. Such actions may be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders and may result in an economic benefit accruing to the Calculation Agent or its affiliates. In taking any action relating to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees or performing any duty under the rules that govern the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees, the Calculation Agent (or, as the case may be, one of its affiliates) shall have no obligation to consider the interests of the Noteholders and may ignore any conflict of interest arising in respect of the Notes.

#### Questions to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

The ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees Rules provides that eligible market participants may raise questions to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee which have the power to make binding decisions on critical issues such as, without limitation, whether a Credit Event has occurred, whether there is a Successor to the Reference Entity or which obligations of the Reference Entity are deliverable. The Calculation Agent has no duty to the Noteholders to refer specific questions to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees. Noteholders should understand the role of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees and how their determinations could affect the Issuer's obligations under the Swap Agreement and consequently have effect on the Notes.

#### Noteholders will have no role in the composition of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

Separate criteria will apply to the selection of dealer and non-dealer institutions to serve on the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees, and Noteholders will have no role in establishing such criteria. In addition, the composition of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees will change from time to time as the term of a member institution may expire or a member institution may be required to be replaced. Noteholders will have no control over the process for selecting institutions to participate on the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees and, to the extent provided for in the Notes, will be subject to the determinations made by such selected institutions.

#### Noteholders will have no recourse against either the institutions serving on the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees or the external reviewers

Institutions serving on the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees and the external reviewers, among others, disclaim any duty of care or liability arising in connection with the performance of duties or the provision of advice, except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct. Furthermore, the member institutions of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees from time to time will not owe any duty to the Noteholders, and the Noteholders will be prevented from pursuing legal claims with respect to actions taken by such member institutions. Noteholders should also be aware that member institutions of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees have no duty to research or verify the veracity of information on which a specific determination is based. In addition, the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees are not obligated to follow previous determinations and, therefore, could reach a conflicting determination for a similar set of facts.

# Noteholders will be responsible for obtaining information relating to deliberations of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

Notices of questions referred to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees, meetings convened to deliberate such questions and the results of binding votes of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees will be published on the website of ISDA and none of the Issuer, the Swap Counterparty, or the Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates shall be obliged to inform Noteholders of such information. Any failure by Noteholders to be aware of information relating to determinations of an ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee will have no effect under the Notes and Noteholders are solely responsible for obtaining any such information.

#### Cash Settlement may adversely affect returns to Noteholders

If an Event Determination Date occurs but there is no Auction, the Calculation Agent will be required to seek quotations in respect of selected obligations of the Reference Entity (or, following an Asset Package Credit Event under the Europe CDS, a package of assets which a relevant obligation of the Reference Entity has been converted into or exchanged for, which may be nothing if the relevant obligation was appropriated without compensation). Quotations obtained will be "bid-side" — that is, they will be reduced to take account of a bid-offer spread charged by the relevant dealer. Noteholders should be aware of the possibility that such obligations may no longer exist and no qualifying substitute obligations may have been identified, such quotations may not be available, or the level of such quotations may be substantially reduced as a result of illiquidity in the relevant markets or as a result of factors other than the credit risk of the Reference Entity (for example, liquidity constraints affecting market dealers). Moreover, the market value of a Reference Entity's obligations may be highly volatile in the period following a Credit Event. Accordingly, any quotations so obtained may be significantly lower than the value of the relevant obligation which would be determined by reference to (for example) the present value of related cash flows. Quotations will be deemed to be zero in the event that no such quotations are available. Further, where quotations are sought on an asset package under the Europe CDS, such asset package may contain assets which are hard to value and for which a valuation methodology may not be readily available or suitable, which may reduce the value of quotations or the availability of quotations that may otherwise have been obtained. Accordingly, any quotations so obtained may be significantly lower than the value of the relevant obligation (or asset package) which would be determined by reference to (for example) the present value of related cash flows. Quotations will be deemed to be zero in the event that no such quotations are available.

# The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent may have dealings with the Reference Entities

The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent and/or their respective affiliates may (i) deal in obligations of the Reference Entities, (ii) accept deposits from, make loans or otherwise extend credit to, and generally engage in any kind of commercial or investment banking or other business with the Reference Entities, or its affiliates or any other person or entity having obligations relating to any Reference Entities and (iii) act with respect to such business freely and without accountability to Noteholders in the same manner as if the Notes did not exist, regardless of whether any such action might have an adverse effect on Noteholders (including, without limitation, any action that might give rise to a Credit Event).

The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent and/or their respective affiliates may be, whether by virtue of the types of relationships described above or otherwise, at any time, in possession of information in relation to the Reference Entities (or any obligations thereof) which is or may be material in the context of the Notes and which is or may not be known to the general public or Noteholders. The Notes do not create any obligation to disclose to Noteholders any such relationship or information (whether or not confidential) and no person shall be liable to Noteholders by reason of such non-disclosure.

# Neither the Swap Counterparty nor the Issuer are obliged to suffer any loss as a result of a Credit Event

Credit losses on Notes will be calculated irrespective of whether (i) the Swap Counterparty (in the case of the Europe Index) or (ii) the Issuer (in the case of the Crossover Index) has suffered an actual loss in relation to a Reference Entity that is a component of the relevant index or any obligations thereof. Neither the Swap Counterparty nor the Issuer is obliged to account for any recovery which it may subsequently make in relation to that Reference Entity or its obligations.

#### The Notes do not represent an interest in obligations of a Reference Entity

The Notes do not represent or convey any interest in any obligations of a Reference Entity or any direct or indirect obligation of any Reference Entities to the Noteholders. The Issuer is not an agent of Noteholders for any purpose and Noteholders will not have any voting or other rights in relation to such obligations. The Issuer does not grant any security interest over any such obligations.

#### The value of the Notes may be adversely affected by illiquidity or cessation of indices

In determining the value of the Notes, dealers may take into account the level of a related credit index in addition to or as an alternative to other sources of pricing data. If any relevant index ceases to be liquid, or ceases to be published in its entirety, then the value of the Notes may be adversely affected.

#### Historical performance may not predict future performance

Any of the Reference Entities may not perform as indicated by the historical performance of similar entities and no assurance can be given with respect to the future performance of a Reference Entity. Historical default statistics may not capture events that would constitute Credit Events for the purposes of the Notes.

#### Cash settlement may be less advantageous than physical delivery of assets

The amounts payable to Noteholders on final redemption will be in cash and will reflect, among other things, the aggregate value of relevant obligations of each affected Reference Entity (as defined in the Europe CDS) at a given date. The relevant portion of such final redemption payments may be less than the recovery which would ultimately be realised by a holder of debt obligations of the

affected Reference Entities, whether by means of enforcement of rights following a default or receipt of distributions following an insolvency or otherwise.

#### Successors

Investors should note that, from time to time, a Reference Entity may be subject to change following the movement of its debt obligations and in the case of non-sovereign Reference Entities an event such as a consolidation, reconstitution or other corporate activity is no longer a pre-condition to a Successor determination although for a Sovereign Reference Entity, unification partition remains a pre-condition for the determination of a Successor to such Reference Entity. The Credit Default Swaps provide that if a Reference Entity has more than one successor entity, then the notional amount will be split evenly among the successor entities, and in the case of Joint Potential Successors, each Joint Potential Successor shall succeed in equal parts. The Calculation Agent will be responsible for determining, as soon as reasonably practicable after it becomes aware of the relevant succession date the sovereign and/or entity, if any, that gualifies as the Successor. Investors should note that a Successor may be riskier than the Reference Entity it replaces, and consequently the occurrence of a succession date may be detrimental to the Noteholders. Noteholders should also be aware that the relevant event will not necessarily result in the assumption of an obligation intended to be hedged by the Credit Default Swaps (if any) by the successor Reference Entities either at all or in the same proportion as the allocation of the relevant notional amount of the original Credit Default Swaps.

#### **Risk Factors relating to the Credit Default Swaps**

The Reference Entity (as defined herein) is, as at the Issue Date, set out in Annex 4 (*Form of the Europe CDS Confirmation*) and Annex 5 (*Form of the Crossover CDS Confirmation*).

#### General

The amount of principal payable is dependent upon whether certain default events ("**Credit Events**") have occurred in respect of the Reference Entities under the Crossover CDS and the Europe CDS. The amounts outstanding in the Principal Account (which, *inter alia*, form part of the Collateral Package and redemption amounts payable on final maturity and early redemption) are, in part, dependent on whether Credit Events have occurred in respect of the Reference Entities under the Crossover CDS and the Europe CDS. Following a Credit Event under the Europe CDS which is a Governmental Intervention or certain Restructuring Credit Events, an Asset Package Credit Event (as defined in the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions) may occur and the amount of principal payable may be determined based on the value of a package of assets which a relevant obligation of the Reference Entity has been converted into or exchanged for (which may be worth significantly less than the principal amount of such original obligation of the Reference Entity or, where such original obligation has been expropriated for no compensation, may be zero).

Prospective investors in the Notes should be aware that depending on the terms thereof (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of principal and/or interest or delivery of any specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment.

The market price of the Notes may be volatile and will be affected by, amongst other things, the time remaining to the maturity date and the creditworthiness of the Reference Entities which in turn may be affected by the economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions.

The Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes are irrespective of the existence or amount of the Issuer's credit exposure to the Reference Entity, and the Issuer need not suffer any loss nor provide evidence of any loss as a result of the occurrence of a Credit Event.

#### **Credit risk of Reference Entities**

The holders of the Notes will be exposed to the credit of the Reference Entities, which exposure shall be to the full extent of their investment in the Notes. Upon the occurrence of any specified Credit Event with respect to the Reference Entities that are components of the Europe Index, the Noteholders may suffer significant losses at a time when losses may be suffered by a direct investor in obligations of the Reference Entities. However, the holding of the Notes may not reflect the impact of investing in obligations of these Reference Entities, and losses in relation to the Notes could be considerably greater than would be suffered by a direct investor in the obligations of the Reference Entities and/or could arise for reasons unrelated to the Reference Entities. Noteholders should also note that a Credit Event may occur even if the obligations of the Reference Entities are unenforceable or their performance is prohibited by any applicable law or exchange controls.

Where cash settlement or auction settlement applies, the occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to the Reference Entity from time to time may result in a redemption of the Notes in a reduced principal amount or at zero and cessation of interest.

#### **Credit Events**

The Notes are linked to the Europe Index and the Crossover Index, which are both composed of European Corporate Reference Entities. If an Event Determination Date occurs under the Europe CDS, the Issuer may need to sell all or part of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package held in the Custody Account in circumstances where amounts held in the Principal Account and the Interest Account are insufficient to pay the Auction Settlement Amount (or Cash Settlement Amount, as applicable) which will be calculated with respect to the relevant Credit Event, reducing the amount an investor would receive at redemption correspondingly. In the case of a reduction of the Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount (as defined in the Europe CDS), investors will lose some or all of their investment amount.

#### Exposure to Credit Events or Successor determinations prior to the Trade Date

The Notes may be exposed to the occurrence of Credit Events or Successor determinations based on events which have occurred prior to the Trade Date. Under the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, the relevant period for Credit Events that may trigger settlement of a Swap Agreement begins on the "Credit Event Backstop Date" (as defined in the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions), which may be prior to the Trade Date. A similar look-back period of 90 calendar days prior to the date of a request to convene the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee (or, if applicable, the effective date of a notice to the other party and the Calculation Agent that describes the relevant succession) is applicable for purposes of any Successor determination. Under the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, where on or after January 1, 2014, an entity assumes all of the obligations (including at least one relevant obligation) of a Reference Entity which is not a sovereign, in circumstances where the Reference Entity has ceased to exist, or is in the process of being dissolved and has not issued or incurred any borrowed money obligation at any time since the legally effective date of the assumption (such entity, a "Universal Successor"), the look-back period of 90 calendar days will not apply. Noteholders should conduct their own review of any recent developments with respect to the Reference Entity by consulting publicly available information. If a request to convene an ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee to determine whether a Credit Event or Successor determination has occurred with respect to the Reference Entity has been delivered prior to the Trade Date, details of such request may be found on the website of the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA"). If an ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has not been convened to determine such matter as of the Trade Date, one may still be convened after the Trade Date in respect of an event that has occurred before the date of a request to convene such ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.

#### **Requirement for Publicly Available Information**

The Swap Agreement may specify that only publicly available information regarding a relevant event may be used to trigger or modify the transaction. The Credit Default Swaps contain standards as to what constitutes publicly available information. If a Credit Event or a succession occurs but the requisite public information about the event is not available within the applicable time periods, then the event will not take effect under the relevant Credit Default Swap.

#### Asset Package Delivery

Under the Europe CDS, asset package delivery provisions may apply in respect of a Financial Reference Entity in certain circumstances if either (i) a governmental intervention has occurred or (ii) if "Restructuring" is an applicable Credit Event, a restructuring has occurred in respect of the reference obligation of a Financial Reference Entity, and such restructuring does not constitute a governmental intervention. Following a governmental intervention or a restructuring of a Reference Obligation in respect of a Financial Reference Entity, provided that there was an existing obligation of the Reference Entity which, immediately prior to the relevant governmental intervention to which such obligation is subject, constituted a deliverable obligation (a "Prior Deliverable Obligation"), the assets which result from such Prior Deliverable Obligation can be used for purposes of settling the Europe CDS (such settlement "Asset Package Delivery"). Asset Package Delivery may apply if an Asset Package Credit Event occurs unless such Asset Package Credit Event occurs prior to the Credit Event Backstop Date determined in respect of the Credit Event that triggered settlement. Asset Package Delivery may apply in circumstances where the deliverable obligation has either been converted into something that does not constitute a deliverable obligation (e.g. equity), writtendown in part (such that it becomes uneconomic to deliver) or written-down in full (such that it is uneconomic to deliver, but in any event, there is no obligation that can actually be delivered). If no assets are received by the protection buyer, the asset package is deemed to have a value of zero. For purposes of Asset Package Delivery, the asset package for any holder of the relevant Prior Deliverable Obligation will consist of all of the assets in the proportion received or retained by such holder in connection with the Asset Package Credit Event. If the asset package is not capable of being transferred (excluding due to market conditions) to institutional investors or is not of the type typically traded in, or suitable for being traded in, financial markets, the asset shall be deemed to be an amount of cash equal to the market value thereof.

#### Reference Obligations under the Credit Default Swaps

Under the terms of the Credit Default Swaps, the relevant reference obligation may be the obligation specified as the market standard reference obligation for the relevant Reference Entity for the relevant seniority level (the "**Standard Reference Obligation**" or "**SRO**") when such SRO is published on the relevant SRO list. Noteholders should be aware that the rules outlining the selection and replacement of the Standard Reference Obligation are contained within the Standard Reference Obligation Rules, as published by ISDA and as amended and/or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof (the "**SRO Rules**"). The SRO for a relevant seniority level will only be replaced by the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee in certain circumstances set out in the SRO Rules (for example, if the Standard Reference Obligation matures, is redeemed or is no longer an obligation of the Reference Entity, amongst others) after performing the necessary legal review and the Calculation Agent or the Swap Counterparty is not under an obligation to replace the SRO if a substitution event occurs.

#### **Outstanding Principal Balance**

The calculation of the outstanding principal balance of a deliverable obligation under the Credit Default Swaps is determined by (i) firstly ascertaining all principal payment obligations of the relevant

Reference Entity (ii) then determining all or any portion of such principal payment obligations that are subject to a contingency (other than a permitted contingency) or prohibited action which need to be disregarded, leaving an amount equal to the non-contingent amount and (iii) finally, determining the claim that could be validly asserted against such Reference Entity in respect of such non-contingent amount if the obligation was redeemed or accelerated which would be the outstanding principal balance. If payments of principal are subject to a contingency, the outstanding principal balance could be less than the principal balance (and depending upon the type of contingency, could be zero).

#### Swap Counterparty and/or Calculation Agent will act in their sole discretion

The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent will exercise its rights under the terms of the Notes, including in particular the right to designate a Credit Event and the right to select obligations of the Reference Entity for valuation, in its sole discretion, and not in the interests of Noteholders. The exercise of such rights in such manner, for example by the selection of the eligible obligations of the Reference Entity having the lowest possible market value for valuation, may result in an increased credit loss for Noteholders.

The determination by the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent of any amount or of any state of affairs, circumstance, event or other matter, or the formation of any opinion or the exercise of any discretion required or permitted to be determined, formed or exercised by the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders. In performing its duties pursuant to the Notes and making any determinations expressed to be made by it, the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent shall act in its sole and absolute discretion and is under no obligation to act in the interests of the Noteholders, nor will it be liable to account for any profit or other benefit which may accrue to it as a result of such determinations.

#### Corporate Actions of the Reference Entities may affect the value of the Notes

Corporate actions of the Reference Entities may adversely affect the value of the Notes. Noteholders should also be aware that the Reference Entities to which the value of the Notes is exposed, and the terms of such exposure, may change over the term of the Notes.

#### No legal or beneficial interest in Obligations of Reference Entities

Under the Credit Default Swaps, the Issuer will have a contractual relationship only with the Swap Counterparty and not with any obligor in respect of any Reference Obligation or with any Reference Entity. Consequently, neither of the Credit Default Swaps will constitute a purchase or other acquisition or assignment of any interest in any Reference Obligation or against any Reference Entity. The Issuer and the Trustee will have rights solely against the Swap Counterparty and will have no recourse against the obligors in respect of any Reference Obligation or against any Reference Entity. None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders or any other entity will have any rights to acquire from the Swap Counterparty (or to require the Swap Counterparty to transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of) any interest in any obligation of any Reference Entity. Moreover, the Swap Counterparty will not grant the Issuer or the Trustee any security interest in any such obligation.

None of the Issuer, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, the Trustee or any other person on their behalf has undertaken any legal due diligence in respect of the Reference Entities.

#### Limited liquidity of the Reference Obligations

Some of the Reference Obligations may have no, or only a limited, trading market. The liquidity of Reference Obligations will generally fluctuate with, among other things, the underlying liquidity of the loan and bond markets, general economic conditions, domestic and international political events, developments or trends in a particular industry and the financial condition of the Reference Entities. The financial markets have experienced periods of volatility and reduced liquidity which may reoccur and reduce the market value of the Reference Obligations.

Some or all of the Reference Obligations may also be subject to restrictions on transfer and may be considered illiquid. If a Credit Event occurs in respect of a Reference Entity, any resulting diminution in market value of the related Reference Obligation(s) could be further magnified by reason of such limited liquidity for Reference Obligations generally or that Reference Obligation in particular.

Moreover, the limited scope of information available to the Issuer, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, the Trustee and the Noteholders regarding the Reference Entities and the nature of any Credit Event may affect the liquidity of the Notes. Consequently, any purchaser of the Notes must be prepared to hold such Notes for an indefinite period of time or until redemption of the Notes.

#### Swap Counterparty and/or Calculation Agent will act in their own interests

The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent will exercise its rights under the terms of the Notes, including in particular the right to designate a Credit Event, in its own interests, and not in the interests of Noteholders. The determination by the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent of any amount or of any state of affairs, circumstance, event or other matter, or the formation of any opinion or the exercise of any discretion required or permitted to be determined, formed or exercised by the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders. In performing its duties pursuant to the Notes and making any determinations expressed to be made by it, the Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent shall act in its sole and absolute discretion and is under no obligation to act in the interests of the Noteholders, nor will it be liable to account for any profit or other benefit which may accrue to it as a result of such determinations. The Swap Counterparty and/or the Calculation Agent is not bound to follow, or act in accordance with, any determination of any Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.

#### "Cheapest-to-Deliver" risk

Under the Europe CDS, since the Swap Counterparty, as the buyer of protection, has discretion to choose the portfolio of obligations to be valued following a Credit Event in respect of a Reference Entity, it is likely that the portfolio of obligations selected will be obligations of such Reference Entity with the lowest anticipated market value that are permitted to be selected pursuant to the terms of the Notes. This could result in a lower recovery value and hence greater losses for Noteholders.

#### Leverage

Losses on the Notes will be "leveraged" because the notional amount of the Europe CDS is larger than the principal amount of the Notes by a factor of five. Losses in the relevant Reference Portfolio may therefore have a greater impact on the Notes than would be the case for direct investments in such Reference Portfolio (i.e. prospective investors should be aware that the Notes may lose their entire value notwithstanding the fact that the relevant Reference Portfolio may not have defaulted in full). The market value of the Notes may also be more volatile than the value of direct investments in the relevant Reference Portfolio, as a result of losses in such Reference Portfolio and/or changes to market parameters such as credit spreads, credit recovery or interest rates.

#### Market Value Deficit Event

If a Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event occurs (including in circumstances where the 100% Noteholders have failed to provide Supplementary Collateral in an aggregate amount equal to the Market Value Deficit Amount), the Swap Agreement may, if the Swap Counterparty so elects, terminate and the Notes shall early redeem. The amount paid to Noteholders may be significantly less than the Noteholders' original investment and may be zero.

Prospective investors should note that an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice may be delivered on more than one occasion.

Amounts standing to the credit of the Principal Account and/or the Interest Account from time to time may be applied by the Issuer to pay Auction Settlement Amounts or Cash Settlement Amounts (as applicable) or other amounts due to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS or to pay fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Crossover Index due to the Swap Counterparty. Accordingly, Noteholders may not receive back the full amount, or may receive back none, of the cash (and/or securities, where applicable) paid to the Issuer.

Payment of any amount standing to the credit of the Principal Account will be made on redemption in full of the Notes to the holder of the Notes. Accordingly, if Noteholders transfer any Notes, they will lose any entitlement to repayment of any amount standing to the credit of the Principal Account.

#### Failure by a Noteholder to provide Supplementary Collateral

In the event that the 100% Noteholders all elect to provide Supplementary Collateral following the occurrence of a Barrier Event or Market Value Deficit Event, but only some, but not all, Noteholders make payment and/or delivery (as applicable) of their *pro rata* share of the Barrier Deficit Amount or Market Value Deficit Amount for any reason; any Noteholders who have transferred Supplementary Collateral will not be entitled to the return of such cash and/or securities (as applicable) and any Supplementary Collateral delivered to the Issuer shall form part of the Collateral Package.

#### Payments of Principal and/or Interest in the Notes may be deferred or suspended

Payments of the Final Redemption Amount and/or Interest Amounts may be postponed on the occurrence of an Event Determination Date under the Europe CDS (including any period where the related credit loss has not been determined as at the relevant date for payment in respect of the Europe CDS). In certain circumstances, for example where (i) a Credit Event has occurred in respect of the Europe CDS and the related credit loss has not been determined as at the relevant date for payment, (ii) where a potential Credit Event exists as at the scheduled maturity of the Notes or (iii) pending a resolution of an ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee, payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or Interest Amounts on the Notes may be deferred for a material period in whole or part and the disposal, purchase and/or substitution of securities in the Custody Account (including Individual Securities) may be postponed for a material period (unless such substitution is to substitute the securities for their liquidation proceeds), in each case without compensation to Noteholders. In the case of interest, such amounts shall be postponed to the Interest Payment Date immediately falling after the date on which the relevant Settlement Amount under the Europe CDS has been paid, during which time any amounts in the Interest Account may still be applied, inter alia, towards settlement amounts under the Europe CDS and fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Crossover Index payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty.

Payment of principal on the Maturity Date may also be postponed if the Final Redemption Amount would be less than 10 per cent. of the Initial Principal Amount of the Notes (subject to redemptions, purchases and cancellations related thereto), as determined by the Calculation Agent. See risk

factor entitled 'Maturity Date may be extended to the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package)' below.

#### Scheduled Termination Date of the Crossover CDS

The Crossover CDS is scheduled to terminate on 20 June 2022. No settlement amounts in respect of the occurrence of a Credit Event on a Reference Entity under the Crossover Index after 20 June 2022 shall be payable by the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer (although the Event Determination Date in respect of such Credit Event may occur after the scheduled termination date of the Crossover CDS and settlement amounts relating to the occurrence of a Credit Event falling on or prior to 20 June 2022 may be payable after such termination date). The settlement amounts deposited into the Principal Account and in turn, the redemption amount of the Notes on final redemption or on early redemption, may be less than the amount which the Issuer might have redeemed had the Crossover CDS been scheduled to redeem on the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

#### Payment of Interest on the Notes may be zero

Interest payments on the Notes are funded by amounts held in the Interest Account. Amounts in the Interest Account reflect the sum of (i) Party A Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Europe CDS, being periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Europe Index payable by the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer) the Issuer receives under the Europe CDS *minus* all or a portion of the Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS, being periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty) the Swap Counterparty receives under the Crossover CDS, (ii) any interest paid to the Issuer under the Individual Securities held in the Collateral Package and (iii) any Surplus Amounts.

If (A) no such amounts are paid into the Issuer's Interest Account in the relevant interest period, the Interest Amounts paid to the Noteholders shall be zero or (B) the settlement amounts payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS are higher than the sums available in the Principal Account such that the outstanding settlement amounts are, in full or in part, paid out of the Interest Account, the amounts held in the Interest Account may be reduced and the Interest Amounts paid to the Noteholders may be zero or less than if such settlement amounts under the Europe CDS had not been paid out of the Interest Account.

Amounts held in the Interest Account are also applied by the Issuer towards periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Crossover Index payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty. Any such periodic fixed payments will reduce the sums held in the Interest Account and the Interest Amounts paid to the Noteholders may be zero. If the balance of the Interest Account is insufficient for the Issuer to make the full payment of such periodic fixed amounts under the Crossover CDS, any outstanding portion of such periodic fixed amounts shall be payable by application of the cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and, if the balance of the Interest from the liquidation of Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package. Application of amounts held in the Principal Account and/or the liquidation of the Individual Securities (if the balances of the Cash Accounts are reduced or equal to zero) may significantly reduce any amounts payable to the Noteholders on redemption.

#### Risk Factors relating to the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Agreement

The ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes will depend on the receipt by it of payments under the Swap Agreement. Consequently, the Issuer is exposed not only to the occurrence of Credit Events in relation to any of the Reference Entities, but also to the ability of the Swap Counterparty to perform its obligations under the Swap Agreement. Default by the Swap

Counterparty may result in the termination of the Swap Agreement and, in such circumstance, any amount due to the Issuer upon such termination may not be paid in full.

#### Risk Factors relating to the Individual Securities

#### No investigations

Except to the extent the Calculation Agent has determined in accordance with the Conditions that the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package meet the Eligibility Criteria (and that the Ramp-Up Collateral Conditions or the Substitution Collateral Conditions (as applicable) are satisfied), no investigations, searches or other enquiries have been made by or on behalf of any other party including the Issuer, the Dealer, the Swap Counterparty, the Calculation Agent or the Trustee in respect of such Individual Securities and it is the 100% Noteholders who select the Individual Securities to form part of the Collateral Package. No representations or warranties, express or implied, have been given by the Issuer, the Dealer, the Swap Counterparty, the Calculation Agent, the Trustee or any other person on their behalf in respect of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package.

Noteholders are exposed to the credit risk of each obligor of the Individual Securities and the market value of such Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package. The Issuer may have to fund its payment obligations under the Conditions and/or the Swap Agreement by the sale of all or part of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package.

Purchasers of the Notes should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding, *inter alia*, the obligors of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package and the Individual Securities themselves as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Notes. The price realised on sale of such Individual Securities by the Issuer and the market value of such Individual Securities, will generally fluctuate with, among other things, the liquidity and volatility of the financial markets, general economic conditions, domestic and international political events, developments or trends in the global banking industry and the financial condition of such obligors of the Individual Securities and/or their underlying obligations.

Depending on the market price of the Individual Securities, any of these events may cause significant losses to the Noteholders and may result in the Notes redeeming at zero.

#### **Disclosure of information on Individual Securities**

The Arranger and the Dealer may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, confidential information or enter into transactions with respect to any Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package and they shall not be under any duty to disclose such confidential information or the nature of any transaction to any Noteholder or Issuer.

#### Selection of Individual Securities

Securities selected by the 100% Noteholders (i) during the period up to, and including, the Ramp-Up Period End Date and (ii) on substitution from, but excluding, the Ramp-Up Period End Date to, and including, the tenth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date, must satisfy certain Eligibility Criteria (and the Ramp-up Collateral Conditions or the Substitution Collateral Conditions, as applicable) before they are purchased by the Issuer. There is no guarantee that the securities proposed by the 100% Noteholders will meet such criteria and conditions, as determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. In such circumstances, the relevant securities selected by the 100% Noteholders will not constitute Individual Securities and form part of the Collateral Package.

#### Credit ratings and market value of the Individual Securities

Payments on the Notes on final maturity and at early redemption will be funded, among other things, by the liquidation of Individual Securities held in the Custody Account, and such amounts will reflect the value of the underlying obligations of the Individual Securities at a given date. The sole holder of 100% outstanding principal amount of the Notes at the relevant time will have the right to purchase the relevant portion of the Individual Securities to be sold by matching the highest bid quotation received (and if no bid quotations are received by the Disposal Agent, at any price determined by the such Noteholder). In cases where such Noteholder elects not to exercise this right, the relevant payments on the Notes may be less than the recovery which would ultimately be realised by a holder of Individual Securities.

The credit ratings and value of the Individual Securities are linked to the performance of their respective underlying obligations and may deteriorate over the term of the Notes which may affect the market value of such Individual Securities on liquidation. In this case, amounts paid to Noteholders on final redemption and/or early redemption may be significantly less than the Noteholders' original investment and may be zero.

#### Individual Securities may be substituted

Subject to any suspension provisions (as discussed in the risk factor entitled 'Purchase and substitution of Individual Securities may be suspended' below), Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package may be substituted (or, if so specified in the relevant Substitution Direction, liquidated such that their liquidation proceeds form part of the Collateral Package) on any Business Day from, but excluding, the Ramp-Up Period End Date to, and including, the tenth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date following a request by the 100% Noteholders provided that the proposed alternative securities satisfy the Eligibility Criteria, the Substitution Collateral Conditions are satisfied and no more than three substitution requests are made to the Issuer during any given six calendar month period. The market value of Alternative Securities forming part of the Collateral Package following substitution may be more or less volatile than the market value of Individual Securities they have been substituted for (or in the case where Individual Securities have been substituted for their liquidation proceeds, such cash amounts they have been substituted for) and as a result may reduce the amounts payable under the Notes as compared against amounts payable where the original Individual Securities had not been substituted. Prospective Noteholders should conduct their own investigation into the composition of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package at the time of purchase of any Notes.

#### Purchase and substitution of Individual Securities may be suspended

The ability of the 100% Noteholders to request purchase of Individual Securities up to, and including, the Ramp-Up Period End Date and to substitute Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package from, but excluding, the Ramp-Up Period End Date to, and including, the tenth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date may be suspended until any obligations of the Issuer to pay to the Swap Counterparty the relevant Settlement Amount (as defined in the Europe CDS) under the Europe CDS have been discharged, unless the relevant substitution request relates to a substitution of Individual Securities for their liquidation proceeds in EUR.

If an Event Determination Date occurs under the Europe CDS and the ability of the 100% Noteholders to request purchase of Individual Securities during the period on or before the Ramp-Up Period End Date is suspended as described in the paragraph above, the Ramp-Up Period End Date will not be extended if the suspension continues after the Ramp-Up Period End Date such that any securities the 100% Noteholders may have planned to request that the Issuer purchase before the Ramp-Up Period End Date will not be purchased by the Issuer and will not form part of the

Collateral Package unless the 100% Noteholders include such proposed securities in a Substitution Direction (provided that such securities are still available).

If the Individual Securities which the 100% Noteholders have requested substitution for are redeemed or repaid (following which their proceeds would be deposited into the Principal Account) during the suspension period, such Individual Securities will no longer be available for substitution and as a result may reduce the amounts payable under the Notes as compared against amounts payable had the Individual Securities been substituted. In addition, there is no guarantee that the proposed alternative securities will still be available for purchase by the Issuer following the end of the suspension period.

In addition, no Substitution Directions may be made by the 100% Noteholders from the occurrence of a Final Credit Exhaustion Event. A Final Credit Exhaustion Event occurs where immediately following the payment by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty of any Settlement Amount under the Europe CDS, the sum of any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account plus the aggregate nominal amount of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package is less than the Principal Coverage Amount.

#### Individual Securities maturing after the Maturity Date of the Notes

In the case of Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package which are scheduled to mature only following the Maturity Date of the Notes, their market value on liquidation of such Individual Securities for purposes of calculating the final redemption amount at maturity of the Notes may be significantly less than the purchase price or nominal amount.

#### Maturity Date may be extended to the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package)

Unless a Final Credit Exhaustion Event has occurred, if the Calculation Agent, no earlier than the fifth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the Extended Maturity Date (Swap), if applicable) determines that if the outstanding Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package were to be sold, the sum of (a) any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and (b) the aggregate market value of such Individual Securities would be less than the Principal Coverage Amount, the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the Extended Maturity Date (Swap), if applicable) shall be postponed to the latest scheduled maturity date of such Individual Securities. Subject to any early redemption events, there may therefore be a long delay following the Scheduled Maturity Date before the Noteholders receive the Final Redemption Amount (unless the 100% Amount) and such amount may be significantly less than the amount the Noteholders would have received if the Final Redemption Amount was paid on the Scheduled Maturity Date.

#### **Incorporation by Reference**

The provisions contained in pages 1 to 262 of the Base Prospectus, which constitutes a Base Listing Particulars for the purposes of admission to trading on the Global Exchange Market at Euronext Dublin, shall be deemed to be incorporated into and form part of these Series Listing Particulars in its entirety, save that any statement contained in the Base Prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of these Series Listing Particulars to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of these Series Listing Particulars. These Series Listing Particulars must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus and full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the provisions set out within this document and the provisions of the Base Prospectus incorporated herein.

As at the Issue Date, the Base Prospectus and the Issuer's audited financial statements in respect of its financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 (contained within Schedules 1 and 2, respectively, of Issuer Disclosure Annex 3 to the Base Prospectus) have been filed with the Irish Stock Exchange plc trading as Euronext Dublin ("**Euronext Dublin**") and are also available for viewing on the website of Euronext Dublin using the following link:

#### https://www.ise.ie/debt\_documents/Base%20Prospectus\_99ad8ea8-58e2-4be6-bb74-974d57ed1d5a.pdf

The Swap Counterparty's audited financial statements in respect of its financial years ending 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 shall be deemed to be incorporated into and form part of these Series Listing Particulars.

#### **Terms and Conditions of the Notes**

The terms and conditions of the Notes shall consist of the terms and conditions set out in the Base Prospectus as amended or supplemented below, which constitutes a base listing particulars for the purposes of admission to trading on the Global Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin. References in the Base Prospectus to terms set out in the Authorised Offering Document shall be deemed to refer to the terms set out below.

Prospective investors should note that these Series Listing Particulars do not constitute "final terms" within the meaning of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive or the Prospectus Regulation.

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available at any time to any retail investor (and, for the avoidance of doubt, this means any retail investor within or outside the European Economic Area ("**EEA**")). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU ("**MiFID II**"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the "**Prospectus Regulation**"). Consequently, unless otherwise specified, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "**PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

The Issuer has determined as at the Issue Date that the Notes are not subject to withholding on "dividend equivalent" payments pursuant to Section 871(m) of the Code and therefore are not treated as "Specified Notes" for the purposes of the Conditions. Prospective investors should review the section entitled "United States Withholding Taxes on Dividend Equivalent Payments" as set out on pages 194 and 195 of the Base Prospectus and consult their tax advisors in light of their own particular circumstances.

#### Provisions appearing on the face of the Notes

1	Issuer:	Starling Finance Public Limited Company
2	Relevant Dealer/Lead Manager (including Stabilisation Manager (if any) and, if Syndicated Issue, Managers):	Citigroup Global Markets Limited ("CGML")
3	Series:	2019-09
4	Tranche No:	1
5	ISIN:	XS2053045840
6	Common Code:	205304584
7	Currency (or Currencies in the case of Dual Currency Notes):	Euro (" <b>EUR</b> ")

8	Principa	al Amount:	EUR 45,000,000 on the Issue Date (the "Initial Principal Amount").
			Following any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 ( <i>Purchases</i> ) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant to Condition 7.10 ( <i>Cancellation</i> ), the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Notes shall be reduced accordingly. As soon as practicable following delivery (if applicable) or receipt by the Issuer (or the Calculation Agent on the Issuer's behalf) from the Swap Counterparty of a Credit Event Notice and a Notice of Publicly Available Information (if applicable) under either of the Credit Default Swaps, notice of the same shall be given by or on behalf of the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 ( <i>Notices</i> ).
9	(a)	Issue Date:	15 October 2019
	(b)	Date Board approval for issuance of Notes obtained:	11 October 2019
10	Issue P	rice:	100 per cent.
Provi	sions ap	pearing on the back o	f the Notes
11	Form of	f the Notes:	Registered
12	Denom	ination(s):	EUR 100,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof.
13	Status:		Secured and limited recourse obligations of the Issuer, secured as provided in paragraph 75 below (under the heading "The Security Arrangements").
14		Commencement different from Issue	Issue Date
15	Interest	Basis:	As described in paragraph 35 below (under the heading "Interest Amount").
16	Interest	Rate:	As described in paragraph 35 below (under the heading "Interest Amount").
17	Interest	Payment Date(s):	Subject to paragraph 37(b) below, the Interest Payment Date shall be the date falling on the second Business Day following each Interest Period Date, each such day subject to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention, for which the Relevant Business Days are London and TARGET.

Relevant TimeNot applicable(Floating Rate Notes):

19	Determination Date(s) (if applicable):	Not applicable
20	Interest Determination Date (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
21	Primary Source for Floating Rate (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
22	Reference Banks (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
23	Relevant Financial Centre (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
24	Benchmark (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
25	Broken Amount (Fixed Rate Notes):	Not applicable
26	Representative Amount (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
27	Relevant Currency (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
28	Effective Date (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
29	Specified Duration (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
30	Margin (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
31	Rate Multiplier (if applicable):	Not applicable
32	Maximum/Minimum Interest Rate (if applicable):	Not applicable
33	Maximum/Minimum Instalment Amount (if applicable):	Not applicable
34	Maximum/Minimum Redemption Amount (if applicable):	Not applicable
35	Interest Amount:	In respect of each Interest Payment Date, the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Note shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent as being an amount equal to its <i>pro rata</i> share of any amount in EUR standing to the credit of the Interest Account at the end of the Interest Accrual Period (as extended, if relevant, in accordance with paragraph 37(b) below) equal to the following, in each case in respect of the

relevant Interest Accrual Period:

- (a) the aggregate interest amounts receivable in respect of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package (and in respect of the first Interest Accrual Period, any interest amounts receivable in respect of such Individual Securities shall accrue only from, and including, the later of (i) the Issue Date of the Notes and (ii) the date the Issuer purchases such Individual Security in accordance with sub-paragraph (a) (*Purchase of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions); *plus*
- (b) an amount equal to the aggregate Surplus Amounts (if any); *plus*
- (c) an amount equal to the Party A Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Europe CDS) payable to the Issuer by the Swap Counterparty in respect of the relevant Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date (as defined in the Europe CDS) under the Europe CDS; *less*
- (d) an amount equal to the Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS) payable to the Swap Counterparty by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date (as defined in the Crossover CDS) under the Crossover CDS (if any); less
- (e) any other amounts permitted to be paid out of the Interest Account in accordance with the Conditions (including where paragraph 37(b) below applies, which shall reduce the credit balance of the Interest Account to the extent any sums are applied by the Issuer to pay any Settlement Amount in accordance with the Europe CDS),

subject to a minimum of zero and to sub-paragraphs (c)(i) (*Application of amounts to settle Europe CDS*) and (c)(ii) (*Application of amounts to pay any Party B Fixed Amounts under the Crossover CDS*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

For the avoidance of doubt, any Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS) payable by the Issuer under the Crossover CDS shall (1) cease after 20 June 2022 (being the Scheduled Termination Date (as defined in the Crossover CDS) of the Crossover CDS), (2) not be subject to suspension in accordance with sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (*Suspension of payments following a Credit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions and (3) be paid in accordance with sub-paragraph (c)(ii) (*Application of amounts to pay any Party B Fixed Amounts under the Crossover CDS*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

Interest will be payable in arrear on the relevant Interest Payment Date.

The Interest Amount will continue to accrue up to, but excluding, the final Interest Period Date, notwithstanding the occurrence of any Credit Events under each of the Credit Default Swaps.

Not applicable

- **36** Day Count Fraction:
- **37** Interest Period Date(s) (if applicable):

 (a) Subject to paragraph 37(b) below, the Interest Period Dates shall be 20 March, 20 June, 20 September and 20 December in each year commencing on 20 December 2019 (a short initial Interest Accrual Period) and ending on the earlier to occur of the Scheduled Maturity Date (or in the case where the Scheduled Maturity Date has been extended pursuant to paragraph 39(d) below, the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package)) and the Early Redemption Date (if applicable), each such day subject to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention for which the Relevant Business Days are London and TARGET.

(b) If (i) an Event Determination Date occurs with respect to a Reference Entity referenced by the Europe CDS during an Interest Accrual Period and (ii) the relevant Settlement Amount in respect of the relevant Credit Event has not been paid by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty on or prior to the end of such Interest Accrual Period, then (1) in the case where such Event Determination Date occurs during the final Interest Accrual Period, the final Interest Period Date shall be postponed to the second Business Day prior to the date the relevant Early Redemption Amount or Final Redemption Amount (as applicable) is payable on and (2) in any other case, the relevant Interest Period Date shall be postponed to the second Business Day prior to the Interest Payment Date immediately falling after the date on which the relevant Settlement Amount has been paid.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Trade Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

Notice of any such postponement will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (*Notices*) by the Issuer (or the Calculation Agent on the Issuer's behalf).

No additional amounts of interest or otherwise will be payable by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty as a result of any postponement.

- **38** Redemption Amount:
  - (a) Redemption Amount payable on final maturity pursuant to

Condition 7.1:

Subject to sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (*Suspension of payments following a Credit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, the Final Redemption Amount in respect of each Note shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent as being an amount in EUR equal to its *pro rata* share of the sum of:

- (a) the amount standing to the credit of the Principal Account on the Maturity Date equal to:
  - (i) any proceeds from the liquidation (other than any Surplus Amounts), prepayment, early redemption or final redemption of any Individual Securities (including for the avoidance of doubt, any Alternative Securities in the form of securities and/or Supplementary Collateral in the form of securities provided by the Noteholders) in the Collateral Package; *plus*
  - (ii) any Settlement Amount (as defined in the Crossover CDS) payable to the Issuer by the Swap Counterparty under the Crossover CDS; *plus*
  - (iii) any Supplementary Collateral in the form of cash provided by the Noteholders; *less*
  - (iv) any Settlement Amount (as defined in the Europe CDS) payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty in accordance with sub-paragraph
    (c) (*Credit Events, Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions; *less*
  - (v) any amounts permitted to be paid out of the Principal Account in accordance with the Conditions; and
- (b) all cash sums derived from the liquidation of outstanding Individual Securities held by the Issuer in the Custody Account prior to the Maturity Date in accordance with Condition 4.4 (*Disposal Agent*) (as amended).

No additional amounts (in addition to any amounts calculated in accordance with these Conditions) shall be payable by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty solely as a result of the redemption of the Notes falling on a date after the Scheduled Maturity Date.

Not applicable

(b) Redemption Amount payable on mandatory redemption

		pursuant to Condition 7.2:	
	(c)	Redemption Amount payable on mandatory redemption pursuant to Condition 7.3:	Early Redemption Amount
	(d)	Redemption Amount payable on exercise of Issuer's option pursuant to Condition 7.6:	Not applicable
	(e)	Redemption Amount payable on exercise of Noteholder's option pursuant to Condition 7.7:	Early Redemption Amount
	(f)	Redemption Amount payable on redemption pursuant to Condition 7.12:	Early Redemption Amount
	(g)	Redemption Amount payable upon the acceleration of the Notes following the occurrence of an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 12:	Early Redemption Amount
			Noteholders may receive different distributions and/or payments as a result of roundings effected by the Calculation Agent. In the event that the Notes are redeemed prior to the Maturity Date, the amount payable by the Issuer may be more or less than the principal amount of the Notes and may be zero.
39	Maturity	Date:	Two Business Days following 20 June 2026 (which is, for the avoidance of doubt, as at the date of these Series Listing Particulars, scheduled to fall on 23 June 2026) (such date being the " <b>Scheduled Maturity Date</b> ") or, if applicable, the latest of each of the dates as determined below (each event causing an extension to the Maturity Date of the Notes, a " <b>Maturity Date Extension Event</b> "):

- if an Event Determination Date or DC Credit Event (a) Question Dismissal has occurred or if, for any reason, the Extension Date does not fall on the Scheduled Termination Date (each as defined in the Europe CDS), two Business Days following the Termination Date of the Europe CDS (or, if any event under the Europe CDS results in the Calculation Agent only being able to determine the Termination Date of the Europe CDS on a date after such date has occurred, two Business Days following the date that the Calculation Agent is able to make such determination);
- (b) if the Swap Counterparty notifies the Issuer pursuant to the Europe CDS (such notice, a "Potential Credit Event Notice") at any time on or prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date of its determination (which shall be exercisable in its sole and absolute discretion) that a Credit Event may have occurred in the period from and including the Credit Linkage Start Date to and including the Credit Linkage End Date in respect of which an Event Determination Date has not occurred, or the determination as to whether such Credit Event has occurred cannot be resolved in accordance with the terms of the Europe CDS on or before the Scheduled Maturity Date, or the Calculation Agent is of the view that a Credit Event Resolution Request Date could occur after the Scheduled Maturity Date, the Maturity Date shall be postponed until the date falling two Business Days following the later of the final day of (i) the Notice Delivery Period; and (ii) the Post Dismissal Additional Period (if any) or such later date on which, in the reasonable opinion of the Calculation Agent, an Event Determination Date can no longer occur with respect to such Credit Event;
- (c) if, with respect to a Reference Entity, an Event Determination Date occurs and the Auction Settlement Amount (or Cash Settlement Amount, if applicable) in respect of the relevant Credit Event has not been determined under the Europe CDS as of the Scheduled Maturity Date, then the Maturity Date shall be postponed until the date falling two Business Days following the relevant Settlement Date; and
- (d) unless a Final Credit Exhaustion Event has occurred, if the Calculation Agent, no earlier than the fifth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the Extended Maturity Date (Swap), if applicable) determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that if the outstanding Individual

Securities forming part of the Collateral Package were to be sold pursuant to Condition 4.4, the sum of (a) any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and (b) the aggregate market value of such Individual Securities would be less than the Principal Coverage Amount, the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the Extended Maturity Date (Swap), if applicable) shall be postponed to the latest scheduled maturity date of such Individual Securities,

(such extended date (x) in the case where the Scheduled Maturity Date has been extended in accordance with subparagraphs (a), (b) or (c) above, the **"Extended Maturity Date (Swap)**" and (y) in the case where the Scheduled Maturity Date has been extended in accordance with subparagraph (d) above, the **"Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package)**"). The Calculation Agent shall notify the Noteholders of the Extended Maturity Date (Swap) or the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package) (as applicable) as soon as practicable following its determination.

For the avoidance of doubt, in relation to sub-paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above, the Settlement Date may be postponed following the occurrence of a DC Credit Event Meeting Announcement (as defined in the Credit Default Swap). See also "Payments of Principal and/or Interest in the Notes may be deferred or suspended" risk factor in "Risk Factors" above.

Notice of any Potential Credit Event Notice will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (*Notices*) by the Issuer promptly after receipt by the Issuer thereof from the Swap Counterparty. In addition, notice of the postponed Maturity Date will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (*Notices*) by the Issuer promptly after the postponed Maturity Date is determined.

The Swap Counterparty may send more than one Potential Credit Event Notice during the term of the Notes and in the event of the occurrence of more than one Maturity Date Extension Event the Maturity Date shall be postponed until the latest of the dates determined pursuant to each Maturity Date Extension Event described above.

For the avoidance of doubt, Interest Amounts shall continue to be payable in the case where the Scheduled Maturity Date has been extended to the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package). However, no additional amounts or otherwise (in addition to any Interest Amounts calculated in accordance with these Conditions) will be payable by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty solely as a result of any postponement of the Maturity Date.

# Capitalised terms used but not otherwise defined in this paragraph 39 shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Europe CDS.

		terms in the Europe CDS.
40	Cut-Off Date (Floating Rate Notes):	Not applicable
41	Redemption for taxation reasons permitted on days other than Interest Payment Dates:	Yes
42	Index/Formula (Indexed Notes):	Not applicable
43	Calculation Agent:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited.
		The Calculation Agent may in good faith make such amendment to, or supplement, the Conditions following the announcement or publication by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. of any provision, standard protocol or material relating to credit derivatives transactions which affects the Notes, either of the Credit Default Swaps or any hedge transaction related to the Notes or the Swap Agreement entered into by the Issuer, the Swap Counterparty or any of its affiliates as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to take into account the effect of such provision, standard protocol or material.
44	Dual Currency Notes:	Not applicable
45	Partly-Paid Notes:	Not applicable
46	Amortisation Yield (Zero Coupon Notes):	Not applicable
47	Redemption at the option of the Issuer or other Issuer's option (if applicable):	Not applicable
48	Redemption at the option of the Noteholders or other Noteholders' Option (if applicable):	Applicable, if the Calculation Agent determines that the Scheduled Maturity Date has been extended to the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package) pursuant to paragraph 39(d) above, provided that such option can only be exercised by the 100% Noteholders.
49	Issuer's Option Period:	Not applicable
50	Noteholders' Option Period:	The period from, and including, the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the Extended Maturity Date (Swap), if applicable) to, but excluding, the Extended Maturity Date (Collateral Package).
51	Instalment Date(s) (if applicable):	Not applicable
52	Instalment Amount(s) (if applicable):	Not applicable

53	Noteholders' option to exchange Notes for the Net Asset Amount:	Not applicable
54	Unmatured Coupons to become void upon early redemption in full:	Not applicable
55	Talons to be attached to Notes and, if applicable, the number of Interest Payment Dates between the maturity of each Talon (Bearer Notes):	Not applicable
56	Business Day Jurisdictions for Condition 8.8 (jurisdictions required to be open for payment):	London and TARGET
57	Additional steps that may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution in accordance with Condition 14.1 (if applicable):	None
58	Details of any other additions or variations to the Conditions:	See Annex 1
59	The Agents appointed in respect of the Notes are:	Citibank, N.A., London Branch Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB as Issuing and Paying Agent, Transfer Agent and Custodian Citigroup Global Markets Limited Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB as Disposal Agent and Calculation Agent Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG Agency and Trust Department Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany as Registrar Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited Ten Earlsfort Terrace Dublin 2

		Ireland as Irish Listing Agent
60	Purchase by the Issuer of Notes:	The Issuer may purchase Notes
61	Settlement method:	Delivery against payment
62	Regulatory Amendment Determining Party:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Provis	sions applicable to Global Note	es and Certificates
63	How Notes will be represented on issue:	Global Certificate
64	Applicable TEFRA exemption:	Not applicable
65	Whether Temporary/Permanent Global Note/Global Certificate is exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Individual Certificates at the request of the holder:	Yes, in limited circumstances, for Individual Certificates
66	New Global Note:	No
67 Brovis	Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility:	No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of these Series Listing Particulars, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper (and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper). Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.

# Provisions relating only to the sale and listing of the Notes

68	Details of any additions or variations to the Dealer Agreement:	•	raph 3.2 of Appendix B ( <i>Selling Restrictions</i> ) of the or Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the ing:
		Deale repres make avoida outsid	Each Dealer represents and agrees, and each further in appointed under the Programme will be required to sent and agree, that it will not offer, sell or otherwise available any Notes to any retail investor (and, for the ance of doubt, this means any retail investor within or le the European Economic Area). For the purposes of rovision:
		(a)	the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

			(ii)	a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, " <b>MiFID II</b> "); or a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the " <b>Insurance Mediation</b> <b>Directive</b> "), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the " <b>Prospectus Regulation</b> "); and the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes."
69	(a)	Listing and admission to trading:	trading to be a Exchai	ation has been made to the Irish Stock Exchange plc as Euronext Dublin (" <b>Euronext Dublin</b> ") for the Notes admitted to the Official List and to trading on the Global ange Market (the " <b>GEM</b> ") of Euronext Dublin. The GEM a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 55/EU.
	(b)	Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:		timate is EUR 3,150. All such expenses are being paid Dealer.
70	Dealers (if applic	' commission cable):	None	
71	Method	of Issue:	Individ	ual Dealer
72	The following Dealers are subscribing to the Notes:		CGML	
73	Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors:		Applicable	
74	Rating (if applicable):		Not applicable	
The Security Arrangements				
75	Mortgag	jed Property:		
	(a)	Initial Collateral:	the Iss constit "Initial Securi Issuer accord	ggregate Individual Securities held by or on behalf of uer on or prior to the Ramp-Up Period End Date shall ute the Initial Collateral and at any time thereafter, the <b>Collateral</b> " shall be the aggregate of such Individual ties as are held by the Custodian for the account of the at such time, subject to substitution or replacement in ance with sub-paragraph (b) ( <i>Substitution of Individual</i> tion) of Annov 1 of the Conditions

38

Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

(b)	Security (order of priorities):	See Annex 2. The Trustee shall apply all moneys received by it under the Trust Deed in connection with the realisation or enforcement of the security constituted by or pursuant to the Trust Deed in accordance with Counterparty Priority A.
(c)	Swap Agreement (if applicable):	See Annexes 3, 4 and 5
	Swap Counterparty(ies):	Citigroup Global Markets Limited, whose registered office is at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB.
	Swap Guarantor (if applicable):	Not applicable
	Swap Guarantee:	Not applicable
(d)	Option Agreement (if applicable):	Not applicable
	Option Counterparty(ies):	Not applicable
(e)	Details of Credit Support Document (if applicable):	Not applicable
	Credit Support Provider:	Not applicable
(f)	Details of Securities Lending Agreement:	Not applicable
	Loan Counterparty(ies):	Not applicable
(g)	Details of Other Security Document(s) (if applicable):	Not applicable
Noteholder Substitution of Initial Collateral:		Not applicable with respect to Condition 4.10 ( <i>Replacement of Initial Collateral</i> ). For the avoidance of doubt, the Individual Securities may be substituted pursuant to sub-paragraph (b) ( <i>Substitution of Individual Securities</i> ) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

# Annex 1 Amendments and Variations to the Conditions

#### (a) Purchase of Individual Securities

- (i) On any Business Day from, and including, the Issue Date to, and including, the Ramp-Up Period End Date, the 100% Noteholders may deliver a Purchase Direction to the Issuer to apply the relevant portion of issue proceeds of the Notes to purchase securities selected by the 100% Noteholders (the "Proposed Securities").
- (ii) Following its receipt of a copy of the Purchase Direction from the 100% Noteholders, the Calculation Agent shall confirm receipt of such Purchase Direction and make the following determination within 2 Business Days following its confirmation of receipt.

If the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that:

- (A) the Proposed Securities meet the Eligibility Criteria and the Ramp-Up Collateral Conditions are satisfied, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Custodian, the Dealer, the Issuer and the 100% Noteholders of such determination and the Issuer shall, subject to sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (*Suspension of payments following a Credit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, purchase such Proposed Securities from the Dealer by transferring the purchase price of such Proposed Securities from the Principal Account to the Dealer in return for the transfer by the Dealer to the Issuer of the Proposed Securities. The Custodian shall procure that such Proposed Securities are transferred to the Custody Account; or
- (B) the Proposed Securities do not meet the Eligibility Criteria or the Ramp-Up Collateral Conditions are not satisfied, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer and the 100% Noteholders of such determination as soon as reasonably practicable. The Issuer shall not purchase such Proposed Securities.

Upon the purchase by the Issuer of any Proposed Securities, such Proposed Securities shall constitute part of the Individual Securities and the Collateral Package.

- (iii) The aggregate Individual Securities held by or on behalf of the Issuer on or prior to the Ramp-Up Period End Date shall constitute the Initial Collateral and part of the Collateral Package in respect of the Notes, provided that the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable matter, that the following conditions (the "Ramp-Up Collateral Conditions") will be satisfied:
  - (A) on the Ramp-Up Period End Date, the Collateral Package must comprise Individual Securities which, in aggregate, satisfy the Collateral Package Composition;
  - (B) immediately following each purchase of Proposed Securities, the Principal Coverage Requirement is satisfied; and
  - (C) at all times the Collateral Package must comprise cash and/or 100% investment grade rated CLOs (being a minimum of BBB- (S&P), Baa3 (Moody's) or BBB- (Fitch)), by two out of three of Moody's, S&P and Fitch.
- (iv) For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (a):

"**Purchase Direction**" means a written notice from the 100% Noteholders to the Issuer (with a copy of any such notice to the Calculation Agent, the Custodian and the Dealer), directing the Issuer to purchase Proposed Securities, subject to the following criteria:

- (A) such notice shall specify the Proposed Securities;
- (B) such notice shall contain or append sufficient information required for the Calculation Agent to determine whether or not the Eligibility Criteria have been met; and
- (C) such notice shall not be effective until the Calculation Agent has confirmed receipt of the same.

For the avoidance of doubt, (I) each Purchase Direction given by the 100% Noteholders can relate to more than one type of Proposed Securities and (II) the aggregate purchase price of Proposed Securities purchased on or prior to the Ramp-Up Period End Date shall not exceed EUR 45,000,000 (subject to the Principal Coverage Requirement).

Any failure by the Calculation Agent to confirm receipt of the Purchase Direction shall not constitute breach of agreement, an event of default, or any similar event by the Calculation Agent or the Issuer.

## (b) Substitution of Individual Securities

(i) On any Business Day from, but excluding, the Ramp-Up Period End Date to, and including, the tenth Business Day prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date, the 100% Noteholders may deliver a Substitution Direction to the Issuer to substitute any Individual Securities (such securities to be substituted, the "Outgoing Securities") with (a) one or more other securities selected by the 100% Noteholders or (b) the liquidation proceeds of such Outgoing Securities (in each case, the "Proposed Alternative Securities"), provided in each case that (1) no Final Credit Exhaustion Event (as defined below) has occurred and (2) the 100% Noteholders shall not make more than three Substitution Directions to the Issuer during any given six calendar month period.

A "**Final Credit Exhaustion Event**" will occur if the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that, immediately following the payment of a Settlement Amount by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS, the sum of (a) any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and (b) the aggregate nominal amount of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package, is less than the Principal Coverage Amount. Following such determination, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer, the Noteholders and the Disposal Agent of the occurrence of such Final Credit Exhaustion Event.

(ii) Following its receipt of a copy of the Substitution Direction from the 100% Noteholders, the Calculation Agent shall confirm receipt of such Substitution Direction and make the following determination within 5 Business Days following its confirmation of receipt.

If the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that:

(A) the Proposed Alternative Securities meet the Eligibility Criteria and the Substitution Collateral Conditions are satisfied, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Dealer, the 100% Noteholders and the Issuer of such determination and (1) the Disposal Agent shall dispose of the Outgoing Securities in accordance with Condition 4.4 (*Disposal Agent*) (as amended) and procure that the proceeds following such disposal are paid into the Principal Account, and (2) in all cases except where the Proposed Alternative Securities are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities, the Issuer shall, subject to sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (*Suspension of payments following a Credit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, purchase the Proposed Alternative Securities from the Dealer by transferring the purchase price of such Proposed Alternative Securities from the Principal Account to the Dealer in return for the transfer by the Dealer to the Issuer of the Proposed Alternative Securities. The Custodian shall procure that such Proposed Alternative Securities are transferred to the Custody Account or Principal Account (as applicable); or

(B) the Proposed Alternative Securities do not meet the Eligibility Criteria or the Substitution Collateral Conditions are not satisfied, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer and the 100% Noteholders of such determination as soon as reasonably practicable. The Issuer shall not effect any substitution of Individual Securities.

Upon the completion of such substitution, such Proposed Alternative Securities shall, in the case of cash, constitute part of the Collateral Package and in the case of securities, constitute part of the Individual Securities and the Collateral Package (such securities, the "Alternative Securities").

- (iii) The aggregate Individual Securities and/or cash held by or on behalf of the Issuer immediately following substitution in accordance with this sub-paragraph (b) (Substitution of Individual Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions shall form part of the Collateral Package in respect of the Notes, provided that the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable matter, that the following conditions (the "Substitution Collateral Conditions") will be satisfied:
  - (A) if immediately prior to substitution:
    - the Collateral Package comprises Individual Securities which, in aggregate, do not satisfy the Collateral Package Composition, any Proposed Alternative Securities shall, following such substitution, improve the collective credit rating of the Collateral Package; or
    - (2) if immediately prior to substitution, the Collateral Package comprises Individual Securities which, in aggregate, satisfy the Collateral Package Composition, any Proposed Alternative Securities shall, following such substitution, maintain or improve the collective credit rating of the Collateral Package;
  - (B) immediately following the substitution; the Principal Coverage Requirement is satisfied; and
  - (C) in all cases except where the Proposed Alternative Securities are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities and subject to sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (Suspension of payments following a Credit Event) of Annex 1 of the Conditions and to the Principal Coverage Requirement, the credit balance of the Principal Account must be greater than the purchase price of the Proposed Alternative Securities (although for the avoidance of doubt, the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities may not be equal to the purchase price of the Proposed Alternative Securities).
- (iv) For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (b):

"**Substitution Direction**" means a written notice from the 100% Noteholders to the Issuer (with a copy of any such notice to the Calculation Agent, the Custodian, the Disposal Agent and the Dealer), directing the Issuer to (i) dispose of Outgoing Securities (as defined above) and, (ii) except where the Proposed Alternative Securities are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities, purchase the Proposed Alternative Securities, subject to the following criteria:

- (A) such notice shall specify the Outgoing Securities and the Proposed Alternative Securities;
- (B) such notice shall contain or append sufficient information required for the Calculation Agent to determine whether or not the Eligibility Criteria have been met; and
- (C) such notice shall not be effective until the Calculation Agent has confirmed receipt of the same.

For the avoidance of doubt, (I) each Substitution Direction given by the 100% Noteholders can relate to more than one Individual Securities and (II) in all cases except where the Proposed Alternative Securities are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities, the number of Outgoing Securities may not equal the number of Alternative Securities such that one or more Outgoing Securities may be substituted for one Alternative Security and one Outgoing Security may be substituted for one or more Alternative Securities.

Any failure by the Calculation Agent to confirm receipt of the Substitution Direction shall not constitute breach of agreement, an event of default, or any similar event by the Calculation Agent or the Issuer.

## (c) Credit Events, Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event

(i) Application of amounts to settle Europe CDS

If the Issuer is required to make a payment of any Settlement Amount to the Swap Counterparty pursuant to the terms of the Europe CDS, the Issuer shall apply assets comprising the Collateral Package in the following order for the purposes of satisfying such payment obligation:

- (A) first, any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account;
- (B) secondly, if the balance of the Principal Account is reduced to zero or is equal to zero, any cash standing to the credit of the Interest Account; and
- (C) thirdly, if the balance of the Interest Account is reduced to zero or is equal to zero, the sale proceeds from the liquidation of the Individual Securities pursuant to subparagraph (iii) below.
- (ii) Application of amounts to pay any Party B Fixed Amounts under the Crossover CDS

If the Issuer is required to make a payment of any Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS) to the Swap Counterparty pursuant to the terms of the Crossover CDS, the Issuer shall apply assets comprising the Collateral Package in the following order for the purposes of satisfying such payment obligation:

- (A) first, any cash standing to the credit of the Interest Account;
- (B) secondly, if the balance of the Interest Account is reduced to zero or is equal to zero, any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account; and
- (C) thirdly, if the balance of the Principal Account is reduced to zero or is equal to zero, the sale proceeds from the liquidation of the Individual Securities pursuant to subparagraph (iii) below.

# (iii) Minimum amount of Individual Securities to be liquidated

The amount of the Individual Securities to be liquidated by the Disposal Agent pursuant to sub-paragraphs (i) and/or (ii) above shall be the minimum amount (rounded up to the nearest integral multiple of the minimum denomination of the relevant Individual Securities held by or on behalf of the Issuer at such time) such that the sale proceeds of the Individual Securities will be sufficient for the Issuer to (1) in the case of sub-paragraph (i) above, pay to the Swap Counterparty the aggregate Settlement Amount due to it and/or (2) in the case of sub-paragraph (ii) above, pay to the Swap Counterparty the aggregate Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS). Any Surplus Amounts remaining after any such liquidation shall be paid by the Disposal Agent into the Issuer's Interest Account.

# (iv) Suspension of payments following a Credit Event

The Issuer (or the Disposal Agent on its behalf) shall not (1) apply any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account to purchase any Individual Securities or Proposed Alternative Securities, (2) pay any Interest Amounts from the Interest Account to the Noteholders (and such payments shall be postponed in accordance with paragraph 37(b) of the Conditions above), (3) pay any Final Redemption Amounts to the Noteholders and (4) dispose of any Individual Securities (including any Supplementary Collateral) held in the Custody Account, during the period from, and including, the occurrence of an Event Determination Date under the Europe CDS or where a potential Credit Event exists under the Europe CDS at the Maturity Date of the Notes to, and including, the date on which the Issuer discharges its obligation to pay the corresponding Settlement Amount to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS except (I) to pay the relevant settlement amounts under the Europe CDS (including the liquidation of securities held in the Custody Account to fund such payments), (II) to pay any Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS, being periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Crossover Index payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty) and (III) for purposes of effecting a Substitution Direction delivered in accordance to sub-paragraph (b) (Substitution of Individual Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions whereby the 100% Noteholders direct the Issuer to dispose of Outgoing Securities in return for the liquidation proceeds of such Outgoing Securities to be credited to the Principal Account and (IV) for the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of the payment by the Issuer to the Noteholders of any Early Redemption Amounts.

For the avoidance of doubt, the preceding paragraph shall not prevent any cash or securities being deposited in each of the Principal Account, Interest Account and Custody Account in accordance with the Conditions.

## (v) Early Redemption for Collateral Exhaustion Event

A new Condition 7.13 shall be inserted as follows:

## **\*7.13 Early Redemption for Collateral Exhaustion Event**

If the Calculation Agent determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that any Settlement Amount payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS will be equal to or greater than the sum of any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and Interest Account *plus* the sale proceeds from the liquidation of all outstanding Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package pursuant to sub-paragraphs (c)(i) (*Application of Amounts to settle Europe CDS*) and (c)(iii) (*Minimum amount of Individual Securities to be liquidated*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions (such event, a "**Collateral Exhaustion** 

**Event**"), the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer, the Swap Counterparty and the Disposal Agent.

Following receipt of such notice, (a) the Disposal Agent shall not liquidate the Individual Securities pursuant to sub-paragraphs (c)(i) (*Application of Amounts to settle Europe CDS*) and (c)(iii) (*Minimum amount of Individual Securities to be liquidated*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions above for the purposes of payment by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty of any portion of the Settlement Amount under the Europe CDS and (b) the Issuer shall give notice to the Trustee, the Noteholders, the Swap Counterparty, the Custodian, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Disposal Agent that the Notes shall become due for redemption on the date specified in such notice at their Early Redemption Amount. The Early Redemption Amount shall be paid in accordance with Condition 4.2 and shall be the only amount payable in respect of such Note and there will be no separate payment of any unpaid accrued interest thereon. The Early Redemption Amount may be less than the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed.

# (d) Barrier Event

- (i) If the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that a Barrier Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Counterparty shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent commercially practicable on or after the date on which such Barrier Event has occurred, use reasonable endeavours to notify the Issuer and the Issuing and Paying Agent of such occurrence, describing such Barrier Event and specifying the Barrier Deficit Amount.
- (ii) Upon receipt of such notice, the Issuer shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, deliver, or procure the delivery by the Issuing and Paying Agent of, a notice to the Custodian, the Trustee and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (*Notices*) to notify them of the occurrence of a Barrier Event, the Barrier Deficit Amount, the details of the Cash Accounts (as applicable) and the date (determined by the Calculation Agent at its sole discretion) by which such Noteholder, should they elect to do so, must provide the Issuer with Supplementary Collateral (such date, the "Barrier Exercise Cut-off Date") (such notice, the "Barrier Event Notice").
- (iii) Upon receipt of a Barrier Event Notice, each Noteholder shall within 10 Business Days (the "Barrier Notification Cut-off Date"), notify the Issuer, in writing, of whether or not such Noteholder will provide Supplementary Collateral on the Barrier Exercise Cut-off Date.
- (iv) If the 100% Noteholders all elect to provide Supplementary Collateral, each Noteholder shall, on or before the Barrier Exercise Cut-off Date, transfer Supplementary Collateral at least equal to their *pro rata* share of the Barrier Deficit Amount to the Issuer's Principal Account (if such Supplementary Collateral are in the form of cash) and/or Custody Account (if such Supplementary Collateral are in the form of securities). Each Noteholder shall, on or before the time of transfer, also provide the Issuer (copied to the Calculation Agent, the Custodian and the Dealer) with sufficient information in writing required for the Calculation Agent to determine whether the Supplementary Collateral to be transferred by such Noteholder meets the Eligibility Criteria.
- (v) Any (i) failure by any Noteholder to notify the Issuer of its decision to provide Supplementary Collateral by the Barrier Notification Cut-off Date, (ii) notification by any Noteholder to the Issuer that it will not transfer Supplementary Collateral by the Barrier

Exercise Cut-off Date or (iii) failure by any Noteholder to make payment of or transfer their *pro rata* share of the Barrier Deficit Amount to the Issuer on or before the Barrier Exercise Cut-off Date, shall each constitute an "**Incomplete Barrier Event**". For the avoidance of doubt, the occurrence of an Incomplete Barrier Event shall not be an Additional Termination Event (as defined in the Swap Agreement) under the Swap Agreement and the Notes shall not be redeemed solely as a result thereof.

- (vi) Any failure by the Calculation Agent to notify the Swap Counterparty of the occurrence of a Barrier Event, any failure by the Swap Counterparty to notify the Issuer of the occurrence of a Barrier Event and any failure by the Issuer to deliver, or provide delivery of, a Barrier Event Notice to the Noteholders shall not constitute breach of agreement, an event of default, or any similar event by the Calculation Agent, Swap Counterparty or the Issuer.
- (vii) For the avoidance of doubt, the Swap Counterparty, retains its rights under the Swap Agreement, including in the period following the occurrence of a Barrier Event, to terminate the Swap Agreement in accordance with its terms.

# (e) Market Value Deficit Event

- (i) If the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion that a Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Swap Counterparty and the Swap Counterparty may, on or after the date on which such Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, deliver an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice (as defined in each of the Europe CDS and Crossover CDS) describing such Market Value Deficit Event and specifying the Market Value Deficit Amount to the Issuer and the Issuing and Paying Agent (the date such notice is delivered the "Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice Date", provided that if the notice is delivered after 5.00 p.m. (London time) on any day, the Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice Date shall be the following Business Day).
- (ii) Upon receipt of the Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice, the Issuer shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, deliver, or procure the delivery by the Issuing and Paying Agent of, a copy of the Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice together with details of the Cash Accounts (as applicable) and the date (determined by the Calculation Agent at its sole discretion) by which a Noteholder, should they elect to do so, must provide the Issuer with Supplementary Collateral (such date, the "Market Value Exercise Cutoff Date") to the Custodian, the Trustee and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (*Notices*).
- (iii) Upon receipt of an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice, each Noteholder shall within 10 Business Days of the Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice Date (or on such later date as may be agreed in writing by the Swap Counterparty in its sole and absolute discretion) (the "Supplementary Collateral Payment Cut-off Date"), notify the Issuer, in writing, of whether or not such Noteholder will provide Supplementary Collateral on the Market Value Exercise Cut-off Date.
- (iv) If the 100% Noteholders all elect to provide Supplementary Collateral, each Noteholder shall, on or before the Market Value Exercise Cut-off Date, transfer Supplementary Collateral at least equal to their *pro rata* share of the Market Value Deficit Amount to the Issuer's Principal Account (if such Supplementary Collateral are in the form of cash) or Custody Account (if such Supplementary Collateral are in the form of securities). Each Noteholder shall, on or before the time of transfer, also provide the Issuer (copied to the Calculation Agent, the Custodian and the Dealer) with sufficient information in writing

required for the Calculation Agent to determine whether the Supplementary Collateral to be transferred by such Noteholder meets the Eligibility Criteria.

- (v) If, in respect of a Market Value Deficit Event, (i) any Noteholder fails to notify the Issuer of its decision to provide Supplementary Collateral by the Supplementary Collateral Payment Cut-off Date, (ii) any Noteholder notifies the Issuer that it will not transfer Supplementary Collateral by the Market Value Exercise Cut-off Date or (iii) any Noteholder fails to make payment of or transfer their *pro rata* share of the Market Value Deficit Amount to the Issuer on or before the Market Value Exercise Cut-off Date (each, a "Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event"), the Swap Counterparty shall have the right (but not the obligation) to designate the occurrence of a Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event as an Additional Termination Event (as defined in the Swap Agreement) pursuant to the Swap Agreement and, consequently, the Notes shall be redeemed in accordance with Condition 7.3.4.
- (vi) Any failure by the Calculation Agent to notify the Swap Counterparty of the occurrence of a Market Value Deficit Event, any failure by the Swap Counterparty to notify the Issuer of the occurrence of a Market Value Deficit Event and any failure by the Issuer to deliver, or provide delivery of, an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice to the Noteholders shall not constitute breach of agreement, an event of default, or any similar event by the Calculation Agent, Swap Counterparty or the Issuer.
- (vii) For the avoidance of doubt, the Swap Counterparty, retains its rights under the Swap Agreement to terminate the Swap Agreement in accordance with its terms following the occurrence of any other Market Value Deficit Event.

The redemption amount payable by the Issuer in such event may be less than the outstanding Principal Amount and could be zero.

## (f) Crossover CDS Noteholder Trigger Right

A new Condition 7.14 shall be inserted as follows:

## **"7.14 Crossover CDS Noteholder Trigger Event**

If a Credit Event (as defined in the Crossover CDS) occurs and the Fallback Settlement Method under the Crossover CDS applies, the 100% Noteholders have the right (but not the obligation) to request that the Issuing and Paying Agent, on behalf of the Issuer, delivers a Credit Event Notice (as defined in the Crossover CDS) or (if applicable) a Notice of Publicly Available Information to the Swap Counterparty. The Issuing and Paying Agent shall deliver such notice as soon as practicable on receipt of such request in writing, provided that it is accompanied by evidence, to its reasonable satisfaction, as to the 100% Noteholders' holding of Notes."

## (g) Security

The provisions of Condition 4.1 (*Security*) are varied as set out in Annex 2 to this Series Listing Particulars.

## (h) Amendments to Disposal process

Condition 4.4 (*Disposal Agent*) shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

## "4.4 Disposal Agent

If the Issuer becomes obliged under the Conditions or the Swap Agreement to sell one or more Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package (each such Individual Securities proposed to be sold, the "Affected Collateral") in order for it to make a payment under the Conditions (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Final Redemption Amount) or the Swap Agreement or for any purpose in accordance with the Conditions (including to effect a substitution in accordance with subparagraph (b) (*Substitution of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions), the Issuer shall inform the Sole Noteholder (as defined below) and the Disposal Agent, acting as the Issuer's agent, shall, subject to sub-paragraph (c)(iv) (*Suspension of payments following a Credit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, within the Disposal Period use reasonable endeavours and act in a commercially reasonable manner to arrange the sale of the relevant Affected Collateral in one or multiple portions (as selected by the Disposal Agent in its sole and absolute discretion) for settlement no later than the Affected Collateral Settlement Date.

The Disposal Agent may effect any sale of all or part of the Affected Collateral at any time and at different times on or prior to the Disposal Cut-off Date or in stages in respect of smaller portions. In respect of each portion of Affected Collateral to be sold (each a "**Required Portion of Affected Collateral**"), the Disposal Agent shall seek firm bid quotes from a minimum of five (5) dealers in obligations of the type of the Affected Collateral (which may include the Disposal Agent or its affiliates) and may seek additional firm bid quotations from other market participants in its sole and absolute discretion for the purchase of any such Required Portion of Affected Collateral (each a "**Bid Quotation**"). Upon receipt of at least two Bid Quotations on a Disposal Business Day, the Disposal Agent shall sell the relevant portion of Affected Collateral on behalf of the Issuer at the highest Bid Quotation received.

If (i) the Disposal Agent is disposing of any Affected Collateral for purposes of effecting a Substitution Direction delivered in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) (Substitution of Individual Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions where the Proposed Alternative Securities specified in such Substitution Direction are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities, the Affected Collateral shall be the Individual Securities specified as the Outgoing Securities in the relevant Substitution Direction or (ii) in all other cases, the Collateral Package includes more than one type of Individual Securities, the Disposal Agent shall select the type of Individual Securities with the lowest credit rating (based on the credit rating of the same rating agency) to be sold first and any subsequent sale, where required, shall be based on the reverse order of credit ratings, with the lower rated type of Individual Securities taking precedence over a higher rated type of Individual Securities when a selection is made. If two or more types of Individual Securities have the same credit rating, the Disposal Agent may in its discretion determine which type shall be sold based on the Disposal Agent's indicative prices for such Individual Securities, in the order that the type of Individual Securities with the higher indicative price will take precedence over the type of Individual Securities with the lower indicative price, to the extent such prices are available or where such ranking of selection is impracticable, in any other order as determined by the Disposal Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.

If the Disposal Agent has not obtained at least two (2) Bid Quotations on or prior to the Disposal Cut-Off Date, then on the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date, the Disposal Agent shall seek firm bid quotes from a minimum of five (5) dealers in obligations of the type of the Affected Collateral (which may or may not include any of the dealers from which Bid Quotations were originally sought). Upon receipt of at least two Bid Quotations on the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date, the Disposal Agent shall sell the relevant portion of Affected Collateral on behalf of the Issuer at the highest Bid Quotation received. If the Disposal Agent is unable to obtain at least two Bid Quotations on the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date in respect of a Required Portion of Affected Collateral, the Disposal Agent shall, if a single Bid Quotation is available on the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date, sell such relevant Required Portion of Affected Collateral on behalf of the Issuer at such Bid Quotation. In the case of sub-paragraph (ii) in the immediately preceding paragraph, if the Collateral Package includes more than one type of Individual Securities, the Disposal Agent shall select the Individual Securities to be sold in the same manner and in accordance with the same procedures as described in the immediately preceding paragraph above.

The Disposal Agent may select the dealers or market participants from which to obtain Bid Quotations at its sole discretion and will not be liable to the Issuer or any other party hereto merely because another dealer or market participant would have offered a higher Bid Quotation.

In the event that (i) no Bid Quotations are received by the Disposal Agent; or (ii) the Bid Quotations received by the Disposal Agent are equal to zero, in respect of any Required Portion of Affected Collateral on the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date (the "Remaining Affected Collateral"), then either the Disposal Agent or an affiliate of the Disposal Agent shall purchase the Remaining Affected Collateral from the Issuer for settlement on the Affected Collateral Settlement Date at a price of zero and for the purposes of determining (1) the Early Redemption Amount, (2) the relevant portion of the Redemption Amount payable at final maturity in accordance with Condition 7.1, (3) the relevant portion required to make whole the Settlement Amount (as defined in the Europe CDS) that is required to be paid by the Issuer and/or (4) the liquidation proceeds of Outgoing Securities to be deposited into the Principal Account in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) (Substitution of Individual Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, the net realised proceeds of the sale of the Affected Collateral will be deemed to be (a) zero, in the case where the Remaining Affected Collateral comprises all of the Individual Securities in the Collateral Package for the Series or (b) otherwise, the aggregate net realised proceeds of all portions of the Affected Collateral previously sold by the Disposal Agent prior to the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Disposal Agent (i) shall not be obliged to delay arrangements for the sale of all or a portion of the Affected Collateral beyond the Affected Collateral Settlement Date and will not be liable to the Issuer or any party hereto because a higher price could have been obtained had the sale been so delayed and (ii) will not be liable to the Issuer or any Secured Party or other person because a higher price could have been obtained had the sale of such Affected Collateral taken place (a) at a different time or (b) in different portions than when the actual liquidation was effected.

For the purposes of this Condition 4.4 (*Disposal Agent*) only, a dealer or market participant will include a sole Noteholder holding 100 percent. in outstanding principal amount of the Notes (a "**Sole Noteholder**"), provided that such Sole Noteholder holds 100 per cent. of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes on the Disposal Commencement Date, has notified the Disposal Agent of the same prior to such date and has provided proof of its holding to the reasonable satisfaction of the Disposal Agent. If the Disposal Agent receives no Bid Quotations or one or more

Bid Quotation(s) on or prior to the Disposal Cut-Off Date or the Final Disposal Cut-Off Date (as applicable), the Disposal Agent shall notify the Sole Noteholder (as dealer) of the highest Bid Quotation received (or, if no Bid Quotations were received, that no Bid Quotations were received) (such notice, the "Last Look Notice") as soon as practicable on such date. Upon receipt of a Last Look Notice, the Sole Noteholder (as dealer) shall have the right to purchase the relevant portion of the Affected Collateral at a price equal to the price specified in the Last Look Notice by notifying the Disposal Agent (such notice, the "Last Look Acceptance Notice") within one Business Day of the date of the Last Look Notice (the "Last Look Cut-Off Date"). The Sole Noteholder shall pay the Issuer the relevant purchase price and the Disposal Agent shall transfer the relevant portion of the Affected Collateral to an account notified by the Sole Noteholder to the Disposal Agent. If no Bid Quotations were received by the Disposal Agent, the Sole Noteholder (as dealer) shall have the right to purchase the relevant portion of the Affected Collateral at any price determined by the Sole Noteholder (as dealer) (and such price may be zero). If the Disposal Agent does not receive a Last Look Acceptance Notice from the Sole Noteholder (as dealer) by the Last Look Cut-Off Date, the Disposal Agent shall sell the relevant portion of the Affected Collateral on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the preceding paragraphs of this Condition 4.4.

In this Condition 4.4:

"Affected Collateral Settlement Date" means (a) the date occurring two Business Days prior to the Early Redemption Date, (b) one Business Day prior to the date on which the Redemption Amount payable on final maturity pursuant to Condition 7.1 is required to be paid by the Issuer, (c) one Business Day prior to the date on which any Settlement Amount (as defined in the Europe CDS) is required to be paid by the Issuer, (d) subject to sub-paragraph (e) below, one Business day prior to the date Proposed Alternative Securities (if such Proposed Alternative Securities are in the form of securities) will be purchased by the Issuer in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) (*Substitution of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions or (e) in the case of a disposal to effect a Substitution Direction where the specified Proposed Alternative Securities are the liquidation proceeds of the Outgoing Securities, 10 Business Days following the Calculation's confirmation of receipt of such Substitution Direction;

"**Business Day**" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are generally open for business in one or more of London and TARGET;

"**Disposal Business Day**" means any Business Day selected by the Disposal Agent in its sole and absolute discretion within the Disposal Period. If the Disposal Agent is unable to obtain two or more Bid Quotations on such Disposal Business Day, it may designate any subsequent Business Day falling on or prior to the Disposal Cut-Off Date as a Disposal Business Day;

"**Disposal Commencement Date**" means the day on which the Disposal Agent has elected in its sole and absolute discretion to commence the sale of one or more of the Affected Collateral in respect of the relevant Series in accordance with Condition 4.4; "**Disposal Period**" means the period from and including the Disposal Commencement Date to and including the Disposal Cut-off Date;

"**Disposal Cut-Off Date**" means a date to be determined by the Disposal Agent in its sole and absolute discretion being not less than five Business Days prior to the Affected Collateral Settlement Date; and

"Final Disposal Cut-Off Date" means a date to be determined by the Disposal Agent in its sole and absolute discretion being not less than three Business Days prior to the Affected Collateral Settlement Date.".

# (i) Amendments to Redemption for taxation and other reasons

- Condition 7.3.1 (*Redemption for taxation and other reasons*) shall be amended by inserting "(which shall include, without limitation, circumstances where the implementation of any Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive into Irish law affects the ability of the Issuer to make payment of the full amount due)" at the end of the following words:
   "(ii) would suffer tax in accordance with the law of any jurisdiction in respect of its income so that it would be unable to make payment of the full amount due".
- (ii) Condition 7.3.4 (*Redemption for taxation and other reasons*) shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
  - "7.3.4 if a Swap Agreement is early terminated in whole for any reason the Issuer shall redeem all but not some only of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, the Notes shall not redeem upon any termination of the Europe CDS and/or the Crossover CDS in accordance with its terms on the Scheduled Termination Date (as such date may be extended under the relevant Europe CDS and/or Crossover CDS).".

## (j) Amendments to Definitions

(i) The definition of "Available Proceeds" in Condition 21 (*Definitions*) shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

""Available Proceeds" means, in respect of a Series:

(i) prior to any enforcement of the Security in respect of the Notes, all cash sums derived from any liquidation of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package for the Notes, the credit balance in the Principal Account and Interest Account, any amount paid by the Swap Counterparty to the Issuer as a result of the termination of all the outstanding Swap Transactions under the Swap Agreement and all other cash sums available to the Issuer derived from the Mortgaged Property for such Series; and

(ii) following enforcement of the Security in respect of the Notes, all moneys received by the Trustee under the provisions of the Principal Trust Deed and the relevant Supplemental Trust Deed in connection with the realisation or enforcement of the security constituted thereby."

## (k) Additional Definitions

"**100% Noteholders**" means one or more Noteholders holding 100 per cent. in outstanding principal amount of the Notes.

"Alternative Securities" has the meaning given to it in sub-paragraph (b)(ii) (Substitution of Individual Securities) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

"**Barrier Deficit Amount**" means an amount in EUR, determined by the Calculation Agent and curing the Barrier Event such that the Excess Market Value immediately following the delivery of Supplementary Collateral by the 100% Noteholders to the Issuer, is equal to or greater than the product of (i) 70 per cent. and (ii) the Outstanding Notes Principal Amount.

"**Barrier Event**" means the occurrence, as determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that on any day during the period from, and including, the Issue Date to, and excluding, the Maturity Date, the Excess Market Value is less than the amount equal to the product of (A) 60 per cent. and (B) the Outstanding Notes Principal Amount.

"**Business Day**" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and TARGET.

"**Cash Accounts**" means the Interest Account and the Principal Account, and any successor accounts thereto (each, a "**Cash Account**").

"Collateral Package" consists of the following assets:

- (i) any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and the Interest Account; and
- (ii) the Individual Securities held by the Issuer in the Custody Account.

References to "Collateral" in the Conditions shall be deemed to refer to the "Collateral Package" unless the context requires that such reference be to the Individual Securities in the Collateral Package.

The Collateral Package shall include the rights, title and/or interests in and to (x) any further Individual Securities acquired by the Issuer and/or cash credited to any Cash Account in connection with any further issue of notes that are to be consolidated and form a single series with the Notes, (y) any Individual Securities acquired and/or cash credited to any Cash Account by the Issuer by way of substitution or replacement of any Individual Securities previously held by it for the Notes and/or cash credited to any Cash Account for the Notes and/or cash credited to any Cash Account for the Notes and/or cash credited to any Cash Account for the Notes and (z) any asset or property (which may, for the avoidance of doubt, include the benefit of contractual rights) into which any of the Individual Securities and/or cash credited to any Cash Account is converted or exchanged or that is issued to the Issuer (or any relevant person holding such Individual Securities and/or cash for or on behalf of the Issuer) by virtue of its holding thereof.

"**Collateral Package Composition**" means: (x) at least 60 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of Individual Securities comprise of AAA rated Individual Securities and/or cash and (y) no more than 30 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of Individual Securities comprise of BBB-/Baa3 rated Individual Securities.

"CLOs" means collateralised loan obligations.

"Credit Linkage End Date" means the Scheduled Termination Date (as defined in each relevant Credit Default Swap).

"Credit Linkage Start Date" means the Credit Event Backstop Date (as defined in the relevant Credit Default Swap).

"**DC Rules**" means the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee Rules, as published by the DC Secretary on its website https://www.cdsdeterminationscommittees.org/ (or any successor website thereof) from time to time and as amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

"Eligibility Criteria" means the following criteria which any securities constituting the Individual Securities must satisfy, as determined by the Calculation Agent on each date such determination is made:

- (i) the market value of such securities as determined by the Calculation Agent is not greater than 10 per cent. of the Principal Amount;
- (ii) if such securities are rated below (A-/A3), the market value as determined by the Calculation Agent of such securities, is not greater than 6 per cent. of the Principal Amount;
- (iii) if such securities are rated below (A-/A3), the securities have a par attach greater than or equal to 15 per cent;
- (iv) if such securities are rated below (A-/A3), the securities have a market value overcollateralisation greater than or equal to 114 per cent.;
- (v) such securities are an investment grade rated Bond by at least two of S&P, Moody's and Fitch;
- (vi) such securities are CLOs in respect of which:
  - (A) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Underlying Obligations comprise a minimum of 90 per cent. senior secured loans and bonds;
  - (B) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Underlying Obligations rated Caa1/CCC+ or lower is less than 5 per cent. of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Underlying Obligations;
  - (C) such CLOs have a collateral manager who has been appointed on at least three public CLO transactions;
  - (D) the collateral manager of the CLO is not Accunia Fondsmæglerselskab A/S, of an affiliate or related party thereof;
  - (E) such CLOs are denominated in EUR; and
  - (F) such securities bear a floating rate of interest;
- (vii) such securities are not sourced directly or indirectly from Citigroup Global Markets Limited or a majority-owned affiliate of Citigroup Global Markets Limited that is chartered, incorporated, or organized under the laws of the United States or any State (as defined in Section 3(a)(16) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(16)); and
- (viii) such securities are capable of being held by the Custodian through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

For the purposes only of a Substitution Direction delivered in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) (*Substitution of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions where the 100% Noteholders specifies in the relevant Substitution Direction that the Proposed Alternative Securities shall be the liquidation proceeds of the specified Outgoing Securities, the Eligibility Criteria shall be cash in EUR.

"Excess Market Value" means an amount equal to (A) the sum of (i) the market value of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package (as determined by the Calculation Agent) and (ii) any amounts held in the Principal Account *minus* (B) the aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Agreement (reflecting the value of the Swap Agreement (including the Credit Default Swaps) to the Swap Counterparty, such value to be determined by the Calculation Agent).

For the avoidance of doubt, calculation of the Excess Market Value shall not include any amounts held in the Interest Account.

"Index" means either the Long CDS Index or Short CDS Index.

"Index Annex" means either the Long CDS Index Annex or Short CDS Index Annex.

"Index Publisher" means Markit Group Limited, or any replacement thereto appointed by the Index Sponsor for the purposes of officially publishing the Index.

"Index Sponsor" means Markit Indices Limited, or any successor thereto.

"Individual Securities" means:

- (i) any Proposed Securities purchased by the Issuer and held in the Custody Account pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) (*Purchase of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions;
- (ii) any Alternative Securities in the form of securities purchased by the Issuer and held in the Custody Account pursuant to sub-paragraph (b) (*Substitution of Individual Securities*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions; and
- (iii) any Supplementary Collateral in the form of securities delivered by the Noteholders to the Issuer pursuant to sub-paragraphs (d) (*Barrier Event*) and/or (e) (*Market Value Deficit Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions.

"Interest Account" means an account with the following details:

Correspondent Bank:	Citibank Europe Plc. Dublin
Swift:	CITIIE2X
Beneficiary:	Citibank N.A London
Swift:	CITIGB2L
Account Number:	11830880
Account Name:	Starling 2019-19 Interest acct

"ISDA" means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc..

"**ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees**" means each committee established pursuant to the DC Rules for the purposes of reaching certain resolutions with respect to credit derivative transactions.

"ISDA Matrix" means the Credit Derivatives Physical Settlement Matrix as at the Trade Date.

"Long CDS Factor" means 5.

"Long CDS Index" means iTraxx® Europe Series 31, Version 1.

"Long CDS Index Annex" means the list for the Long CDS Index as published by the Index Publisher and set out in Schedule 2 of Annex 4 or from the Markit website at:

# https://www.markit.com/Company/Files/DownloadFiles?CMSID=220fe2c53b0f4cfe8d2 60eabfb370ab7

"**Market Value Deficit Amount**" means an amount in EUR, determined by the Calculation Agent curing the Market Value Deficit Event such that the Excess Market Value immediately following the delivery of Supplementary Collateral by the 100% Noteholders to the Issuer is equal to or greater than the product of (i) 70 per cent. and (ii) the Outstanding Notes Principal Amount.

"**Market Value Deficit Event**" means the occurrence, as determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that on any day during the period from, and including, the Issue Date to, and excluding, the Maturity Date, the Excess Market Value is less than the amount equal to the product of (A) 50 per cent. and (B) the Outstanding Notes Principal Amount.

"Outstanding Notes Principal Amount" means, on any day, the Initial Principal Amount *less* the aggregate Settlement Amounts already paid by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS, adjusted for reductions following any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 (*Purchases*) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant Condition 7.10 (*Cancellation*).

"Principal Account" means an account with the following details:

Correspondent Bank:	Citibank Europe Plc. Dublin
Swift:	CITIIE2X
Beneficiary:	Citibank N.A London
Swift:	CITIGB2L
Account Number:	11969854
Account Name:	Starling 2019-19 Principal acct

"**Principal Coverage Requirement**" means, in respect of any day, the requirement that the sum of (a) any cash standing to the credit of the Principal Account and (b) the aggregate nominal amount of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package is equal to or greater than the Principal Coverage Amount.

"**Principal Coverage Amount**" means an amount equal to the product of 10 per cent. and the Initial Principal Amount, subject to reductions following any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 (*Purchases*) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant Condition 7.10 (*Cancellation*).

"Ramp-Up Period End Date" means 31 October 2019.

"Reference Entity Weighting" means, in respect of a Reference Entity, the percentage weighting specified in respect of such Reference Entity set out in the applicable Index Annex relating to the Europe CDS Confirmation or Crossover CDS Confirmation (as applicable) (and in the event of any inconsistency between Schedule 2 of Annex 4 or Annex 5 (as applicable) and the relevant Index Annex stipulated in the Markit website, such Markit website shall prevail), subject to adjustment by the Calculation Agent under the Swap Agreement in accordance with paragraph 5 (*Amendments to the Credit Derivatives Definitions*) of the Europe CDS Confirmation or Crossover CDS Confirmation (as applicable) where one or more Successors are identified in relation to a Reference Entity and as may be amended from time to time upon the occurrence of an Event Determination Date or otherwise in accordance with the terms herein.

"**Resolve**" has the meaning given to it in the DC Rules, and "**Resolved**" and "**Resolves**" shall be construed accordingly.

"Settlement Amount" means, following a Credit Event, the Auction Settlement Amount (or Cash Settlement Amount if applicable) payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty under the

Europe CDS with respect to sub-paragraph (c) (*Credit Events, Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions above.

"Settlement Date" means the date on which an Auction Settlement Amount or a Cash Settlement Amount is paid by the Seller to the Buyer under the relevant Credit Default Swap. "Short CDS Factor" means 1.

"Short CDS Index" means iTraxx® Crossover Series 31, Version 1.

"**Short CDS Index Annex**" means the list for the Short CDS Index as published by the Index Publisher and set out in Schedule 2 of Annex 5 or from the Markit website at:

https://www.markit.com/Company/Files/DownloadFiles?CMSID=220fe2c53b0f4cfe8d2 60eabfb370ab7

"**Supplementary Collateral**" means, subject to the following paragraph, in respect of all the Notes outstanding, (a) an amount in EUR, curing the Barrier Event or Market Value Deficit Event (as applicable), such that the Excess Market Value is equal to or greater than the product of (A) 70 per cent. and (B) the Outstanding Notes Principal Amount; (b) securities satisfying the Eligibility Criteria (as determined by the Calculation Agent) with a market value equal to or greater than the amount calculated under sub-paragraph (a) above or (c) a combination of sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above such that the sum of cash in EUR and the market value of the securities are equal to or greater than the amount calculateral required to be provided in respect of each Noteholder shall be a *pro rata* share of such amount.

To the extent any proposed Supplementary Collateral is intended to be provided in the form of securities, the Calculation Agent shall, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determine whether such securities comply with the Eligibility Criteria and shall notify the Custodian, Disposal Agent, the Issuer, the Dealer and the 100% Noteholders of its determination. If the Calculation Agent determines that the proposed Supplementary Collateral meets the Eligibility Criteria, the relevant Noteholders shall be entitled to deliver such Supplementary Collateral to the Issuer and such Supplementary Collateral shall form part of the Individual Securities and Collateral Package. If the Calculation Agent determines that the proposed Supplementary Collateral does not meet the Eligibility Criteria, the Custodian shall not accept delivery of such proposed Supplementary Collateral and the relevant Noteholders shall provide alternative Supplementary Collateral which shall be subject to the same assessments as described of Eligibility Criteria as described above.

Supplementary Collateral in the form of cash shall be delivered to the Issuer's Principal Account. Supplementary Collateral in the form of securities shall be delivered to the Issuer's Custody Account.

"Surplus Amount" means an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which the net sale proceeds of any Individual Securities sold to (i) pay the aggregate Settlement Amount to the Swap Counterparty under the Europe CDS in accordance with sub-paragraph (c) (*Credit Events, Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, exceeds such aggregate Settlement Amount or (ii) pay the Swap Counterparty the aggregate Party B Fixed Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS) in accordance with sub-paragraph (c) (*Credit Events, Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event*) of Annex 1 of the *Exhaustion Event*) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, exceeds such aggregate I Sale, Suspension of Payments and Collateral Exhaustion Event) of Annex 1 of the Conditions, exceeds such Party B Fixed Amounts.

"Swap Termination Value" means the aggregate of the early termination payments due from or payable to the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement, the calculation of which is

described under "Consequences of Early Termination" in Annex 3 to the Series Listing Particulars. For the avoidance of doubt, the Swap Termination Value will be calculated in the currency in which the Notes are denominated and may be zero.

"Trade Date" means 10 September 2019.

"**Underlying Obligations**" means, in respect of any securities which comprise the Individual Securities, the underlying obligations in respect of such securities.

"**Unwind Costs**" means the value of the fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred by the Swap Counterparty and the Issuer in connection with the redemption of the Notes in the circumstances described in paragraphs 38(b) to (g) of the terms and conditions of the Notes above.

# Annex 2 Security

# Security Arrangements

Subject as set out below, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes are secured pursuant to the Trust Deed by:

- (i) a first fixed charge over the Cash Accounts forming part of the Collateral Package in favour of the Trustee;
- (ii) a first fixed charge over the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package in favour of the Trustee;
- (iii) an assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee of all the Issuer's rights, title and interest attaching to or relating to the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package and all sums derived therefrom, including, without limitation, any right to delivery thereof or, in the case of the Individual Securities forming part of the Collateral Package, to an equivalent number or nominal value thereof which arises in connection with any such assets being held in a clearing system or through a financial intermediary;
- (iv) an assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee of the Issuer's rights, title and interest against the Custodian and the Disposal Agent, to the extent that they relate to the Individual Securities or the Cash Accounts, in each case, forming part of the Collateral Package;
- (v) an assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee of the Issuer's rights, title and interest under and in respect of the Agency Agreement, to the extent that they relate to the Notes and all sums derived therefrom in respect of the Notes;
- (vi) an assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee of the Issuer's rights, title and interest under and in respect of the Custody Agreement, to the extent that they relate to the Notes and all sums derived therefrom in respect of the Notes;
- (vii) an assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee of the Issuer's rights, title and interest under the Swap Agreement and in respect of any sums and securities received thereunder; and
- (viii) a first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of (a) all sums held by the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of the obligations and duties of the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Swap Agreement, the Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement and the Notes, (b) all sums held by the Disposal Agent under the Agency Agreement and (c) any sums received by the Issuing and Paying Agent under the Swap Agreement,

(the rights and assets of the Issuer referred to in this paragraph being the "Mortgaged Property").

In circumstances where the Collateral is held by or through the Custodian in a clearing system, the security will take the form of an assignment of the Issuer's contractual rights against the Custodian rather than a charge over the Collateral.

A charge, although expressed in words which would suffice to create a fixed charge, may be treated as a floating charge, particularly if it appears that it was intended that the chargor should have licence to dispose of the assets charged in the course of its business without the consent of the chargee.

The Custodian, acting on behalf of the Issuer, may procure the realisation of the equivalent proportion of the Collateral in connection with any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 (*Purchases*) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant Condition 7.10 (*Cancellation*).

In the event that the Mortgaged Property described above is realised by the Trustee on behalf of the Noteholders, there can be no assurance that the proceeds of realisation thereof will be sufficient to repay the principal amount and any other amount that is due under the Notes.

## The Custodian

A description of the Custodian is set out in the section entitled "Description of Citibank, N.A. London Branch" in the Base Prospectus.

# Annex 3 The Swap Agreement

The description of the Swap Agreement set out below is a summary of certain features of the Swap Agreement and is qualified by reference to the detailed provisions of the Swap Agreement.

# The Swap Agreement

Under a 2002 ISDA Master Agreement deemed entered into between the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty and dated as of the Issue Date (as defined in the ISDA Master Agreement) in the form of Part A of the Swap Terms (December 2018 Version) relating to the Programme (as such Schedule may have been amended by the Swap Confirmations)) as may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the "ISDA Master Agreement"), the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty have entered into a swap confirmation (the "Europe CDS Confirmation") which constitutes a credit default swap transaction over the Europe Index with an effective date of the Issue Date of the Notes (the "Europe CDS") (into which the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions and the iTraxx® Europe Untranched Standard Terms Supplement, as published by Markit Group Limited on 20 September 2014 are incorporated by reference), a swap confirmation (the "Crossover CDS Confirmation" and together with the Europe CDS Confirmation, the "Swap Confirmations") which constitutes a credit default swap transaction over the Crossover Index with an effective date of the Issue Date of the Notes (the "Crossover CDS") (into which the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions and the iTraxx® Europe Untranched Standard Terms Supplement, as published by Markit Group Limited on 20 September 2014 are incorporated by reference) (the ISDA Master Agreement together with the Swap Confirmations, the "Swap Agreement").

# Payments under the Credit Default Swaps

Under the Crossover CDS, the Issuer will pay to the Swap Counterparty periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Crossover Index on each Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date and the Swap Counterparty will pay to the Issuer any Settlement Amounts (as defined in the Crossover CDS) relating to the relevant Reference Entity. Under the Europe CDS, the Swap Counterparty will pay to the Issuer periodic fixed amounts for the protection purchased in relation to the Europe Index on each Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date and the Issuer will pay to the Swap Counterparty any Settlement Amounts (as defined in the Europe CDS) relating to the relevant Reference Entity.

The notional amount of the Europe CDS is 5 times the principal amount of the Notes such that the Notes have a leveraged exposure to the credit risk of the Europe CDS Reference Entities. The notional amount of the Crossover CDS is equal to the principal amount of the Notes such that the protection inherent in respect of the Crossover CDS Reference Entities is not leveraged.

# Credit Default Provisions under the Credit Default Swaps

Pursuant to the Crossover CDS, both the Swap Counterparty and the Issuer (in certain circumstances, following a direction from the 100% Noteholders) have, and, pursuant to the Europe CDS, the Swap Counterparty has, the right to exercise the credit event provisions under the relevant Credit Default Swap immediately upon (and, subject as set out below, at any time subsequent to) the occurrence of a Credit Event during the period from and including the Credit Linkage Start Date to and including the Credit Linkage End Date (or, in certain circumstances, after the Credit Linkage End Date if Grace Period Extension is specified as applicable for the purposes of the relevant Credit Default Swap and a Potential Failure to Pay exists on the Credit Linkage End Date).

When serving notice of the occurrence of a Credit Event, the Swap Counterparty (or the Issuer, as the case may be) may provide the Issuer (or the Swap Counterparty, as the case may be) with the Notice of Publicly Available Information (it will not need to do so if an ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee resolves that a Credit Event has occurred). On the fifth Business Day following the determination of the Auction Final Price (in the case of Auction Settlement) or the determination of the Final Price (in the case of Cash Settlement) (as the case may be), the Issuer will pay the Swap Counterparty (under the Europe CDS) or the Swap Counterparty will pay to the Issuer (under the Crossover CDS) (as the case may be) an amount that is the sum of (1) the greater of (a) an amount equal in EUR to the product of (i) the Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount under the relevant Credit Default Swap and (ii) the Reference Price minus the Auction Final Price or Final Price (as the case may be); and (b) zero, and (2) a Rebate Amount.

# Termination of the Swap Agreement

Except as stated in the following paragraphs, the Europe CDS is scheduled to terminate on 20 June 2026 and the Crossover CDS is scheduled to terminate on 20 June 2022.

The Swap Agreement may be terminated (either in whole or in part only), among other circumstances:

- (a) if at any time any of the Notes becomes payable in accordance with the Conditions prior to the Maturity Date;
- (b) if the Issuer or the Calculation Agent determines that the performance of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited in whole or in part, including without limitation, as a result of an enactment of or supplement or amendment to, or a change in law, policy or official interpretation, implementation or determination made by any relevant regulatory authority or for any other reason;
- (c) if at any time the Swap Counterparty determines that the performance of the Swap Counterparty's and/or its Affiliates' obligations under the Swap Agreement, the Trust Deed or under any other Transaction Document or any arrangement made to hedge such obligations has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited due to a Regulatory Consequence and that, if applicable, a transfer of the Swap Agreement to an Affiliate of the Swap Counterparty will not be timely, practical or desirable for any reason, all determined in its sole and absolute discretion;
- (d) at the option of one party, if there is a failure by the other party to pay any amounts due, or to comply with or perform any obligation, under any Swap Agreement;
- (e) if withholding taxes are imposed on any of the payments made either by the Issuer or by the Swap Counterparty under any Swap Agreement or it becomes illegal for either party to perform its obligations in respect of any Transaction under any Swap Agreement (see "Termination for Tax Reasons" below);
- upon the occurrence of certain other events with respect to either party to any Swap Agreement, including insolvency or, in respect of the Swap Counterparty, a merger without an assumption of the obligations in respect of that Swap Agreement;
- (g) if any of the Crossover CDS or the Europe CDS is terminated early for whatever reason, the other transactions under the Swap Agreement shall automatically terminate; or
- (h) upon the occurrence of a Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event.

# **Consequences of Early Termination**

Upon any early termination of the Swap Agreement in the circumstances set out in sub-paragraphs (a) to (h) above and upon the designation of an Early Termination Date, the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty may be liable to make a termination payment to the other (regardless, if applicable, of which of such parties may have caused such termination).

Such termination payments will be based on the replacement cost or gain for a swap agreement that would have the effect of preserving for the party making the determination the economic equivalent of that Swap Agreement. Such termination amounts shall also include amounts that are either due and remain unpaid as at the Early Termination Date (as defined in the relevant Swap Agreement) or represent the fair market value of any obligation that was required to have been performed under a Swap Agreement had it not been terminated on the relevant Early Termination Date (as defined in the relevant Swap Agreement). In addition, any fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred by the Swap Counterparty and the Issuer in connection with the early redemption of the Notes shall be deducted.

In all cases of early termination, the termination payment will be determined by the Swap Counterparty.

# General

Except as stated under "Transfer by the Swap Counterparty to its Affiliates" below, neither the Issuer nor the Swap Counterparty are, save for the assignment by way of security in favour of the Trustee under the Trust Deed and certain limited circumstances set out in Section 7 (*Transfer*) of the ISDA Master Agreement, permitted to assign, novate or transfer as a whole or in part any of their rights, obligations or interests under the Swap Agreement.

# Taxation

The Issuer is not obliged under the Swap Agreement to gross up if withholding taxes or other deductions for taxes are imposed on payments made by it under the Swap Agreement. The Swap Counterparty is not obliged under the Swap Agreement to gross up if withholding taxes or other deductions for taxes are imposed on payment made by it under the Swap Agreement, unless the relevant tax is an "Indemnifiable Tax".

# Sanctions

Upon the occurrence of a Sanctions Event as defined in Condition 8.9 (*Suspension of Obligations following a Sanctions Event*) of the Notes, all obligations will be suspended under the Swap Agreement.

# **Termination for Tax Reasons**

If withholding taxes are imposed on payments made by the Issuer or the Swap Counterparty under the Swap Agreement, then the Swap Counterparty shall terminate the swap transaction under the relevant Swap Agreement.

# Transfer by the Swap Counterparty to its Affiliates

The Swap Counterparty may, at any time, at its own expense and without the need for the consent of the Issuer, transfer to any of its Affiliates (the "**Transferee**") all or part of its interests and obligations under the Swap Agreement together with its interests and obligations under the Notes, the Trust Deed, the Dealer Agreement, the Custody Agreement, the Agency Agreement and any other Transaction Document upon providing at least five Business Days' prior written notice to the Issuer and the Trustee provided that:

- (a) as of the date of such transfer the transferee will not, as a result of such transfer, be required to withhold or deduct on account of any tax under the Swap Agreement;
- (b) a Termination Event or an Event of Default will not occur under the Swap Agreement as a result of such transfer; and
- (c) no additional amount will be payable by the Issuer to the Swap Counterparty or the transferee on the next succeeding scheduled payment date under the Swap Agreement as a result of such transfer.

Provided that the criteria set out in (a) to (c) above are satisfied, no consent shall be required from the Issuer or the Trustee to such transfer and the Issuer and Trustee shall promptly take such action and execute all documentation as the Swap Counterparty may reasonably require to effect such transfer.

# The Swap Counterparty

A description of the Swap Counterparty is set out in the section entitled "Description of Citigroup Global Markets Limited" in the Base Prospectus.

# EMIR Portfolio Reconciliation and Dispute Resolution Deed

The Issuer and the Swap Counterparty have entered into an EMIR Portfolio Reconciliation and Dispute Resolution Deed dated 30 April 2014 to comply with the portfolio reconciliation and dispute resolution requirements of Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories dated 4 July 2012.

# Annex 4 Form of the Europe CDS Confirmation

Set out below is the form of the Europe CDS Confirmation

Date:	15 October 2019
To:	Starling Finance Public Limited Company
From:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Re:	Credit Derivative Swap relating to Starling Finance Public Limited Company Series 2019-09 EUR 45,000,000 Leveraged Long iTraxx <sup>®</sup> Europe Series 31 and Short iTraxx <sup>®</sup> Crossover Series 31 Credit Linked Notes due 2026 (Ref: CREC17685472) (the " <b>Notes</b> ")
<b>D</b>	

# Dear Sirs

The purpose of this letter agreement (this "**Confirmation**") is to confirm the terms and conditions of the credit derivative swap transaction entered into between us on the first day (as indicated on the last page of this Confirmation) on which this Confirmation has been signed by both Party A and Party B (the "**Transaction**" and such date the "**Signing Date**"). This Confirmation constitutes a "Confirmation" as referred to in the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement specified below.

The definitions and provisions contained in the 2014 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (the "**Credit Derivatives Definitions**"), as amended herein, and the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Untranched Standard Terms Supplement, as published by Markit Group Limited on 20 September 2014 (the "**iTraxx**<sup>®</sup> **Standard Terms Supplement**") are incorporated into this Confirmation. In the event of any inconsistency between the Credit Derivatives Definitions or the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement and this Confirmation, this Confirmation will govern. In the event of any inconsistency between the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement and the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement will govern. References in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement to the "iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Master Transaction" shall be deemed to refer to this Transaction.

Party A and Party B agree that by entering into the Transaction, they have entered into a separate and independent credit derivative swap transaction in respect of each Reference Entity (each, a "**Component Transaction**"). Each Component Transaction will have the terms specified in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement, as modified hereby, and, subject to Paragraph 5.2 of the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement, will not be affected by any other credit derivative swap transaction between Party A and Party B and will operate independently of each other Component Transaction in all respects.

This Confirmation supplements, forms a part of, and is subject to the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement dated the Issue Date (the "**Agreement**") deemed entered into between Citigroup Global Markets Limited ("**Party A**") and Starling Finance Public Limited Company ("**Party B**") in respect of which the Schedule to such 2002 ISDA Master Agreement (the "**Schedule**") is in the form of Part A of the Swap Terms (December 2018 Version) (a copy of which Party A has provided to Party B and Party B acknowledges it has receipt of), as modified as set out herein and in the Supplemental Trust Deed. All provisions contained in, or incorporated by reference in, the Agreement will govern this Confirmation except as expressly modified below.

Party A and Party B have entered into a related credit default swap (the "**Crossover CDS**" and together with this Transaction, the "**Swap Agreement**") by means of a separate confirmation under the Agreement on the Effective Date.

Party A represents and warrants that it has the capacity and powers to enter into this Agreement and that the entry into this Agreement has been validly authorised, executed and delivered by it.

Capitalised terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings given to them in or incorporated by reference into) the Series Listing Particulars dated 15 October 2019, as amended and supplemented from time to time, relating to the issue of the Notes (the "Series Listing Particulars").

In this Confirmation, references to the "**Conditions**" are to the terms and conditions of the Notes as set out in or incorporated by reference into the Series Listing Particulars.

In the event of any inconsistency between terms defined in this Confirmation and the corresponding terms in the Conditions, the terms as defined in the Conditions shall govern. In the event of any inconsistency between terms defined in this Confirmation and the corresponding terms in the Crossover CDS, the terms as defined in this Confirmation shall govern.

The terms of the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:

Index:	iTraxx® Europe Series 31, Version 1
Index Sponsor:	Markit Indices Limited, or any successor thereto
Trade Date:	10 September 2019.
	Notwithstanding Section 1.13 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Parties agree that they have entered into the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates on the Signing Date.
Effective Date:	15 October 2019
Scheduled Termination Date:	20 June 2026
Original Notional Amount:	The product of (i) the Initial Principal Amount and (ii) the Long CDS Factor (such Original Notional Amount being EUR 225,000,000 on the Effective Date).
	For the avoidance of doubt, if any further issues are made which are consolidated and form a single series with the Notes or there is any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 ( <i>Purchases</i> ) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant Condition 7.10 ( <i>Cancellation</i> ), the Original Notional Amount shall increase or decrease, as applicable.
Floating Rate Payer:	Starling Finance Public Limited Company (the "Seller")
Fixed Rate Payer:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited (the "Buyer")
Initial Payment Payer:	Not Applicable
Initial Payment Amount:	Not Applicable

## 1 General Terms

Calculation Agent:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Business Days:	London and TARGET settlement date
Business Day Convention:	Following (which subject to Sections 1.14, 1.39, 2.2(k), 3.33(a) and 12.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, shall apply to any date referred to in the Confirmation that falls on a day that is not a Business Day).
Reference Entity:	The relevant Reference Entity contained in the Index and listed in the Index Annex, and any Successor to a Reference Entity either (a) in respect of which ISDA publicly announces on or following the earlier of the Effective Date and the Trade Date that the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved, in respect of a Succession Resolution Request Date, a Successor in accordance with the DC Rules or (b) in the event that ISDA does not make such an announcement, identified by the Index Sponsor on or following the Trade Date (the Reference Entities together, the " <b>Reference Porfolio</b> ").
	For the avoidance of doubt, the Reference Portfolio will also be amended from time to time upon the occurrence of an Event Determination Date or otherwise in accordance with the terms herein.
	In the event of any inconsistency between the Reference Portfolio shown in Schedule 2 and the Index Annex published by the Index Sponsor as at the Trade Date, the Index Annex published by the Index Sponsor shall prevail.
Index Publisher:	Markit Group Limited, or any replacement therefor appointed by the Index Sponsor for purposes of officially publishing the relevant Index.
Index Annex:	The list for the relevant Index with the relevant Annex Date, as published by the Index Publisher (which can be accessed at http://www.markit.com or any successor website thereto). The Index Annex will be deemed amended from time to time to reflect any modifications resulting from the application of Sections 2.5, 2.6 and/or 2.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Reference Obligation provisions and the Reference Entity provisions herein.
Annex Date:	29 April 2019
Standard Reference Obligation:	Applicable
Reference Obligation(s):	Without prejudice to Section 2.5 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Reference Obligation (if any) set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the Index Annex, subject to Section 2.10 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions and the following paragraph:

If there is no Standard Reference Obligation and the Index Sponsor publishes a replacement Reference Obligation for a Reference Entity, the Calculation Agent will select such Reference Obligation as the Reference Obligation hereunder for such Reference Entity rather than applying the provisions of Section 2.10 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions.

#### Notice of Reference Obligation:

If the Fallback Settlement Method applies, a notice from Party A to Party B that irrevocably confirms that Party A will determine the Final Price in respect of a Reference Entity using the obligation(s) specified in such notice and sets out the outstanding principal balance in respect of each Reference Obligation. The obligation(s) of the Reference Entity chosen by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion and specified in the Notice of Reference Obligation (each, a "**Valuation Obligation**") must either:

- (a) satisfy the criteria set out in Section 3.2 (*Deliverable Obligation*) (and, if applicable, Section 3.32 (*Mod Mod R*)) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, for which purpose the Deliverable Obligation Category and Deliverable Obligation Characteristics are as set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type and there are no Excluded Deliverable Obligation specified for the purposes of Section 3.7(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions. References in Article VII of the Credit Derivatives Definitions to "Reference Obligation" shall be construed as references to "Valuation Obligation"; or
- (b) be the Reference Obligation in respect of that Reference Entity as determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Obligation.

For the avoidance of doubt:

- (A) Section 3.15 (Interpretation of Provisions) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall apply for the purposes of determining whether an obligation falls within the said Deliverable Obligation Category and satisfies the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics;
- (B) the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Assignable Loan" and "Consent Required Loan" shall apply only to the Valuation Obligations that are Loans and the Valuation Obligations must satisfy either (but not both) of the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Assignable Loan" and "Consent Required Loan" and the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Transferable" and

"Not Bearer" shall apply only to the Valuation Obligations that are Bonds; and

(C) if Asset Package Delivery is applicable, the Valuation Obligation may be a Prior Deliverable Obligation.

For the purposes of this Confirmation, the reference in Section 3.2 (*Deliverable Obligation*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions to "the Outstanding Principal Balance or Due and Payable Amount" shall be deemed to be a reference to "the amount in respect of which quotations are to be sought".

The delivery of the Notice of Reference Obligation must become effective (in accordance with Section 1.38 (*Requirements Regarding Notices*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions) on or before the Valuation Date relating to the relevant Reference Entity. Party A may notify Party B at any time prior to the relevant Valuation Date that it is changing one or more of the obligations (or the description thereof) specified as Reference Obligation(s) in the Notice of Reference Obligation, in which event the Notice of Reference Obligation shall take effect as if it had specified the obligation(s) so notified by Party A. However, any such replacement obligation must comply with all the criteria set out above.

Transaction Type:As set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the<br/>Index Annex.All Guarantees:As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the

relevant Transaction Type.

Reference Price:

100 per cent.

# 2 Party A Fixed Amounts

Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Amount:	The Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount
Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date(s):	20 March, 20 June, 20 September and 20 December in each year commencing on 20 December 2019, subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention.
	For the avoidance of doubt, accrued Party A Fixed Amounts from, and including, the last Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date to, and including, the Event Determination Date shall be payable following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date.

Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Period:	Each period from, and including, one Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date to, but excluding, the next following Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date, except that (a) the initial Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Period will commence on, and include, the Trade Date and (b) the final Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Period will end on, and include, the earlier to occur of the Scheduled Termination Date and the Event Determination Date.
	Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit Derivatives Definitions, no further Party A Fixed Amounts shall be payable by the Buyer pursuant to such Component Transaction following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, to the extent that such Event Determination Date is not subsequently reversed prior to the Auction Final Price Determination Date, Valuation Date or Termination Date. If such Component Transaction terminates other than as a result of the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, any accrued and unpaid Party A Fixed Amount as at such early termination date shall be taken into account when determining the future cash

taken into account when determining the future cash flows of such Component Transaction in respect of what would have been due on the next following Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date had the early termination not occurred.

Fixed Rate:	0.677 per cent. per annum.
Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction:	Actual/360

# 3 Party B Floating Amounts

Floating Rate Payer Calculation	An amount equal to the product of (a) the Reference
Amount:	Entity Weighting and (b) the Original Notional Amount.

Reference Entity Weighting:

Notifying Party:

Notice of Publicly Available Information:

The percentage set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the Index Annex.

Party A

Applicable provided that if a DC Credit Event Announcement has occurred, the Notice of Publicly Available Information is deemed to have been satisfied. As set out in Section 1.34 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions.

Specified Number of Public Sources: Two

The parties agree that, subject to Sections 1.19 and 10.2 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, an Event Determination Date may occur on one occasion only with respect to a Reference Entity except in certain circumstances following a Succession Date or in the case of a M(M)R Restructuring (if M(M)R Restructuring is Applicable as set out in the ISDA Matrix), where the Buyer (or the Calculation Agent acting on its behalf) may deliver multiple Credit Event Notices with respect to the relevant Reference Entity. Each such Credit Event Notice must specify the amount of the Reference Entity Notional Amount of the Reference Entity to which such Credit Event Notice applies (the "Exercise Amount"), which shall be equal to the Reference Entity Notional Amount unless the relevant Credit Event is an M(M)R Restructuring. When such Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the relevant Reference Entity Notional Amount for the Reference Entity, such Reference Entity shall continue to be a Reference Entity for the purpose of the Notes and, for such Reference Entity, further Credit Event Notices may be given and an Event Determination Date may occur again in respect of such Credit Event Notices, but the relevant Reference Entity Notional Amount for such Reference Entity will be reduced by the relevant Exercise Amount.

"Credit Event Notice" means a notice (which Party A (or the Calculation Agent acting on its behalf) has the right but not the obligation to deliver) from Party A (or the Calculation Agent acting on its behalf) (which may be in writing, including by electronic means) to Party B (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent) during the Notice Delivery Period (or any other period permissible pursuant to the terms of this Transaction) that describes a Credit Event that occurred on or after the Credit Linkage Start Date to and including the Extension Date.

A Credit Event Notice that describes a Credit Event other than an M(M)R Restructuring must be in respect of the full Reference Entity Notional Amount.

A Credit Event Notice must contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to the determination that a Credit Event has occurred. The Credit Event that is the subject of the Credit Event Notice need not be continuing on the date the Credit Event Notice is effective.

If a Credit Event Notice contains the information required in the Notice of Publicly Available Information, such Credit Event Notice shall be deemed to be both a Credit Event Notice and a Notice of Publicly Available Information.

As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.

Credit Events:

Obligation Category:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Obligation Characteristics:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Deliverable Obligation Category:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Deliverable Obligation Characteristics:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Excluded Obligations:	For the purposes of Section 3.6(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions: None.
Excluded Deliverable Obligations:	For the purposes of Section 3.7(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions: None.
Reference Entity Notional Amount:	The product of (a) the Original Notional Amount, as may be deemed reduced or increased from time to time and (b) the Reference Entity Weighting in respect of the relevant Reference Entity.
4 Settlement Terms	
Settlement Method	Austion Cattlement

Octionent Method.	Auction Settlement
Fallback Settlement Method:	Cash Settlement
Auction Final Price:	The final price determined pursuant to an auction
	organised and held by the ISDA Credit Derivatives

Determinations Committee pursuant to the DC Rules.

(i) Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount and (ii) an amount, expressed as a percentage, equal to the

Terms relating to both Auction Settlement and Cash Settlement

Settlement Amount: The Auction Settlement Amount or the Cash Settlement Amount (as applicable) plus the Rebate Amount. "Rebate Amount" means an amount, calculated by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, equal to the amount by which a Fixed Amount paid by Party A exceeds the amount which would have been payable on the relevant Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date had an Event Determination Date been determined to have occurred prior to such Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date. EUR Settlement Currency: Auction Settlement Date(s) and Cash Five Business Days after the Auction Final Price or Final Settlement Date(s): Price (as applicable) has been determined. Auction Settlement Amount: The amount equal to the greater of (a) the product of the

Reference Price minus the Auction Final Price and (b) zero.

Cash Settlement Amount:

Following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date with respect to any Reference Entity, the Cash Settlement Amount in respect of such Reference Entity shall be the greater of (a) the product of (i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and (ii) the Reference Price minus the Final Price (such difference, the "Loss Percentage") and (b) zero.

For the avoidance of doubt, (1) there may be more than one Cash Settlement Amount in respect of this Transaction, but, subject to the "Notice of Publicly Available Information" provisions in paragraph 3 above, only one Cash Settlement Amount with respect to each Reference Entity, except in the case of an occurrence of a Restructuring Credit Event (in respect of a Reference Entity for which M(M)R Restructuring is Applicable as set out in the ISDA Matrix) and the Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount, in which case further Credit Event Notice(s) in respect of that Reference Entity may be given and there may be additional Cash Settlement Amounts in respect of such Reference Entity, but only in respect of a notional amount equal to the excess of the original Reference Entity Notional Amount for that Reference Entity over the Exercise Amount(s) for which Credit Event Notice(s) has or have been previously given, (2) where a Credit Event has occurred in relation to a Reference Entity and a Loss Percentage has been determined in respect thereof, such Loss Percentage shall always be applied in calculating the Cash Settlement Amount pursuant to the above formula whether or not a subsequent Credit Event occurs in respect of such Reference Entity, which subsequent Credit Event shall be disregarded except in case of occurrence of a Restructuring Credit Event and the Credit Event Notice(s) specifies(y) an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount, (3) if an Event Determination Date occurs in relation to two or more Reference Entities on the same Event Determination Date, the Cash Settlement Amounts in respect of such Event Determination Date shall be calculated taking into consideration the Credit Events relating to each such Reference Entity and (4) Cash Settlement Amounts may be calculated on one or more occasions after the Scheduled Termination Date in respect of any Event Determination Date falling before the expiry of the Notice Delivery Period.

Valuation Notice:	If the Calculation Agent determines that a Cash Settlement Amount greater than zero may be payable under this Transaction, then, as soon as reasonably practicable following the determination of the relevant Final Price, the Calculation Agent shall send a notice to Buyer and Seller containing the Quotations received (if applicable), the Final Price and the calculation of the Cash Settlement Amount. Failure to send such a Valuation Notice shall not affect the Seller's obligation to pay a Cash Settlement Amount under this Transaction.
Terms relating to Cash Settlement only	
Final Price:	The price of the Valuation Obligation, expressed as a percentage, as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this section entitled " <i>Terms relating to Cash Settlement only</i> ".
Valuation Date:	Single Valuation Date: the Business Day selected by the

Subject to "Asset Package Quotations" below, each Full Quotation or other quotation, excluding accrued interest, expressed as a percentage of the Valuation Obligation's Outstanding Principal Balance or Due and Payable Amount, as applicable, with respect to a Valuation Date. The Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain Full Quotations from at least five Dealers on the Scheduled Valuation Date. If fewer than five Full Quotations are available, but at least two Full Quotations are available, the Calculation Agent shall determine the Final Price on the basis of the available Full Quotations.

Calculation Agent in its sole discretion (the "Scheduled Valuation Date"), following the date on which it has determined that Fallback Settlement Method will apply.

If at least two Full Quotations are not available on the Scheduled Valuation Date but a Weighted Average Quotation is available, then such Weighted Average Quotation shall be used, on the Scheduled Valuation Date, to determine the Final Price. If both two Full Quotations and a Weighted Average Quotation are not available, but a single Full Quotation is available, such single Full Quotation shall be used, on the Scheduled Valuation Date, to determine the Final Price.

If a single Full Quotation is also not available, but one or more firm quotations for an amount which is equal to or less than the Minimum Quotation Amount is available, then the weighted average of such firm quotations with respect to the aggregate portion of the Quotation Amount for which such quotations were obtained and a quotation deemed to be zero for the balance of the Quotation Amount for which firm quotations were not obtained will be used on the Scheduled Valuation Date to determine the Final Price. If one or more firm quotations for an amount equal to or less than the Minimum Quotation Amount are not available, the Quotation will be zero.

For the purposes of this Transaction, the last sentence of Section 7.4 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall not apply.

Asset Package Quotations: If an Asset Package Credit Event has occurred and the Valuation Obligation chosen by the Calculation Agent is a Prior Deliverable Obligation, (i) valuation of the relevant Valuation Obligation will be satisfied by valuation of the related Asset Package, and such Asset Package shall be treated as having the same currency and Outstanding Principal Balance as the Prior Deliverable Obligation to which it corresponds had immediately prior to the Asset Package Credit Event, (ii) if the Asset Package is zero, as determined by the Calculation Agent, the Final Price shall be equal to zero, and (iii) otherwise the Calculation Agent shall determine the value of the Prior Deliverable Obligation in its sole and absolute discretion and a Full Quotation shall be deemed to have been obtained (for such valuation, the Calculation Agent may obtain Full Quotations in respect of the entire Asset Package expressed as a percentage of the Outstanding Principal Balance of the Prior Deliverable Obligation and to which the Asset Package relates and/or take account of any method for determining the Asset Market Value of any Asset that is a Non-Transferable Instrument or a Non-Financial Instrument that may be published by the DC Secretary and/or take account of any specialist valuation available). A Full Quotation for the purposes of Asset Package valuation shall mean a firm quotation obtained from a Dealer at the Valuation Time, to the extent reasonably practicable, for the aggregate amount of the Asset Package in full. Valuation Time: Any time (as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion) on the applicable Valuation Date during the hours that the Dealer customarily quotes prices for the relevant Valuation Obligation.

> Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit Derivatives Definitions, "**Dealer**" shall mean a dealer in obligations of the type of the Valuation Obligation for which Quotations are to be obtained as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, which may include the Calculation Agent or any one Affiliate of the Calculation Agent (including the Swap

Dealer:

Counterparty) without the requirement of consultation with the parties, as the case may be.

Valuation Method: In respect of the relevant Reference Entity, if there is only one Valuation Obligation, Highest, or, if there is more than one Valuation Obligation, Blended Highest.

> "**Blended Highest**" means the weighted arithmetic mean (calculated on the nominal amount of Reference Obligations which were quoted for) of the highest Quotations obtained by the Calculation Agent for each Valuation Obligation on the Valuation Date.

- Quotation Method:
   Bid

   Quotation Amount:
   An amount selected by the Calculation Agent greater than or equal to EUR 1,000,000 subject to a maximum of 100 per cent. of the Reference Entity Notional Amount, or the equivalent in the applicable currency selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.
- Quotations: Each Full Quotation or Weighted Average Quotation, expressed as a percentage with respect to the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date. The Calculation Agent shall make its determination based on then current market practice in the market of the relevant Reference Obligation except that such Quotations shall exclude accrued but unpaid interest.

Cash Settlement Date: A date to be determined by the Calculation Agent following the calculation of the Final Price.

Section 5.7 of the iTraxx® Standard Terms Supplement shall not apply to this Transaction.

Any Credit Event Notices shall be given by the Calculation Agent, but for the purpose of determining the Auction Final Price and the Final Price (as applicable), the Buyer shall be deemed to have delivered each Credit Event Notice under the Europe CDS where the Calculation Agent has provided such notice (and therefore the Europe CDS shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer) and the Buyer (as defined in the Crossover CDS) (or the Calculation Agent acting on such Buyer's behalf) shall thereafter be deemed to have delivered each Credit Event Notice under the Crossover CDS (and therefore the Crossover CDS shall be shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer's defined in the Crossover CDS shall be shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer (as defined in the Crossover CDS shall be shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer (as defined in the Crossover CDS)).

#### 5 Amendments to the Credit Derivatives Definitions

The parties agree that, for purposes of this Transaction and each Component Transaction, the following amendments will be made to the Credit Derivatives Definitions:

(a) Where, pursuant to Section 2.2(a) (*Provisions for Determining a Successor*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, one or more Successors have been identified in relation to any Reference Entity, each such Successor will be a Reference Entity (a "Successor Reference Entity") for the purposes of this Transaction and the relevant Component Transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the original Reference

Entity shall cease to be a Reference Entity except where it is a Successor Reference Entity).

- (b) Section 3.15(d) (*Interpretation of Provisions*) shall be amended by deleting the words "If an Obligation or a Deliverable Obligation" from the first sentence and replacing them with "If an Obligation or the obligation specified in the Notice of Reference Obligation".
- (c) If any matter to be determined by the Calculation Agent hereunder has also been determined by the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee then the Calculation Agent may, in its sole discretion, make its determination or change any determination previously made by it so as to be consistent with the relevant determination of such ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.
- (d) Notwithstanding Section 2.2(m) (Successor Notice) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, for the purposes of the Transaction "Succession Notice" means a notice from the Calculation Agent to the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty that describes a succession in respect of which a Succession Date has occurred and pursuant to which one or more Successors to the Reference Entity can be determined. Such notice must contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to such determination.
- (e) Section 1.19 (*No Event Determination Date*) shall be amended by the insertion of the words "the Notifying Party has the option, in its sole discretion, to retract a Credit Event Notice and" after the words "Subject to Section 10.2(a)(i)(III)," in the first line thereto.

#### (f) Potential Credit Event Notice

If the Buyer determines in its sole and absolute discretion that a Credit Event may have occurred in the period from and including the Credit Linkage Start Date (as defined in the Conditions) to and including the Scheduled Termination Date in respect of which the Event Determination Date has not occurred or may not be determined on or before the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes, the Buyer undertakes to forthwith notify the Issuer, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent of the same.

#### (g) Valuation Notice

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Cash Settlement Amount greater than zero may be payable under the relevant Component Transaction, then as soon as reasonably practicable following the determination of the Final Price, the Calculation Agent shall send a notice to the Swap Counterparty and the Issuer that contains the Quotations received, the Final Price and the calculation of the Cash Settlement Amount. Failure to send such a Valuation Notice shall not affect the Issuer's obligation to pay a Cash Settlement Amount under such Component Transaction.

#### (h) General

All references in the Credit Derivatives Definitions to consultation between the parties shall be deemed to be deleted and any determinations to be made under the Credit Derivatives Definitions by either party in connection with the other shall be made in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation Agent.

#### 6 Other Provisions

(a) The parties agree and acknowledge that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates is in respect of more than one Reference Entity and contemplates that there may be more than one Auction Settlement Amount or Cash Settlement Amount (as the case may be) with respect to this Transaction, provided, however, that there may not be more than one Auction Settlement Amount or Cash Settlement Amount (as the case may be) in respect of any one Reference Entity except in certain circumstances following a Succession Date or in the case of a M(M)R Restructuring (if M(M)R Restructuring is Applicable) and the Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount for such Reference Entity, in which case further Credit Event Notice(s) with respect to that Reference Entity may be given and there may be additional Auction Settlement Amounts or Cash Settlement Amounts (as the case may be) in respect of such Reference Entity, but only in respect of a notional amount equal to the excess of the original Reference Entity Notional Amount over the Exercise Amount(s) for which Credit Event Notice(s) has or have been previously given, and that the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall, for the purpose of this Confirmation, be interpreted accordingly.

Accordingly, "**Termination Date**" shall be construed as a reference to a Termination Date in relation to the relevant Reference Entity only and each reference to "Termination Date" shall be construed accordingly. The occasion on which the Settlement Terms with respect to a Reference Entity are satisfied shall be the "Termination Date" with respect to that Reference Entity only, provided that, following the Event Determination Date which would cause the aggregate of all Auction Settlement Amounts or Cash Settlement Amounts (as the case may be) to exceed or equal the Initial Principal Amount, the Termination Date shall be determined in accordance with Section 1.7(a) (*Termination Date*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions and construed as a reference to the Termination Date in relation to the entire Transaction.

(b) For the purpose of determining any amounts payable pursuant to Section 6 (*Early Termination; Close-Out Netting*) of the Agreement in connection with an early termination of this Transaction or any Component Transaction, notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, all calculations and determinations that, under the Agreement, would otherwise be made by Party B shall be made by Party A.

#### (c) Additional Termination Events

(i) The occurrence or designation of an Early Termination Date pursuant to the Crossover CDS (such date, the "Crossover CDS Termination Date") shall be an Additional Termination Event in respect of this Transaction (for which purpose the Affected Party shall be Party B, except if Party A is the Defaulting Party or the sole Affected Party in relation to the termination of the Crossover CDS, in which case the Affected Party hereunder shall be Party A) unless such occurrence or designation is due to the occurrence of the Auction Final Price Determination Date, Valuation Date or Termination Date (as applicable) following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, in each case in relation to this Transaction. In such circumstances, the Crossover CDS Termination Date shall be deemed to have been designated as an Early Termination Date hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, if an event or circumstance which would otherwise constitute or give rise to this Additional Termination Event would also constitute or give rise to any other Termination Event or Event of Default, it will be treated as only giving rise to such other Termination Event or Event of Default.

- (ii) An Additional Termination Event (for which the Affected Party shall be Party B and all Transactions shall be Affected Transactions) shall occur if at any time Party A notifies Party B that it has determined that the performance of the Swap Counterparty's and/or its Affiliates' obligations under the Swap Agreement, the Trust Deed or under any other Transaction Document or any arrangement made to hedge such obligations has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited due to a Regulatory Consequence and that, if applicable, a transfer of the Swap Agreement to an Affiliate of the Swap Counterparty will not be timely, practical or desirable for any reason, all determined in its sole and absolute discretion.
- (iii) The occurrence of a Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event in accordance with the Conditions shall, if Party A so elects, constitute an Additional Termination Event in respect of which this Transaction is the Affected Transaction and Party B is the sole Affected Party.
- (d) Notwithstanding Part 1, paragraph 2 (*Breach of Agreement; Repudiation of Agreement*) of the Schedule, the "Breach of Agreement" provisions of Section 5(a)(ii) of the Agreement shall not apply to Party A or Party B.
- (e) Notwithstanding Part 1, paragraph 4 (*Misrepresentation*) of the Schedule, the "Misrepresentation" provisions of Section 5(a)(iv) of the Agreement shall not apply to Party A or Party B.
- (f) Part 5, paragraph 8 (*Transfer by the Swap Counterparty to its Affiliates*) of the Schedule shall be amended by inserting the words "at its own expense and without the need for the consent of the Issuer," after the words "The Swap Counterparty may, at any time," and by inserting the following at the end of the paragraph:

"Provided that the criteria set out in (i) to (iii) above are satisfied, no consent shall be required from the Issuer or the Trustee to such transfer and the Issuer and Trustee shall promptly take such action and execute all documentation as the Swap Counterparty may reasonably require to effect such transfer."

- (g) The Calculation Agent may in good faith make such amendment to, or supplement, the terms of this Transaction following the announcement or publication by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. of any provision, standard protocol or material relating to credit derivatives transactions which affects the Notes, this Transaction, the Crossover CDS or any hedge transaction related to the Notes or the Swap Agreement entered into by Party B, Party A or any of its affiliates as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to take into account the effect of such provision, standard protocol or material.
- (h) Without prejudice to the definition of "Close-out Amount" and payments calculated by reference to the provisions in Section 6(e), no party shall be required to pay or be liable to the other party for any consequential, indirect or punitive damages, opportunity costs or lost profits (whether arising from its negligence or breach of contracts or otherwise), save only that nothing shall exclude liability for fraud.

#### (i) Notice of Credit Event Notice

If Party A delivers a Credit Event Notice in relation to a Reference Entity to Party B, it will send copies of such notice to the Calculation Agent, Issuing and Paying Agent and Trustee.

## 7 Market Value Trigger Provisions

- (a) Barrier Event Notice: If the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that a Barrier Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify Party A and Party A shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent commercially practicable on or after the date on which such Barrier Event has occurred, use reasonable endeavours to notify Party B and the Issuing and Paying Agent of such occurrence, describing such Barrier Event and specifying the Barrier Deficit Amount.
- (b) Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice: If the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion that a Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify Party A thereof and Party A may, on or after the date on which such Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, deliver a notice (an "Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice") describing such Market Value Deficit Event and specifying the Market Value Deficit Amount to Party B and the Issuing and Paying Agent in respect of the Notes (which may be given in writing, including by electronic means). Party A shall have the right but not the obligation to deliver an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice at any time during the period from (and including) the date on which a Market Value Deficit Event occurs to (and including) the Termination Date.

#### 8 Other Terms

- (a) Non-insurance business. Party A and Party B acknowledge and agree that this Transaction is not intended to constitute insurance business and is not a contract of insurance, assurance, suretyship or guarantee and payments may be made under this Transaction by each party independently and without proof of the economic loss (if any) of the other party.
- (b) **Third party rights**. No person shall have any right to enforce any provision of this Transaction under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- (c) Rounding. For the purposes of any calculations, determinations and valuations referred to in this Confirmation, (i) all percentages resulting from such calculations, determinations or valuations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.) and (ii) all amounts used in or resulting from such calculations, determinations or valuations will be rounded to the nearest EUR 1 (with EUR 0.5 being rounded upwards).

#### 9 Licence

iTraxx® is a registered trade mark of Markit Indices Limited.

iTraxx® is a trade mark of Markit Indices Limited and has been licensed for the use by Citigroup Global Markets Limited. Markit Indices Limited does not approve, endorse or recommend Citigroup Global Markets Limited or iTraxx® derivatives products.

iTraxx® derivatives products are derived from a source considered reliable, but neither Markit Indices Limited nor any of its employees, suppliers, subcontractors and agents (together iTraxx Associates) guarantees the veracity, completeness or accuracy of iTraxx® derivatives products or other information furnished in connection with iTraxx® derivatives products. No representation, warranty or condition, express or implied, statutory or otherwise, as to condition, satisfactory quality, performance, or fitness for purpose are given or assumed by Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx® derivatives products or the use by any person or entity of iTraxx® derivatives products or that data and all those representations, warranties and conditions are excluded save to the extent that such exclusion is prohibited by law.

None of Markit Indices Limited nor any of the iTraxx Associates shall have any liability or responsibility to any person or entity for any loss, damages, costs, charges, expenses or other liabilities whether caused by the negligence of Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx Associates or otherwise, arising in connection with the use of iTraxx® derivatives products or the iTraxx® indices.

#### 10 Account Details

EUR Account details of Party A:

	Citibank, Frankfurt CITIDEFF DE20502109000119200 Reference: NY SWAP 0	
EUR Account details of Party B:	Correspondent Bank: Swift:	Citibank Europe Plc. Dublin CITIIE2X
	Beneficiary:	Citibank N.A London
	Swift:	CITIGB2L
	Account Number:	11830880
	Account Name: acct	Starling 2019-19 Interest

This Confirmation and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by English law.

This Transaction has been arranged by Citigroup Global Markets Limited which is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "**PRA**") and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (the "**FCA**") and the PRA. Unless specified herein, information about the time of dealing and the amount or basis of any charges shared with any third party in connection with this Transaction will be made available on request.

Your counterparty to the Transaction is Citigroup Global Markets Limited, which is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and the PRA. In the event that you have dealt with employees of an affiliate of Citigroup Global Markets Limited in placing the order for or otherwise arranging the Transaction (which is likely if you are not a UK person), then the Transaction has been introduced to you, and arranged, by such affiliate. Such affiliate does not act as agent for Citigroup Global Markets Limited, which is the principal to the Transaction with you. In the European Union, such affiliate may be Citibank, N.A., London Branch (authorised by the PRA, subject to regulation by the FCA and limited regulation by the PRA) or Citibank Europe plc (authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland).

Please confirm your agreement to be bound by the terms of the foregoing by executing a copy of this Confirmation and returning it to us by facsimile.

Yours faithfully,

## CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED as Party A

By:

Name:

Title:

Confirmed on the date first above written:

## STARLING FINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY as Party B

By:

Name:

Title:

#### Schedule 2 iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Series 31 Version 1 (as at the Trade Date)

The following table is available at www.markit.com and is reproduced here for information purposes only.

The following information has been accurately reproduced from information published by Markit Group Limited as of the Issue Date and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by this source, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

IHS Markit	Arrue Date: 19th Mar				Where Scheduled Terreliation Cete is 20th June 2028			1
	And Department				Where Scheduled Terreinellon Date is 20th June 2025			
Billionist Falls	Re all	National Collegation	Canna	letter.	Transaction Trans	-	VILLAGA	<b>G</b> .P
itua SE	X81060646507	02-404-3024	2.375%	Autos & Industriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	_	0.80%	NN2ABGA
ktieboleget Volvo	X80658069740 X81134519120	26-Nov-2019 07-Nov-2014	2.575%	Autor & Industriale Autor & Industriale	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	95A006A5 0911AIA5
kee Nataal N.V. Agaa Ahwalcam per	X5104519120 US0044914.080	15-Apt-2021	4.125%	Autor & Industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	097CDUA
Crite/Mitel	X51084568792	08-34-2025	2.875%	Auton & inclustriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	LIBBOUAH
STRAZENECA PLC	XS1411403709	12-May-2021	0.250%	Autos & Inclustrate	EURÓPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	04A98BAC
AE SYSTEMS PLC	XS0789883482 DEDOGA1ROX09	05-Jun-2022 05-Det-2022	4.125%	Actor 5 industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OSA75LIA
Alst SE ayar Aldengeweincheft	DE000A1P0003 X61023296573	25-Jan-2021	2.000%	Autor & Industrials Autor & Industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DD6837A
averlache Motoren Werke Aktergesellschaft	XE1548430556	12-Jan-2021	0.125%	Autos & Inclusibiais	ELIROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	CHUETA
OL/YOUES	FR0010212852	22-34-2020	4.250%	Autoe & inclustriate	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	F025ENIA0
NH INDUSTRIAL N.Y.	X81413434862	17-May-2023 27-Mar-2020	2.875%	Autor & Industriale Autor & Industriale	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	NP39D6AI
OMPAGNE DE SAINT-GOBAIN onpeglie Finanzere Michells SCINA	X81235732194	2/-Mai-2020 25-May-2022	1.125%	Autor & Industrials Autor & Industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FOR72CA
ortinantal Addengemalischaft	X50969344083	06-840-2020	3 125%	Active & Inclustrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	2D17EBA
A winter AG	DEDODA16H250	05-Mar-2020	0.625%	Autos 5 Industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DETCKOA
eutsche Lufthanse Alderigesellecheit	XB1109110251	12-840-2019	1.125%	Autos & Industriale	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	2H0007A
Tencare Internetional AG teidetbergCement AG	X50074877150 X50454646913	30-54p-2020 31-0d-2019	3.379%	Autos & Industriais Autos & Industriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	HKS754A
afargari shirin 1.1d	CH0187218901	23-Nov-2022	3.000%	Auto & Industriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	HLBDEMA
ANXERS Aldergevelscheft	X81501303425	07-06-2021	0.250%	Autos 5 Industriale	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DISHSDAR
ENAULT	FR0011769090	05-Mar-2021	3 125%	Autor & industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	TCEFDAA
OLLS-ROYCE PLC ANOFI	X50644838041 X50456451771	15-Jun-2021 11-Oct-2019	2.125%	Autor & Industriais Autor & Industriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	TECOFIA F8128FA
latera Altiergeselschuft	UEN#20064P35	16-Mar-2020	4 125%	Autor & inclusions	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	BASTACA
alway .	865282459830	10-Dec-2022	1.625%	Autoe & Industriais	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	BE767AAL
tore Eneo Oy	X81432302170	18-Jun-2029	2 125%	Autor 5 industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	ALISTMA
ALEO	FR001168(033 FR0011225127	22-Jan-2024 30-Mar-2020	3,250%	Autor & Industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	SAAAATA FICEORA
ING OLKEWAGEN AKTIENGESELLBCHAFT	FR0011225127 X81586555808	30-Mar-2020 30-Mar-2021	0.500%	Autor & industrials Autor & industrials	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FROFORA UBAECEA
COOR	FR0011731878	05-Fitt-2021	2.625%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DA477BA
Advocaget Electrolula	X81148169060	05-Dec-2019	1.000%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OB11AHA
whenaw-Brach InDev	9E8258027729	24-8ep-2020	2.250%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	BORVSOA
Action Hateling RETISH AMERICAN TOBACCO pla	FR0011854398 X30456014583	25-Apr-2021 19-Jan-2023	1.750%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.60%	FF4DIPA 101480A
ARLISBERG BREWERIES AS	X8085474543	15-Non-2022	2.625%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	KNICEHA
andiar	X81179916017	(3-Jun-2025	1,250%	Consumers	EURÓPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FOICAMA
OMPASS GROUP PLC	X81079320203	27.Jan-2029	1.875%	CONSUMER	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	204806A
ANCHE	FR0010067216	23-Nov-2020	3.600%	Consumers	ELROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	2F998ZA0 2H787TA
IAGEO PLC XPERIAN FINANCE PLC	U825243YAU38 X5103006469	29-Apr-2023 15-Od5-2021	2.625%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	G.STCTA
einsken N.V.	X50811554982	04-Aug-2020	2.125%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	NOCDESA
terker AG & Co. KOnA	X31486418960	13-84p-2021	0.000%	Consumers	ELIROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	48TA5UA
WPERIAL BRANCE PLC	AS1558013360	27-Jan-2025	1.379%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OKERCA
aling crimolijke Ahold Dehelze N.V.	FR0013165677	10-May-2028 01-May-2029	1.250%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FHE7BOA NN07BIA
overskilke Philips N.V.	XE1671760364	05-8mp-2025	0.500%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	NTFOOOA
VMH MOET HENNESEY LOUIS VUITTON	FR0011625441	13-Nov-2020	1.750%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	5F2545A4
inste EA	X81550117342	15-Jan-2022	2.375%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	6AS16FAB
EXT PLC ERNOD RICARD	X80690204351 USF70815AN04	28-06-2021 15-34-2022	5.375%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	GMB617A 7568AAE
ECKIT BENCHISER GROUP PLC	UB07420TAC02	34-Jun-2023	2.375%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	GNB47GA
ODEXO	X81080163709	24.Jan-2022	1,750%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FND50FA
ATE & LYLE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY	X30469029453	25-Non-2019	8.750%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	#FD9C7A
hilener N.V. P.P.L.C.	X30057254212 X81342374600	05-Aug-2020	1,750%	Consumers	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	994BFCA/ 054864A
antitue de	X51362379500 X80416307836	17-Mar-2021 10-Mar-2022	8.375%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	CSADBGA/
ON SE	X50181244867	07-May-2020	5,750%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DFEDANA
DP Finance B.V.	X81140811750	15-Jan-2020	4.125%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	NPAOPWA
lectriche de Fisicae	X50153990239	21-Feb-2035	5.625%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FHBOHHA
NEL EPA NOE	KB0182503685	20-May-2024	5.250%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	260801A
NEPA	FR0010706451 X50741157028	15-Jan-2021 03-Feb-2020	6.375%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	29BAEJA 28EFEVA
QUINCE ASA	X30989574325	10-8ep-2020	2.000%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	2906454
ortum Oyi	X80625655751	05-8 ep-2022	2,250%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	X2BOF7A
within SA.	X80940711947	15-Nov-2020	2.875%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	EK/7AVA
nigy SE ATTONAL ORIO PLC	X80160513011 X80019073614	14-Feb-2033 10-Mai-2020	5.750%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DORDERA
ATTURITY ENERGY ORIGUP, E.A.	X30213972814 X30479542560	10-Mar-2020 27-Jan-2020	4.575%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	60C03A
EPBOL BA	X81148073205	10-Dec-2028	2,250%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	EMCDATA
OVAL DUTCH SHELL PLC	X81411405682	12-May-2024	0.750%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	<b>ONOFILAA</b>
SEPLC	KS0095371638	22-8ep-2022	5.875%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	GOODSRA
OTAL BA NITED UTILITIES PLC	X50541787783 US91313QAC98	16-8ap-2022 15-Aug-2028	3.125%	Energy	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FICEAGIAS GA442RA
ECLA ENVIRONMEMENT	FR0013246725	30-Mar-2022	0.872%	Energy	ELROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	VEADOSA
egon HLV. Javiz 65	X90105290949	15-Dec-2031	8.125%	Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	007(396A)
danz SE	DE000A100RU9	14-Feb-2022	3.500%	Financia	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	DD35MA
SBCURAZIONI GENERALI - SOCIETA PER AZIONI VIVA PLC	X81014759648 X8150(003961	14-Jan-2000 27-04-2025	2.875%	Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OCHERTA
XA	FR0011380408	15-Mar-2025	2.879%	Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FF007MA
ANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, BOCIEDAD ANONIMA	KS1676372472	11-Sep-2022	0.750%	Financia	EUROPEAN SENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	EF2965A
ANCO SANTANDER, S.A.	X51557268221	05-Feb-2023	1.375%	Financia	EUROPEAN SENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	EFADOGA
antaya PLC NP PARIBAS	US06758EAD08	08-Jun-2025	2.875%	Financial	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE		0.80%	008836A
NP PAREAS OMMERZBANK Autorigendischaft	US09650X3A94 DE000C2208Y9**	23-May-2022 23-Mai-2017	2.950% 3.875%	Financial Financial	EUROPEAN SENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes. Yes	0.80%	25456FA 2017EQ4
poeperatives Rabsberk U.A.	X50503734872	21-Apr-2017	3.375%	Francia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Ves	0.80%	NP4BIA
REDIT AGRICOLE EA	U822556PAA05	19-Jan-2022	3.375%	Financia	EUROPEAN BENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	FHIROGA
Ted! Suisse Group AG	X30099472994	29-34-2019	Flat	Financia	EUROPEAN ENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	HISFILA
ANSKE BANK A/S EUTSCHE BANK A/TIENGESELLSCHAFT	XS17000e1558	23-May-2023	0.879%	Firencia	EUROPEAN BENOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Ves	0.80%	2F9096A
	DE0000L197X8 XS1806462746	07-Dec-2020 18-Apr-2026	Fort 1.125%	Financia Financia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	2H0677A
latnow Rudit IIE SBC HOLDINGS at	KS0605521185	16-Mar-2016	3.679%	Financia	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	4F10FCA
VC Crowp N.V.	XS1576225484	00-Mai-2022	0.750%	Financial	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE		0.80%	406EBAA
ITESA SANPACILO SPA	KB0213027667	03-Mar-2017	Fort	Financia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	TYASEDA
LOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC	U85394394K53	08-346-2021	3,100%	Financia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE h 2019 by the ISDA DC becomes final.		0.80%	GLA86ZA

NUMBER



Theo Europa Series 31 Vanido 1 Index RED Code 2006VCTD Roll Code 2010 March 2018 Annas Date 18th March 2019 Jan Baneth 201

#### Pand Ban When Scheduled Terretester Date is 200 Jane 2022 When Scheduled Terretester Date is 200 Jane 2024 When Scheduled Terretester Date is 200 Jane 2028 When Scheduled Terretester Date is 200 Jane 2025

1.00%



Index RED Code: 2009/CT0 Rol Date: 20th March 2019 Annex Date: 18th March 2019 annex Date: 18th March 2019

	And Distances of the later							
	Re	ference Obligation						
Reference Entity	<b>EN</b>	Maturity	Coupon	Sector	TRANSACTION TYPE	SRO	Weighting	aup
MEDIOBANCA BANCA DI CREDITO FINANZIARIO SOCIETA PER AZIONI	110004715767	31-May-2017	Fort	Financia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	120EH2A31
Muenchener Rusckversicherungs-Ossellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in Muenchen				Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	
PRUDENTIAL PUBLIC UMITED COMPANY	X50083544212	20-Jan-2023	6.875%	Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	76878PAD4
SOCIETE GENERALE	U683306TAF57	12-Jan-2022	3.250%	Financial	EUROPEAN SENIOR NON PREFERRED FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	6660APAL0
STANDARD CHARTERED PLC	XS1219971931	17-Apt-2020	2.250%	Financial	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE		0.80%	000644484
Swiss Reinsurance Company Ltd	U8U7514EAU48	06-Dec-2022	2.875%	Financial	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	HOB65NAC3
The Royal Bank Of Scotland Group public limited company	X80997797054	28-Nov-2018	1.500%	Financial	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	7F809GAD9
UBS Group AG	USH4209UAA48	23-May-2023	3.491%	Financial	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE		0.80%	HL629GAAB
UNICREDIT, SOCIETA PER AZIONI	X81055725730	10-Apt-2017	Fixed	Financia	EUROPEAN FINANCIAL CORPORATE	Yes	0.80%	T2F08ZA38
Zurich Insurance Company Ltd Bertelemann SE & Co. KlibeA	CH0247811251	22-Jul-2020	0.625%	Financial TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	HOHEFUADD
	XS0811690550	02-Aug-2022			EUROPEAN CORPORATE			DE111QAC8
BRITISH TELECOMMUNICATIONS public limited company	X\$0097283098	07-Dec-2028	5.750%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	GH6DA2AD8
Deutsche Telekom AG	X81557095459	30-04-2021	0.375%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	2H00BCAE3
ITVPLC	X81292425664	21-8ep-2022	2.125%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OKDHCEAE4
Koninklike KPN N.V.	X80454773713 FR0013041538	30-Sep-2024 11-Sep-2023	0.750%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	NR6BOIAE9 FLEECZAE2
Orange PEARSON ele				TMT				
PEARSON (IIC) PUBLICIS ORCUPE BA	X81228153081 FR0012384634	06-May-2025 16-Dec-2021	1.375%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	7H5516AH8 FMD67CAE5
RELX PLC	X81291027464		1,120%	TMT			0.80%	ONBOCOAC1
RELX PLC	X51231027464 X50493096460	12-May-2025 09-Mar-2020	4.625%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	LTB30HAC2
SKY LIMITED	X80301676881	21-May-2027	6.000%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	COGARRAAR
STMintralectronics N.V.	X\$163034953	03-34-2022	0.000%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	8E7113AF2
TELEFONICA BA	X81550051211	17-Jan-2025	1.528%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	<b>BFOCEANTE</b>
Telekon Austria Aktengesellschaft	X80767278901	04-Apr-2022	4.00056	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	BEOD7TAC7
TELENOR ASA	X80408175503	28-Mar-2020	4 125%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	REODROAES
Tela Concerv AB	X80592627003	18-Feb-2020	4 250%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	WSEDGSAAD
Vivend	FR0010830034	02-Dec-2019	4.875%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	FOOGHNAD3
VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY	X81109802903	11-8ep-2020	1.000%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	98ADC3AF5
Wolters Klower N.V.	X80907301260	21-Mar-2023	2,875%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	90EFFBAD9
WPP 2005 LIMITED	X81112013666	22-Sep-2028	2,250%	TMT	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		0.80%	OPOFFQAE4
	Contract acres	20.040			BUTTER BOTT STOLE	_	1.00 M	

SCHEDULES

Noting in the billing manufactures and act is any way is amond, contribut or indexed to implicit and stage and adaptation under any passes or faces form form () discupped of the billing manufactures () and () among for any passes of faces () and () among for all () among for al

This Proble" mere thus pensors who developed, complexi, properal, maked, and and an angued the Services (Inducting without Installin notion) information notions of all allows and other pensors or within the two periods and in a pensor in a development or collection of the Services or any data or information contained (Inwell).

NETHER NAME FOR THE NET AND ANY DATA PROVIDER OR OTHER RESOLUCE ONTHINKES ANY WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES, AS TO RESULTS TO BE ATTAINED BY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT, AND THERE ARE NO EXPRESS OR MALES WARANTY OR THE SOLUCE WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES AND THERE ARE NO EXPRESS OR MALES WARANTY OR THE SOLUCE WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES AND THERE OF THIS DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES AND THERE OF THIS DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES AND THERE OF THIS DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY, EXPRESS OR MALES AND THERE OF THIS DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE, NON-WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE SOLUCE WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE ARE NO EXPRESS OF THE DOCUMENT, YOU ADMEDITED WARANTY OF THE DOCUM

NETHER NAMUT GROUP LANTER, TO ATFLIATE NOR ANY OTHER RESION OR ENTTY SHALL IN ANY WAY BE LARLE TO THE USER OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY CLEAR OF SUCH USER TOR ANY INACURACES, ERRORS OR OWISIGNES, RECARCLESS OF OWISE, IN THE INFORMATION ANALARLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY CLEAR OF SUCH USER TOR ANY INACURACES, ERRORS OR OWISIGNES, RECARCLESS OF OWISE, IN THE INFORMATION ANALARLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY CLEAR OF SUCH USER TOR ANY INACURACES, ERRORS OR OWISECHES, DECOMENT, SALAWONT CRUCK IN THE INFORMATION ANALARLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY ADDRESS WILL MANY INACURACES, ERRORS OF ANY INACURACES, ERRORS OR OWISECHES, DECOMENT, SALAWONT CRUCK IN THE INFORMATION ANALARLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY ADDRESS WILL MANY INACURACES, ERRORS OR OWISECHES, DECOMENT, SALAWONT CRUCK INTO THE INFORMATION ANALARLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY ADDRESS WILL MANY INACURACES, WILL MANY

## Annex 5 Form of the Crossover CDS Confirmation

Set out below is the form of the Crossover CDS Confirmation

Date:15 October 2019To:Starling Finance Public Limited CompanyFrom:Citigroup Global Markets LimitedRe:Credit Derivative Swap relating to Starling Finance Public Limited Company Series<br/>2019-09 EUR 45,000,000 Leveraged Long iTraxx® Europe Series 31 and Short<br/>iTraxx® Crossover Series 31 Credit Linked Notes due 2026 (Ref: CREC17685396)<br/>(the "Notes")

Dear Sirs

The purpose of this letter agreement (this "**Confirmation**") is to confirm the terms and conditions of the credit derivative swap transaction entered into between us on the first day (as indicated on the last page of this Confirmation) on which this Confirmation has been signed by both Party A and Party B (the "**Transaction**" and such date the "**Signing Date**"). This Confirmation constitutes a "Confirmation" as referred to in the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement specified below.

The definitions and provisions contained in the 2014 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (the "**Credit Derivatives Definitions**"), as amended herein, and the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Europe Untranched Standard Terms Supplement, as published by Markit Group Limited on 20 September 2014 (the "**iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement**") are incorporated into this Confirmation. In the event of any inconsistency between the Credit Derivatives Definitions or the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement and this Confirmation, this Confirmation will govern. In the event of any inconsistency between the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement and the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement will govern. References in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement to the "iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Master Transaction" shall be deemed to refer to this Transaction.

Party A and Party B agree that by entering into the Transaction, they have entered into a separate and independent credit derivative swap transaction in respect of each Reference Entity (each, a "**Component Transaction**"). Each Component Transaction will have the terms specified in the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement, as modified hereby, and, subject to Paragraph 5.2 of the iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Standard Terms Supplement, will not be affected by any other credit derivative swap transaction between Party A and Party B and will operate independently of each other Component Transaction in all respects.

This Confirmation supplements, forms a part of, and is subject to the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement dated the Issue Date (the "**Agreement**") deemed entered into between Citigroup Global Markets Limited ("**Party A**") and Starling Finance Public Limited Company ("**Party B**") in respect of which the Schedule to such 2002 ISDA Master Agreement (the "**Schedule**") is in the form of Part A of the Swap Terms (December 2018 Version) (a copy of which Party A has provided to Party B and Party B acknowledges it has receipt of), as modified as set out herein and in the Supplemental Trust Deed. All provisions contained in, or incorporated by reference in, the Agreement will govern this Confirmation except as expressly modified below.

Party A and Party B have entered into a related credit default swap (the "**Europe CDS**" and together with this Transaction, the "**Swap Agreement**") by means of a separate confirmation under the Agreement on the Effective Date.

Party A represents and warrants that it has the capacity and powers to enter into this Agreement and that the entry into this Agreement has been validly authorised, executed and delivered by it.

Capitalised terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings given to them in or incorporated by reference into) the Series Listing Particulars dated 15 October 2019, as amended and supplemented from time to time, relating to the issue of the Notes (the "Series Listing Particulars").

In this Confirmation, references to the "**Conditions**" are to the terms and conditions of the Notes as set out in or incorporated by reference into the Series Listing Particulars.

In the event of any inconsistency between terms defined in this Confirmation and the corresponding terms in the Conditions, the terms as defined in the Conditions shall govern. In the event of any inconsistency between terms defined in this Confirmation and the corresponding terms in the Europe CDS, the terms as defined in this Confirmation shall govern.

The terms of the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:

Index:	iTraxx® Crossover Series 31, Version 1
Index Sponsor:	Markit Indices Limited, or any successor thereto
Trade Date:	10 September 2019.
	Notwithstanding Section 1.13 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Parties agree that they have entered into the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates on the Signing Date.
Effective Date:	15 October 2019
Scheduled Termination Date:	20 June 2022
Original Notional Amount:	The product of (i) the Initial Principal Amount and (ii) the Short CDS Factor (such Original Notional Amount being EUR 45,000,000 on the Effective Date).
	For the avoidance of doubt, if any further issues are made which are consolidated and form a single series with the Notes or there is any redemption, purchase pursuant to Condition 7.4 ( <i>Purchases</i> ) and cancellation of the Notes pursuant Condition 7.10 ( <i>Cancellation</i> ), the Original Notional Amount shall increase or decrease, as applicable.
Floating Rate Payer:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited (the "Seller")
Fixed Rate Payer:	Starling Finance Public Limited Company (the "Buyer")
Initial Payment Payer:	Not Applicable
Initial Payment Amount:	Not Applicable

#### 1 General Terms

Calculation Agent:	Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Business Days:	London and TARGET settlement date
Business Day Convention:	Following (which subject to Sections 1.14, 1.39, 2.2(k), 3.33(a) and 12.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, shall apply to any date referred to in the Confirmation that falls on a day that is not a Business Day).
Reference Entity:	The relevant Reference Entity contained in the Index and listed in the Index Annex, and any Successor to a Reference Entity either (a) in respect of which ISDA publicly announces on or following the earlier of the Effective Date and the Trade Date that the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved, in respect of a Succession Resolution Request Date, a Successor in accordance with the DC Rules or (b) in the event that ISDA does not make such an announcement, identified by the Index Sponsor on or following the Trade Date (the Reference Entities together, the " <b>Reference Porfolio</b> ").
	For the avoidance of doubt, the Reference Portfolio will also be amended from time to time upon the occurrence of an Event Determination Date or otherwise in accordance with the terms herein.
	In the event of any inconsistency between the Reference Portfolio shown in Schedule 2 and the Index Annex published by the Index Sponsor as at the Trade Date, the Index Annex published by the Index Sponsor shall prevail.
Index Publisher:	Markit Group Limited, or any replacement therefor appointed by the Index Sponsor for purposes of officially publishing the relevant Index.
Index Annex:	The list for the relevant Index with the relevant Annex Date, as published by the Index Publisher (which can be accessed at http://www.markit.com or any successor website thereto). The Index Annex will be deemed amended from time to time to reflect any modifications resulting from the application of Sections 2.5, 2.6 and/or 2.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Reference Obligation provisions and the Reference Entity provisions herein.
Annex Date:	29 April 2019
Standard Reference Obligation:	Applicable
Reference Obligation(s):	Without prejudice to Section 2.5 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Reference Obligation (if any) set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the Index Annex, subject to Section 2.10 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions and the following paragraph:

If there is no Standard Reference Obligation and the Index Sponsor publishes a replacement Reference Obligation for a Reference Entity, the Calculation Agent will select such Reference Obligation as the Reference Obligation hereunder for such Reference Entity rather than applying the provisions of Section 2.10 of the 2014 Credit Derivatives Definitions.

#### Notice of Reference Obligation:

If the Fallback Settlement Method applies, a notice from Party A to Party B that irrevocably confirms that Party A will determine the Final Price in respect of a Reference Entity using the obligation(s) specified in such notice and sets out the outstanding principal balance in respect of each Reference Obligation. The obligation(s) of the Reference Entity chosen by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion and specified in the Notice of Reference Obligation (each, a "**Valuation Obligation**") must either:

- (a) satisfy the criteria set out in Section 3.2 (*Deliverable Obligation*) (and, if applicable, Section 3.32 (*Mod Mod R*)) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, for which purpose the Deliverable Obligation Category and Deliverable Obligation Characteristics are as set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type and there are no Excluded Deliverable Obligation specified for the purposes of Section 3.7(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions. References in Article VII of the Credit Derivatives Definitions to "Reference Obligation" shall be construed as references to "Valuation Obligation"; or
- (b) be the Reference Obligation in respect of that Reference Entity as determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Obligation.

For the avoidance of doubt:

- (A) Section 3.15 (Interpretation of Provisions) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall apply for the purposes of determining whether an obligation falls within the said Deliverable Obligation Category and satisfies the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics; and
- (B) the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Assignable Loan" and "Consent Required Loan" shall apply only to the Valuation Obligations that are Loans and the Valuation Obligations must satisfy either (but not both) of the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Assignable Loan" and "Consent Required Loan" and the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Transferable" and

"Not Bearer" shall apply only to the Valuation Obligations that are Bonds.

For the purposes of this Confirmation, the reference in Section 3.2 (Deliverable Obligation) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions to "the Outstanding Principal Balance or Due and Payable Amount" shall be deemed to be a reference to "the amount in respect of which quotations are to be sought".

The delivery of the Notice of Reference Obligation must become effective (in accordance with Section 1.38 (*Requirements Regarding Notices*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions) on or before the Valuation Date relating to the relevant Reference Entity. Party A may notify Party B at any time prior to the relevant Valuation Date that it is changing one or more of the obligations (or the description thereof) specified as Reference Obligation(s) in the Notice of Reference Obligation, in which event the Notice of Reference Obligation shall take effect as if it had specified the obligation(s) so notified by Party A. However, any such replacement obligation must comply with all the criteria set out above.

Date shall be payable following the occurrence of an

Transaction Type:As set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the<br/>Index Annex.All Guarantees:As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the

relevant Transaction Type.

Event Determination Date.

Reference Price:

100 per cent.

#### 2 Party B Fixed Amounts

Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Amount:	The Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount
Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date(s):	20 March, 20 June, 20 September and 20 December in each year commencing on 20 December 2019, subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention.
	For the avoidance of doubt, accrued Party B Fixed Amounts from, and including, the last Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date to, and including, the Event Determination

Fixed Rate Payer Calculation Period:Each period from, and including, one Fixed Rate Payer<br/>Payment Date to, but excluding, the next following Fixed<br/>Rate Payer Payment Date, except that (a) the initial Fixed<br/>Rate Payer Calculation Period will commence on, and<br/>include, the Trade Date and (b) the final Fixed Rate Payer<br/>Calculation Period will end on, and include, the earlier to<br/>occur of the Scheduled Termination Date and the Event<br/>Determination Date.Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit<br/>Derivatives Definitions, no further Party B Fixed Amounts<br/>shall be payable by the Buyer pursuant to such

Derivatives Definitions, no further Party B Fixed Amounts shall be payable by the Buyer pursuant to such Component Transaction following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, to the extent that such Event Determination Date is not subsequently reversed prior to the Auction Final Price Determination Date, Valuation Date or Termination Date. If such Component Transaction terminates other than as a result of the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, any accrued and unpaid Party B Fixed Amount as at such early termination date shall be taken into account when determining the future cash flows of such Component Transaction in respect of what would have been due on the next following Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date had the early termination not occurred.

circumstances following a Succession Date or in the case of a M(M)R Restructuring (if M(M)R Restructuring is

Fixed Rate:	2.23 per cent. per annum.
Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction:	Actual/360

## 3 Party A Floating Amounts

Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount:	An amount equal to the product of (a) the Reference Entity Weighting and (b) the Original Notional Amount.
Reference Entity Weighting:	The percentage set out opposite the relevant Reference Entity in the Index Annex.
Notifying Party:	Buyer or Seller
Notice of Publicly Available Information:	Applicable provided that if a DC Credit Event Announcement has occurred, the Notice of Publicly Available Information is deemed to have been satisfied. As set out in Section 1.34 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions.
	Specified Number of Public Sources: Two
	The parties agree that, subject to Sections 1.19 and 10.2 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, an Event Determination Date may occur on one occasion only with respect to a Reference Entity except in certain

Applicable as set out in the ISDA Matrix), where the Seller or Buyer (or the Calculation Agent acting on behalf of either party) may deliver multiple Credit Event Notices with respect to the relevant Reference Entity. Each such Credit Event Notice must specify the amount of the Reference Entity Notional Amount of the Reference Entity to which such Credit Event Notice applies (the "Exercise Amount"), which shall be equal to the Reference Entity Notional Amount unless the relevant Credit Event is an M(M)R Restructuring. When such Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the relevant Reference Entity Notional Amount for the Reference Entity, such Reference Entity shall continue to be a Reference Entity for the purpose of the Notes and, for such Reference Entity, further Credit Event Notices may be given and an Event Determination Date may occur again in respect of such Credit Event Notices, but the relevant Reference Entity Notional Amount for such Reference Entity will be reduced by the relevant Exercise Amount.

"Credit Event Notice" means a notice (which Party A or Party B (or the Calculation Agent acting on behalf of either party) has the right but not the obligation to deliver) from Party A or Party B (or the Calculation Agent acting on behalf of either party), as applicable (which may be in writing, including by electronic means) to the other party (with a copy to the Issuing and Paying Agent) during the Notice Delivery Period (or any other period permissible pursuant to the terms of this Transaction) that describes a Credit Event that occurred on or after the Credit Linkage Start Date to and including the Extension Date.

A Credit Event Notice that describes a Credit Event other than an M(M)R Restructuring must be in respect of the full Reference Entity Notional Amount.

A Credit Event Notice must contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to the determination that a Credit Event has occurred. The Credit Event that is the subject of the Credit Event Notice need not be continuing on the date the Credit Event Notice is effective.

If a Credit Event Notice contains the information required in the Notice of Publicly Available Information, such Credit Event Notice shall be deemed to be both a Credit Event Notice and a Notice of Publicly Available Information.

As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.

Credit Events:

Obligation Category:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Obligation Characteristics:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Deliverable Obligation Category:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Deliverable Obligation Characteristics:	As set out in the ISDA Matrix corresponding to the relevant Transaction Type.
Excluded Obligations:	For the purposes of Section 3.6(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions: None.
Excluded Deliverable Obligations:	For the purposes of Section 3.7(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions: None.
Reference Entity Notional Amount:	The product of (a) the Original Notional Amount, as may be deemed reduced or increased from time to time and (b) the Reference Entity Weighting in respect of the relevant Reference Entity.

#### 4 Settlement Terms

Settlement Method:	Auction Settlement
Fallback Settlement Method:	Cash Settlement
Auction Final Price:	The final price determined pursuant to an auction organised and held by the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee pursuant to the DC Rules.

Terms relating to both Auction Settlement and Cash Settlement

Settlement Amount: The Auction Settlement Amount or the Cash Settlement Amount (as applicable) plus the Rebate Amount. "Rebate Amount" means an amount, calculated by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, equal to the amount by which a Fixed Amount paid by Party B exceeds the amount which would have been payable on the relevant Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date had an Event Determination Date been determined to have occurred prior to such Fixed Rate Payer Payment Date. Settlement Currency: EUR Auction Settlement Date(s) and Cash Five Business Days after the Auction Final Price or Final Settlement Date(s): Price (as applicable) has been determined. Auction Settlement Amount: The amount equal to the greater of (a) the product of the (i) Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount and (ii) an amount, expressed as a percentage, equal to the Reference Price minus the Auction Final Price and (b) zero.

Cash Settlement Amount:

Following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date with respect to any Reference Entity, the Cash Settlement Amount in respect of such Reference Entity shall be the greater of (a) the product of (i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and (ii) the Reference Price minus the Final Price (such difference, the "Loss Percentage") and (b) zero.

For the avoidance of doubt, (1) there may be more than one Cash Settlement Amount in respect of this Transaction, but, subject to the "Notice of Publicly Available Information" provisions in paragraph 3 above, only one Cash Settlement Amount with respect to each Reference Entity, except in the case of an occurrence of a Restructuring Credit Event (in respect of a Reference Entity for which M(M)R Restructuring is Applicable as set out in the ISDA Matrix) and the Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount, in which case further Credit Event Notice(s) in respect of that Reference Entity may be given and there may be additional Cash Settlement Amounts in respect of such Reference Entity, but only in respect of a notional amount equal to the excess of the original Reference Entity Notional Amount for that Reference Entity over the Exercise Amount(s) for which Credit Event Notice(s) has or have been previously given, (2) where a Credit Event has occurred in relation to a Reference Entity and a Loss Percentage has been determined in respect thereof, such Loss Percentage shall always be applied in calculating the Cash Settlement Amount pursuant to the above formula whether or not a subsequent Credit Event occurs in respect of such Reference Entity, which subsequent Credit Event shall be disregarded except in case of occurrence of a Restructuring Credit Event and the Credit Event Notice(s) specifies(y) an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount, (3) if an Event Determination Date occurs in relation to two or more Reference Entities on the same Event Determination Date, the Cash Settlement Amounts in respect of such Event Determination Date shall be calculated taking into consideration the Credit Events relating to each such Reference Entity and (4) Cash Settlement Amounts may be calculated on one or more occasions after the Scheduled Termination Date in respect of any Event Determination Date falling before the expiry of the Notice Delivery Period.

Valuation Notice:	If the Calculation Agent determines that a Cash Settlement Amount greater than zero may be payable under this Transaction, then, as soon as reasonably practicable following the determination of the relevant Final Price, the Calculation Agent shall send a notice to Buyer and Seller containing the Quotations received (if applicable), the Final Price and the calculation of the Cash Settlement Amount. Failure to send such a Valuation Notice shall not affect the Seller's obligation to pay a Cash Settlement Amount under this Transaction.
Terms relating to Cash Settlement only	/
Final Price:	The price of the Valuation Obligation, expressed as a percentage, as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this section entitled " <i>Terms relating to Cash Settlement only</i> ".
Valuation Date:	Single Valuation Date: the Business Day selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion (the " <b>Scheduled Valuation Date</b> "), following the date on which it has determined that Fallback Settlement Method will apply.
	Each Full Quotation or other quotation, excluding accrued interest, expressed as a percentage of the Valuation Obligation's Outstanding Principal Balance or Due and Payable Amount, as applicable, with respect to a Valuation Date. The Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain Full Quotations from at least five Dealers on the Scheduled Valuation Date. If fewer than five Full Quotations are available, but at least two Full Quotations are available, the Calculation Agent shall determine the Final Price on the basis of the available Full Quotations.
	If at least two Full Quotations are not available on the Scheduled Valuation Date but a Weighted Average Quotation is available, then such Weighted Average Quotation shall be used, on the Scheduled Valuation Date, to determine the Final Price. If both two Full Quotations and a Weighted Average Quotation are not available, but a single Full Quotation is available, such single Full Quotation shall be used, on the Scheduled Valuation Date, to determine the Final Price.
	If a single Full Quotation is also not available, but one or more firm quotations for an amount which is equal to or less than the Minimum Quotation Amount is available, then the weighted average of such firm quotations with respect to the aggregate portion of the Quotation Amount for which such quotations were obtained and a quotation deemed to be zero for the balance of the Quotation

Amount for which firm quotations were not obtained will

	be used on the Scheduled Valuation Date to determine the Final Price. If one or more firm quotations for an amount equal to or less than the Minimum Quotation Amount are not available, the Quotation will be zero.
	For the purposes of this Transaction, the last sentence of Section 7.4 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall not apply.
Valuation Time:	Any time (as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion) on the applicable Valuation Date during the hours that the Dealer customarily quotes prices for the relevant Valuation Obligation.
Dealer:	Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit Derivatives Definitions, " <b>Dealer</b> " shall mean a dealer in obligations of the type of the Valuation Obligation for which Quotations are to be obtained as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, which may include the Calculation Agent or any one Affiliate of the Calculation Agent (including the Swap Counterparty) without the requirement of consultation with the parties, as the case may be.
Valuation Method:	In respect of the relevant Reference Entity, if there is only one Valuation Obligation, Highest, or, if there is more than one Valuation Obligation, Blended Highest.
	" <b>Blended Highest</b> " means the weighted arithmetic mean (calculated on the nominal amount of Reference Obligations which were quoted for) of the highest Quotations obtained by the Calculation Agent for each Valuation Obligation on the Valuation Date.
Quotation Method:	Bid
Quotation Amount:	An amount selected by the Calculation Agent greater than or equal to EUR 1,000,000 subject to a maximum of 100 per cent. of the Reference Entity Notional Amount, or the equivalent in the applicable currency selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.
Quotations:	Each Full Quotation or Weighted Average Quotation, expressed as a percentage with respect to the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date. The Calculation Agent shall make its determination based on then current market practice in the market of the relevant Reference Obligation except that such Quotations shall exclude accrued but unpaid interest.
Cash Settlement Date:	A date to be determined by the Calculation Agent following the calculation of the Final Price.

Section 5.7 of the iTraxx® Standard Terms Supplement shall not apply to this Transaction.

Any Credit Event Notices shall be given by the Calculation Agent, but for the purpose of determining the Auction Final Price and the Final Price (as applicable), the Buyer shall be deemed to have delivered each Credit Event Notice under the Crossover CDS where the Calculation Agent has provided such notice (and therefore the Crossover CDS shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer) and the Buyer (as defined in the Europe CDS) (or the Calculation Agent acting on such Buyer's behalf) shall thereafter be deemed to have delivered each Credit Event Notice under the Europe CDS (and therefore the Europe CDS shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer's behalf) shall thereafter be deemed to have delivered each Credit Event Notice under the Europe CDS (and therefore the Europe CDS shall be shall be treated as having been deemed triggered by Buyer (as defined in the Europe CDS)).

#### 5 Amendments to the Credit Derivatives Definitions

The parties agree that, for purposes of this Transaction and each Component Transaction, the following amendments will be made to the Credit Derivatives Definitions:

- (a) Where, pursuant to Section 2.2(a) (*Provisions for Determining a Successor*) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, one or more Successors have been identified in relation to any Reference Entity, each such Successor will be a Reference Entity (a "Successor Reference Entity") for the purposes of this Transaction and the relevant Component Transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the original Reference Entity shall cease to be a Reference Entity except where it is a Successor Reference Entity).
- (b) Section 3.15(d) (*Interpretation of Provisions*) shall be amended by deleting the words "If an Obligation or a Deliverable Obligation" from the first sentence and replacing them with "If an Obligation or the obligation specified in the Notice of Reference Obligation".
- (c) If any matter to be determined by the Calculation Agent hereunder has also been determined by the relevant ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee then the Calculation Agent may, in its sole discretion, make its determination or change any determination previously made by it so as to be consistent with the relevant determination of such ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.
- (d) Notwithstanding Section 2.2(m) (Successor Notice) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, for the purposes of the Transaction "Succession Notice" means a notice from the Calculation Agent to the Issuer and the Swap Counterparty that describes a succession in respect of which a Succession Date has occurred and pursuant to which one or more Successors to the Reference Entity can be determined. Such notice must contain a description in reasonable detail of the facts relevant to such determination.
- (e) Section 1.19 (*No Event Determination Date*) shall be amended by the insertion of the words "the Notifying Party has the option, in its sole discretion, to retract a Credit Event Notice and" after the words "Subject to Section 10.2(a)(i)(III)," in the first line thereto.

#### (f) Potential Credit Event Notice

If the Buyer or Seller determines in its sole and absolute discretion that a Credit Event may have occurred in the period from and including the Credit Linkage Start Date (as defined in the Conditions) to and including the Scheduled Termination Date in respect of which the Event Determination Date has not occurred or may not be determined on or before the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes, the Buyer or Seller undertakes to forthwith notify the other party, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent of the same.

#### (g) Valuation Notice

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Cash Settlement Amount greater than zero may be payable under the relevant Component Transaction, then as soon as reasonably practicable following the determination of the Final Price, the Calculation Agent shall send a notice to the Swap Counterparty and the Issuer that contains the Quotations received, the Final Price and the calculation of the Cash Settlement Amount. Failure to send such a Valuation Notice shall not affect the Issuer's obligation to pay a Cash Settlement Amount under such Component Transaction.

#### (h) General

All references in the Credit Derivatives Definitions to consultation between the parties shall be deemed to be deleted and any determinations to be made under the Credit Derivatives Definitions by either party in connection with the other shall be made in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation Agent.

## 6 Other Provisions

(a) The parties agree and acknowledge that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates is in respect of more than one Reference Entity and contemplates that there may be more than one Auction Settlement Amount or Cash Settlement Amount (as the case may be) with respect to this Transaction, provided, however, that there may not be more than one Auction Settlement Amount or Cash Settlement Amount (as the case may be) in respect of any one Reference Entity except in certain circumstances following a Succession Date or in the case of a M(M)R Restructuring (if M(M)R Restructuring is Applicable) and the Credit Event Notice specifies an Exercise Amount less than the Reference Entity Notional Amount for such Reference Entity, in which case further Credit Event Notice(s) with respect to that Reference Entity may be given and there may be additional Auction Settlement Amounts or Cash Settlement Amounts (as the case may be) in respect of such Reference Entity, but only in respect of a notional amount equal to the excess of the original Reference Entity Notional Amount over the Exercise Amount(s) for which Credit Event Notice(s) has or have been previously given, and that the Credit Derivatives Definitions shall, for the purpose of this Confirmation, be interpreted accordingly.

Accordingly, "**Termination Date**" shall be construed as a reference to a Termination Date in relation to the relevant Reference Entity only and each reference to "Termination Date" shall be construed accordingly. The occasion on which the Settlement Terms with respect to a Reference Entity are satisfied shall be the "Termination Date" with respect to that Reference Entity only, provided that, following the Event Determination Date which would cause the aggregate of all Auction Settlement Amounts or Cash Settlement Amounts (as the case may be) to exceed or equal the Initial Principal Amount, the Termination Date shall be determined in accordance with Section 1.7(a) (*Termination Date*) of the Credit

Derivatives Definitions and construed as a reference to the Termination Date in relation to the entire Transaction.

(b) For the purpose of determining any amounts payable pursuant to Section 6 (*Early Termination; Close-Out Netting*) of the Agreement in connection with an early termination of this Transaction or any Component Transaction, notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, all calculations and determinations that, under the Agreement, would otherwise be made by Party B shall be made by Party A.

#### (c) Additional Termination Events

- (i) The occurrence or designation of an Early Termination Date pursuant to the Europe CDS (such date, the "Europe CDS Termination Date") shall be an Additional Termination Event in respect of this Transaction (for which purpose the Affected Party shall be Party B, except if Party A is the Defaulting Party or the sole Affected Party in relation to the termination of the Europe CDS, in which case the Affected Party hereunder shall be Party A) unless such occurrence or designation is due to the occurrence of the Auction Final Price Determination Date, Valuation Date or Termination Date (as applicable) following the occurrence of an Event Determination Date, in each case in relation to this Transaction. In such circumstances, the Europe CDS Termination Date shall be deemed to have been designated as an Early Termination Date hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, if an event or circumstance which would otherwise constitute or give rise to this Additional Termination Event would also constitute or give rise to any other Termination Event or Event of Default, it will be treated as only giving rise to such other Termination Event or Event of Default.
- (ii) An Additional Termination Event (for which the Affected Party shall be Party B and all Transactions shall be Affected Transactions) shall occur if at any time Party A notifies Party B that it has determined that the performance of the Swap Counterparty's and/or its Affiliates' obligations under the Swap Agreement, the Trust Deed or under any other Transaction Document or any arrangement made to hedge such obligations has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited due to a Regulatory Consequence and that, if applicable, a transfer of the Swap Agreement to an Affiliate of the Swap Counterparty will not be timely, practical or desirable for any reason, all determined in its sole and absolute discretion.
- (iii) The occurrence of a Market Value Trigger Early Redemption Event in accordance with the Conditions shall, if Party A so elects, constitute an Additional Termination Event in respect of which this Transaction is the Affected Transaction and Party B is the sole Affected Party.
- (d) Notwithstanding Part 1, paragraph 2 (*Breach of Agreement; Repudiation of Agreement*) of the Schedule, the "Breach of Agreement" provisions of Section 5(a)(ii) of the Agreement shall not apply to Party A or Party B.
- (e) Notwithstanding Part 1, paragraph 4 (*Misrepresentation*) of the Schedule, the "Misrepresentation" provisions of Section 5(a)(iv) of the Agreement shall not apply to Party A or Party B.
- (f) Part 5, paragraph 8 (*Transfer by the Swap Counterparty to its Affiliates*) of the Schedule shall be amended by inserting the words "at its own expense and without

the need for the consent of the Issuer," after the words "The Swap Counterparty may, at any time," and by inserting the following at the end of the paragraph:

"Provided that the criteria set out in (i) to (iii) above are satisfied, no consent shall be required from the Issuer or the Trustee to such transfer and the Issuer and Trustee shall promptly take such action and execute all documentation as the Swap Counterparty may reasonably require to effect such transfer."

- (g) The Calculation Agent may in good faith make such amendment to, or supplement, the terms of this Transaction following the announcement or publication by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. of any provision, standard protocol or material relating to credit derivatives transactions which affects the Notes, this Transaction, the Europe CDS or any hedge transaction related to the Notes or the Swap Agreement entered into by Party B, Party A or any of its affiliates as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to take into account the effect of such provision, standard protocol or material.
- (h) Without prejudice to the definition of "Close-out Amount" and payments calculated by reference to the provisions in Section 6(e), no party shall be required to pay or be liable to the other party for any consequential, indirect or punitive damages, opportunity costs or lost profits (whether arising from its negligence or breach of contracts or otherwise), save only that nothing shall exclude liability for fraud.

#### (i) Notice of Credit Event Notice

If Party A delivers a Credit Event Notice in relation to a Reference Entity to Party B, it will send copies of such notice to the Calculation Agent, Issuing and Paying Agent and Trustee.

#### 7 Market Value Trigger Provisions

- (a) Barrier Event Notice: If the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that a Barrier Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify Party A and Party A shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent commercially practicable on or after the date on which such Barrier Event has occurred, use reasonable endeavours to notify Party B and the Issuing and Paying Agent of such occurrence, describing such Barrier Event and specifying the Barrier Deficit Amount.
- (b) Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice: If the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion that a Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall notify Party A thereof and Party A may, on or after the date on which such Market Value Deficit Event has occurred, deliver a notice (an "Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice") describing such Market Value Deficit Event and specifying the Market Value Deficit Amount to Party B and the Issuing and Paying Agent in respect of the Notes (which may be given in writing, including by electronic means). Party A shall have the right but not the obligation to deliver an Additional Supplementary Collateral Notice at any time during the period from (and including) the date on which a Market Value Deficit Event occurs to (and including) the Termination Date.

## 8 Other Terms

- (a) Non-insurance business. Party A and Party B acknowledge and agree that this Transaction is not intended to constitute insurance business and is not a contract of insurance, assurance, suretyship or guarantee and payments may be made under this Transaction by each party independently and without proof of the economic loss (if any) of the other party.
- (b) **Third party rights**. No person shall have any right to enforce any provision of this Transaction under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- (c) Rounding. For the purposes of any calculations, determinations and valuations referred to in this Confirmation, (i) all percentages resulting from such calculations, determinations or valuations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.) and (ii) all amounts used in or resulting from such calculations, determinations or valuations will be rounded to the nearest EUR 1 (with EUR 0.5 being rounded upwards).

#### 9 Licence

iTraxx® is a registered trade mark of Markit Indices Limited.

iTraxx® is a trade mark of Markit Indices Limited and has been licensed for the use by Citigroup Global Markets Limited. Markit Indices Limited does not approve, endorse or recommend Citigroup Global Markets Limited or iTraxx® derivatives products.

iTraxx® derivatives products are derived from a source considered reliable, but neither Markit Indices Limited nor any of its employees, suppliers, subcontractors and agents (together iTraxx Associates) guarantees the veracity, completeness or accuracy of iTraxx® derivatives products or other information furnished in connection with iTraxx® derivatives products. No representation, warranty or condition, express or implied, statutory or otherwise, as to condition, satisfactory quality, performance, or fitness for purpose are given or assumed by Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx® derivatives products or the use by any person or entity of iTraxx® derivatives products or that data and all those representations, warranties and conditions are excluded save to the extent that such exclusion is prohibited by law.

None of Markit Indices Limited nor any of the iTraxx Associates shall have any liability or responsibility to any person or entity for any loss, damages, costs, charges, expenses or other liabilities whether caused by the negligence of Markit Indices Limited or any of the iTraxx Associates or otherwise, arising in connection with the use of iTraxx® derivatives products or the iTraxx® indices.

#### 10 Account Details

EUR Account details of Party A:

Citibank, Frankfurt CITIDEFF DE20502109000119206006 Reference: NY SWAP OPERATIONS

EUR Account details of Party B:	Correspondent Bank:	Citibank Europe Plc. Dublin		
	Swift:	CITIIE2X		
	Beneficiary:	Citibank N.A London		
	Swift:	CITIGB2L		
	Account Number:	11830880		
	Account Name:	Starling 2019-19 Interest		
	acct			

This Confirmation and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by English law.

This Transaction has been arranged by Citigroup Global Markets Limited which is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "**PRA**") and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (the "**FCA**") and the PRA. Unless specified herein, information about the time of dealing and the amount or basis of any charges shared with any third party in connection with this Transaction will be made available on request.

Your counterparty to the Transaction is Citigroup Global Markets Limited, which is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and the PRA. In the event that you have dealt with employees of an affiliate of Citigroup Global Markets Limited in placing the order for or otherwise arranging the Transaction (which is likely if you are not a UK person), then the Transaction has been introduced to you, and arranged, by such affiliate. Such affiliate does not act as agent for Citigroup Global Markets Limited, which is the principal to the Transaction with you. In the European Union, such affiliate may be Citibank, N.A., London Branch (authorised by the PRA, subject to regulation by the FCA and limited regulation by the PRA) or Citibank Europe plc (authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland). Please confirm your agreement to be bound by the terms of the foregoing by executing a copy of this Confirmation and returning it to us by facsimile.

Yours faithfully,

# CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED as Party A

By:

Name:

Title:

Confirmed on the date first above written:

# STARLING FINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY as Party B

By:

Name:

Title:

# Schedule 2 iTraxx<sup>®</sup> Crossover Series 31 Version 1 (as at the Trade Date)

The following table is available at www.markit.com and is reproduced here for information purposes only.

The following information has been accurately reproduced from information published by Markit Group Limited as of the Issue Date and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by this source, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.



SONEDULE + Trans Europe Crossover Series 31 Version 1 Index (BED Code: 266/70/C01 400 Lote: 200 March 2019 Venex Date: 18th March 2019 Avew Jharmarkit.com

Fixed Rate
Where Scheduled Termination Date is 20th June 2022
Where Scheduled Termination Date is 20th June 2024
Where Scheduled Termination Date is 20th June 2025
Where Scheduled Termination Date is 20th June 2029

5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

	Reference Obligation						
Reference Entity	13 IN	Maturity	Coupon	Transaction Type	SHO	Weighting	CLIP
ADLER Real Estate Aktengeselschaft AR FRANCE - KLM	X81731858392 FR0011965177	06-Dec-2021 18-Jun-2021	1.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	001463442
ALGECO GLOBAL FINANCE PLC Alter Findo S.A.	X81767052050 X80946155693	15-Feb-2023 15-Jun-2023	6.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	OLDASPAAS LL1800AA3
ALTICE FRANCE	X01028956149	15-May-2024	5.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	FF288GABS
ARDAGH PACKAGING FINANCE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY	X81406669983	15-May-2024	6.750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1334%	004900/80
ATLANTASPA	X81558491855	03-Feb-2025	1.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	TT594EAE1
Boparan Finance PLC	X81082473395	15-Jui-2021	4.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	GH0760.444
CABLE & WIRELESS LIMITED	X80050504306	25-Mar-2019	8.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	GJ476RAA5
CASINO GUICHARD-PERRACHON	FR0013260379	13-Jun-2022	1.865%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	FG5540AG1
CECONOMY AG	DE000A13R8M3	28-00-2021	1.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	DESDGSABO
Celinex Telecom, S.A.	X81265778933	27-30-2022	3.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	EGBEAYAA
Clartant AG CMA CGM	CH0181721629 X81244815111	24-Apr-2019 15-Jan-2021	3.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	HISCC7AE3 FH222UAB8
Constellum N.V.	X81064882316	15-May-2021	4.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	NP4238A49
File	X81225112272	30-Apr-2022	3,000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	FHEGDLARS
FOC AQUALIA S.A.	X81627337881	08-347-2022	1,413%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	EICHGJAAS
Fat Chrysler Automobiles N.V.	U8315520AC15	15-Apr-2020	4.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	NO48ABACS
GALP ENERGIA SOPS, S.A.	PTGALLOM0004	15-Feb-2023	1.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	XA37FTAB0
Garturikelux Holdco 2 S.A.	X81308316568	01-Nov-2023	11.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	LPS6AP AAS
GRN HOLDINGS LIMITED	X50830978259	19-Sep-2022	5.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	GJCA1AAA1
GRIFOLS, S.A.	X81598757760	01-May-2025	3.200%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	EJC763AA1
Hapag-Lloyd Attengesellschaft	X81555576641	01-Feb-2022	6.750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	DG3784440
HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANISATION SOCIETE ANONYME	X81086785182	0%-Jui+2020	3.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.334%	405657AE2
HEMA BondCo I B.V.	X81647643110 X81087780166	15-Jul-2022 15-Jul-2024	0.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.334%	NQCFAWA86 OKBACSA86
NEOS Group Holdings S.A.	XS1087780166 XS1405769990	01-Aug-2024	5.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1,333%	LOSTALIADA
International Game Technology PLC	X81204434028	15-Feb-2023	4.750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GKCE9DA46
ntum AB	X81634532748	15-04-2024	3,125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	WESODFAND
J SANSBURY DC	X81139087933	21-Nov-2019	1,250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1,333%	4AC860AE9
JAGUAR LAND ROVER AUTOMOTIVE PLC	XB1025866119	15-Feb-2022	5.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	QL501UA80
K+8 Attengeselschaft	XS1854830889	18-Jul-2024	3,250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1,333%	D0893HA85
LADBROKES CORAL GROUP LIMITED	XS1066478014	16-Sep-2022	5.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GL8691AA2
LAGARDERE SCA	FR0013153160	13-Apr-2023	2.750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	FL67D8AC5
LEONARDO SOCIETA/ PER AZIONI	XS1627782771	07-Jun-2024	1.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	TA700FAC0
Louis Dreyfus Company B.V.	XS1000918018	04-Dec-2020	4.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	NS9CH2A44
LOKAM MARKS AND SPENCER p.LC.	X51089628880	23-34-2022 08-Dec-2023	7.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	FKDBAWA86
MARAS AND SPENCER DLC.	X81531151253 X81756324684	31-Jan-2024	9,500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GLDABFAG0 5CDB9GAB2
Materian Telecom Holding S.A.	X81219475792	01-May-2023	4.875%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	LRETEGANS
Montchem Holdco 3 S.A.	X81074935229	15-Jun-2021	5.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	LRACEIAN
Nokia Ovi	X81577727164	15-Mar-2021	1,000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	XD79FAA87
NOVAFIVES	X81713466222	15-Jun-2025	\$.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1,333%	FLC88WAB1
Of European Group B.V.	X81405765907	15-Nov-2024	3.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	NTD74VAA8
Orano	FR0010804500	23-Sep-2024	4.875%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	FLEE7GAA8
PEUGEOT SA	FR0013153707	14-Apr-2023	2.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	6FC9LGAF7
Picard Bondco S.A.	X81713474754	30-Nov-2024	5.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	LISCCOMMAN
Pizzeipress Financing 1 PLC	X81028948047	01-Aug-2022	8.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GN8230445
Premier Foods Finance PLC Public Power Corporation Finance PLC	XB1619820324 XB1063837741	15-Jul-2022 01-May-2019	0.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GN9380A81 GN980QAA3
REXEL	X81716833352	15-Jun-2025	2.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	EMEEALAD2
Sabern Finance International B.V.	X81487495316	09-Sep-2023	3,750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	N0964AAA7
Selecta Group B.V.	X81756356371	01-Feb-2024	5.875%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	NJFF73A89
SMURFIT KAPPA ACQUISITIONS UNLIMITED COMPANY	X81074396927	01-Jun-2021	3.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GOA6DCA82
Stena Aktiebolag	USW8758PAK22	01-Feb-2024	7.000%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	W4FCDXAC2
Stonegate Pub Company Financing PLC	X81575503146	15-Mar 2022	4.875%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	GODSENABS
Suedzucker AG	X81524573752	29-Nov-2023	1.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	DLA7AKA84
Suntse Communications Holdings S.A.	CH0398633237	27-Jun-2024	1.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	LTH98GAC7
Syngerta AG SYNLAB UNSECURED BONDCO PLC	X81050454682 X81258471494	02-Nov-2021 01-Jul-2023	1.875% 8.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	BF876AAC1 GOEABLAA3
TTC AS	X81258471494 X80752467497	01-Jul-2023 02-Mar-2022	3,750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	KTD995AFD
TELECOM ITALIA SPA	X81347748607	19-Jan 2024	3.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1,333%	T289EFAI6
Telefonaktiebolaget L.M.Ericsson	US294829AA48	15-May-2022	4.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1,333%	WY7EBJAED
TESCO PLC	X80414345974	24-Feb-2022	6.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	8096CCA00
THOMAS COCK GROUP PLC	X81531306717	15-Jun-2022	6.250%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	GOGCBBAAG
trysserkrupp AG	DE000A1R0410	25-Oct-2019	3.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	DLBCODAD9
TUL AD	X81504103984	26-0d-2021	2.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	DLCCCOAF2
Unlabs SubHolding AB (publ)	X81602515733	15-May-2025	5.750%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	W500C8AB0
United Group B.V.	X81647814968	01-Jul-2022	4.375%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	NW9160A45
Unitymedia GmbH	U8D85456AB30	15-Jan-2025	6.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	DLD98XAA4
UPC Holding B.V.	USN9T41QA033	15-Jan-2028	5.500%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	NW945HAE5
VIRGIN MEDIA FINANCE PLC VUE INTERNATIONAL BIDCO PLC	X81115233808 X80953085114	15-Oct-2024 15-Jul-2020	6.375% 7.875%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	GPCABFAK7 GPCCBZAA7
Wind Tire Sp.A.	X81708450561	20-Jan-2025	3.125%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE	1	1.333%	30,4458,445
Zogo Bond Company B.V.	X81170079443	15-Jan-2025	4.625%	EUROPEAN CORPORATE		1.333%	NMH895AC6
					-		

Nation in the bilowing determines shall and in any way to amend, override or otherwise prejudice the rights and obligations under any present or future license from (i) (Box Limited, (ii) TRAC-X LLC, (iii) Markit Group Limited or their respective predicesation and successors.

This stream, and the date contained levels, is the populaty property of Markl Group Limited and may be used only for information of purposes in connection with the confirmation of this index tacks. Unless you are in possession of a valid leaves, you may not () extra due contained in the information of purposes, including the property of Markl Group Limited and tacks and the property of Markl Group Limited and tacks and the property of Markl Group Limited in the contained in the confirmation of this index tacks and tacks are provided and tacks and the contained in the confirmation of the index tacks. Unless you are in possession of a valid leaves, you may not () extra data contained in the confirmation and tacks are provided and tacks are provided and tacks are provided and tacks and tacks are provided and tacks

NETHER MANOY GROUP LATTER. IT A FRANTS OF ANY ASTA PROVIDED OF OTHER PERSON OF ENTTY MARRANT, EXPRESS ON MALED, AT TO RESULTS TO BE ATTAINED BY SUBSCIEDER OF OTHER SOCIAL THE USE OF THE DOCUMENT, AND THERE ARE NO EXPRESS ON MALED. WARRANTES OF CONDITION OF GUALITY OF ANY EXPRESS OR MALED OF ANY RATER AND HARRANT, EXPRESS ON MALED. GUARANTY OF REPRESSANCION MADE STANDING OF UNER DESIGN OF ENTTY.

NETHER MANUT GROUP LANTED, ITS AFFLATES NOR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY SINLE IN ANY WAY BE LARLE TO THE USER OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY CLENT OF SUCH USER FOR ANY MACCURACES, ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, REGARDLESS OF CAUSE, IN THE INFORMATION ANALASLE ON THIS DOCUMENT OR IN OR ANY DAMAGES (MOVEMBE) RESETTOR THEREPRON, UNDER NO CHICARDITALOGS VILL MANUT CHICAP LANTED BE LARLE FOR ANY MACRESS, DICENTIAL, DECK, COMEDULATING, RECORD, ESTIMATION ANALASLE ON DOCUMENT OR IN FOR ANY DAMAGES, MOVEMBE SUCH DAMAGES COLD HAVE ESTIMATION DESERS OF PREVINTED.

# Annex 6 Description of the Issuer

The Issuer is a public limited company incorporated as a special purpose vehicle on 9 March 2005 and registered under the Irish Companies Act 2014 (as amended). Prospective investors should read the section entitled "*Issuer Disclosure Annex 3*" of the Base Prospectus.

## **Description of the Swap Counterparty**

The information referred to below in respect of Citigroup Global Markets Limited has been sourced from publicly available information. Such information has been accurately reproduced and, as far as the Issuer is aware and able to ascertain from information published by Citigroup Global Markets Limited, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

A description of the Swap Counterparty is set out in the section of the Base Prospectus entitled "Description of Citigroup Global Markets Limited".

## **Financial Statements**

Citigroup Global Markets Limited has prepared audited financial statements in respect of its financial years ending 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. Citigroup Global Markets Limited will prepare annually and publish audited financial statements, with explanatory notes. These financial statements will be available from its registered office at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB. The auditors of the Citigroup Global Markets Limited, KPMG LLP, are regulated by the Financial Reporting Council and are members of the UK's chartered accountants' professional body, ICAEW, of Chartered Accountants' Hall, Moorgate Place, London, EC2R 6EA.

## Significant or Material Change

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Citigroup Global Markets Limited or Citigroup Global Markets Limited and its subsidiaries as a whole since 31 December 2018 (the date of its most recently published audited annual financial statements) and there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of Citigroup Global Markets Limited or Citigroup Global Markets Limited and its subsidiaries as a whole since 31 December 2018 (the date of its most recently published audited annual financial statements).

#### Litigation

Save as disclosed in the Exhibit (entitled "*Citigroup Contingencies*") to the section of the Base Prospectus entitled "*Description of Citigroup Global Markets Limited*", Citigroup Global Markets Limited is not subject to any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Citigroup Global Markets Limited is aware) in the twelve months preceding the date of the Base Prospectus which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of Citigroup Global Markets Limited and its subsidiaries as a whole.

## Subscription and Sale and Transfer Restrictions

Prospective purchasers of Notes should read the corresponding section of the Base Prospectus entitled "Subscription and Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

The final paragraph in the selling restrictions "European Economic Area" on pages 182-183 of the Base Prospectus shall be replaced with the following:

"Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
  - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "**MiFID II**"); or
  - a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
  - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the "**Prospectus Regulation**"); and
- (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes."

## **General Information**

- 1 From the date of these Series Listing Particulars and for so long as the Notes remain outstanding, the following documents will be available for inspection in physical format during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) at the office of the Issuing and Paying Agent:
  - (a) these Series Listing Particulars;
  - (b) the Supplemental Trust Deed in relation to the Notes; and
  - the audited financial statements of the Issuer in respect of its financial years ending 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
- 2 The issue of the Notes was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 11 October 2019.
- **3** There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2017 (such date being the date of the Issuer's latest audited financial statements) which is material or significant.
- 4 The Issuer has not been involved in any governmental, legal, or arbitration proceedings (including such proceedings which are pending or threatened or of which the Issuer is aware during the 12 months preceding the date of these Series Listing Particulars) which may have or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer.
- 5 The Issuer does not intend to provide any post issuance transactional information on the Notes or the Initial Collateral (as described in the Terms and Conditions above).
- 6 Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited has been appointed by the Issuer to act as its listing agent and as such is not seeking admission to the Official List and to trading of the Notes on the Global Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin on its own behalf, but as an agent on behalf of the Issuer.
- 7 References to any web or internet addresses in this document do not form part of these Series Listing Particulars for the purpose of its approval or the listing of the Notes.

#### **REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER**

2 Grand Canal Square Grand Canal Harbour Dublin D02 A342 Ireland

#### TRUSTEE

Citicorp Trustee Company Limited Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB

**ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT** 

AND CUSTODIAN

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

**Citigroup Centre** 

Canada Square

Canary Wharf

London E14 5LB

## REGISTRAR

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG Agency and Trust Department Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany

#### DEALER, CALCULATION AGENT, DISPOSAL AGENT AND SWAP COUNTERPARTY

#### Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB

#### IRISH LISTING AGENT Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited Ten Earlsfort Terrace Dublin 2 Ireland

#### LEGAL ADVISERS

to the Issuer as to Irish law

#### A & L Goodbody

International Financial Services Centre North Wall Quay Dublin 1 Ireland to the Arranger and Dealer as to English law

#### Linklaters LLP One Silk Street London EC2Y 8HQ United Kingdom

A39975619